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Chan Mo Po, Paul (Resigned on 1 January 2009)
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Tricor Standard Limited
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Schedule of Principal Properties

HE A4 40 R ST
Y AT PR ) CFIrK)
P AL B B 25 Approximate Total Gross
Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Floor Area B FEER
Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited (sqm) Type Lease Term
AR 100% 65,222 Ht O T
Beijing China Resources Building Medium Term
JE SR I B e K s e Lease
No. 8 Jianguomen North Avenue,
Dongcheng District, Beijing
LS 100% 97,139 A E
Shanghai China Resources Times Square Medium Term
4 Mall 51,190 i C Lease
HFH Office 36,843 ¥ o
L AR 7 B 50058
No. 500 Zhangyang Road, Pudong, Shanghai
GYIFE R 0 100% 323,748 i itk
Shenzhen City Crossing Medium Term
B S The MIXc 159,585 iic Lease
BYIFEMKE China Resources Buliding 40,990 #iF o
A E Grand Hyatt 67,500 i H
{#B Car Park 55,667 & cp
TR0 5 % o SR 5001 95 2 T % i 6 1881 5%
No. 5001 Shennan East Road and
No.1881 Baoan South Road,
Luohu District, Shenzhen
VRN FET K i 100% 13,789 i C G LNy
Huarui Building Medium Term
TR 91 15 7 % 7 B 1001 5% Lease
No. 1001 Baoan South Road,
Luohu District, Shenzhen
P — e P — sy W — mox 1E—pz = s
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

A LA RFCE S I A5 I
Beijing China Resources Building Shanghai China Resources Times Square Shenzhen MIXc

“RBUR LA 3
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Schedule of Principal Properties

Annual Report 2009

A AR R ST

W E A WA (FIik)
S e Azt ES HEG & BehEds  Approximate Total Gross
Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Floor Area B HEER
Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited (sqm) Type Lease Term
[ gld 2 96.07% 36,184 i C L
Xidan Cultural Centre Medium Term
e T P 7 ALK A 1805 Lease
No.180 Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing
PR E 48.04% 54,214 /7 I E
Huawei Building R/C Medium Term
Jes TP e T Ak Lease
Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing
N 15.30% 70,058 i/ A
Huanan Building C/O Medium Term
T G 4k 7 LR A Lease
Xidan North Avenue, Xicheng District, Beijing
B T 96.07% 16,787 i C AR
Grand Constellation Shopping Mall Medium Term
Jes TR R A Lease
Huayuan Street, Xicheng District, Beijing
ER 96.07% 10,685 C ebaiificher
U-Space Shopping Mall Medium Term
T T A A PSR A8 Lease
No. 8 Guangqumenwai Avenue,
Chaoyang District, Beijing
BT 96.07% 17,952 i C L
Jing Tong Shops Medium Term
A L Lease
Chaoyang Road, Chaoyang District, Beijing

P — e 1 — W — mnx 1F—pz W — s
C — Commercial CP — Car park O — Office R — Residential H — Hotel
CRBIEEER



WA A8 ST

Y AT A ) CFIrK)

S JREA B B 25 Approximate Total Gross

Properties held for Attributable Beneficial Interest of Floor Area K FEAERR

Investment or Own Use China Resources Land Limited (sqm) Type Lease Term

LB [ 225 96.07% 4,155 /i T

Building 22, Guanyingyuan R/C Medium Term

b PR I A L e Lease

Xinjiekou South Street, Xicheng District, Beijing

4 [ 96.07% 3,926 i C A

Jin Hui Garden Medium Term

Jextk LR Lease

Daxing District, Beijing

B AT 96.24% 30,863 ko AT

Phoenix Place Tower A Medium Term

JERT TR R = e Lease

Sanyuangiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

BB i S A 96.07% 13,210 i C 03 £

Phoenix City Commercial Street Medium Term

T E =TT Lease

Sanyuangiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing

HRIRARIR 49T 96.07% 5,681 i C L

Building 49, Medium Term

Fortune Island, Jade City Lease

JERCTIR B

Daxing District, Beijing

BRI BIE 1 e 96.07% 2,007 ic A

Building 1, Plot B2, Jade City Medium Term
Lease

k323N

Daxing District, Beijing

P — g FE— sy W — sz 1F—pe B — s
C — Commercial CP — Car park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

Note:

1 R EAFTE G FHIAL T RSB ~ TR L~ LA HER A 0]~ L i R [T 2 > AT R LT ~ IS
TV KSR L A E L AR H 2N~ AR E R L BN ER I - A I AL 2
&~ K BFEIENG NI A 2 > A VUL R L~ IR AR ~ R BE T H A~ #%
I B RIE F 25 712,872,524 T Iy K i) R T F -

Not including Beijing Phoenix Plaza, Beijing Oak Bay Commercial Property, Beijing China Resources Building phase 2,
Shanghai Bund Side Apartment, Chengdu Jade City Commercial Property, Chengdu Twenty-Four City Commercial Property,
Chengdu Oak Bay Commercial Property, Mianyang Project Commercial Property, Chengdu Donghu Project Commercial
Property, Hefei Park Lane Manor Commercial Property, Hangzhou MIXc, Wuxi Taibu International Commumnity Commercial
Property, Hotel in Dalian Oriental Xanadu, Suzhou Xiangcheng Project Commercial Property, Chongqing Twenty-Four City
Commercial Property, Shenyang City Crossing, Shenyang CR Plaza, Qingdao Submarine School Project Commercial Property,
Anshan Education Bureau Project Commercial Property, all of which are currently under construction, totalling 2,872,524
square meters.
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A TEAMA
A E AR Figasce T
ARRAF (CFF7k) CFITk) it
W o5 BB 2 Approximate Approximate R H 9
Rt IES Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AL
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
TR 96.07% 18,085 50000 /R 116 EiE
Majestic Garden o/c Jun/11 Planning
JEHTT IR R (A in Progress
Jianxiangqiao, Chaoyang District, Beijing
PYSRALLL 96.07% 51,620 95303 /M 104121 B
Eco Living R/C Dec/10 Construction in
bt B % M A K 430595 Progress
No.305 Guanganmenwai Aveune,
Xuanwu District, Beijing
Jem AR — 98.00% 98,899 6989 fE 094121 BRI
Beijing Oak Bay Phase 1 R Dec/09 Completed
Je s O L T
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing
Jem it 98.00% 184,834 320047 i 11412 S
Beijing Oak Bay Phase 2 R Dec/11  Construction in
b v [ Progress
Qinghe, Haidian District, Beijing
M E 96.07% 201,496 286,121 i 11412/ A
Mentougou Project R Dec/11 Planning in
b i P S Progress
Mentougou District, Beijing
KEL73 96.07% 123,690 227323 f 12412 b
Daxing Plot 17 R Dec/12 Planning in
AR R Progress
Daxing District, Beijing
P — e 7 — sy W — ez ft—pz T — i

C — Commercial

CP — Car park

PREAL I

Eco Living

Annual Report 2009

O — Office

R — Residential

AR

H — Hotel

Beijing Oak Bay




o] HEA AR
HEHE A bR [igas £

HRAF CFFk) (FIiK) it
W o5 B B R £ Approximate Approximate R H 9

Bl Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AT
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
SLERHBORMEIEH 100% 17,767 37544 1/ na i L
Hongtong Technology Building Project R/C Planning in
JERTTT A Progress
Dongcheng District, Beijing

F A P — 1) 100% 26,569 7472 /M 08412/ BT
The Bund Side Phase 1 R/C Dec/08 Completed
T T R
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai

R T 100% 32,935 8735 /0 104F12f sk
The Bund Side Phase 2 R/C Dec/10 Construction in
b I R Progress
Huangpu District, Puxi, Shanghai

- g At — 100% 8215 145460 i/ 0912 BT
Shanghai Oak Bay Phase 1 R/C Dec/09 Completed
i BRI B 1088 5%
No.1088, Zhenghe Road, Shanghai

SRR 100% 38,155 71835 /i 104121 Bl
Shanghai Oak Bay Phase 2 R/C Dec/10 Construction in
LB 10885 Progress
No.1088, Zhenghe Road, Shanghai

I g At = 100% 37877 01352 (/M 14E12f A
Shanghai Oak Bay Phase 3 R/C Dec/11 Planning in
TR B 108855 Progress
No.1088, Zhenghe Road, Shanghai

1 — e P — sy W — sz 1E—pe T — i
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O — Office R — Residential H — Hotel

W ]
The Bund Side Phase 2 Shanghai Oak Bay

IR |

Annual Report 2009
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HEHE AT [igas £

HIR AT CFIFx) (FIiK) it
A o B 2 Approximate Approximate % H
Bl Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated VRO
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
bR HEE 100% 266,970 467,197 f 124124 2Bl
Shanghai Jiading Nanxiang Project R Dec/12 Planning in
LT E R Progress
Jiading District, Shanghai
LI ATTIEIA B 100% 121,719 121,719 f 12412/ ek
Shanghai Songjiang Sijing Project R Dec/12 Planning in
TR Progress
Songjiang District, Shanghai
YR 8 100% 14,265 10,950 fE 094121 eI
Shenzhen Park Lane Manor R Dec/09 Completed
YN 2w
Baoan South Road, Shenzhen
FRHR 35 2 — -0 4 100% 301,544 53986 i/ 084121 BFL
Chengdu Jade City Phase 1 to Phase 4 R/C Dec/08 Completed
JHS T T 6
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
JAR 35 2R 3 100% 69,384 158392 M/ 104127 g
Chengdu Jade City Phase 5 R/C Dec/10  Construction in
AT VLI Progress
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
JIHR JEL B — A 100% 72,267 60,983 & 09412 BT
Chengdu Phoenix City Phase 1 R Dec/09 Completed
A= TR
South Third Ring Road, Chengdu
AR JBUE b A% A 100% 84953 365,786 f 104121 gt
Chengdu Phoenix City Later Phases R Dec/10 Construction in
S = BR B Progress
South Third Ring Road, Chengdu
P — e 1 — sy W — s ft—ne T — s
C — Commercial CP — Car park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

N1 BRI A

Shenzhen Park Lane Manor Chengdu Jade City Chengdu Phoenix City

RENERH
Annual Report 2009
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o] HEA AR
HWE AT eSS

HRAF CFIFK) CFITk) it
HE o B 25 Approximate Approximate R H 9
Rk IES Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AL
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
PR 2430 — 100% 75,747 4147 f 097F12f BiT
Chengdu Twenty-Four City Phase 1 R Dec/09 Completed
JHD TR R
East Second Ring Road, Chengdu
JHR 24385 7 100% 476,445 1,266,148 fE 104121 Bz
Chengdu Twenty-Four City Later Phases R Dec/10  Construction in
TS BRI Progress
East Second Ring Road, Chengdu
JEA G 100% 126,539 523511 id 14E12f gk
Chengdu Oak Bay R Dec/11  Construction in
AT PR Progress
Pi County, Chengdu
FAR T F I IE B 100% 112,140 336,420 s 11412 A
Chengdu Qiangyang Project R Dec/11 Planning in
IR T [ Progress
Qingyang District, Chengdu
A LA T 100% 23,567 84483 /M 11412/ Gk
Chengdu Wukuaishi Project R/C Dec/11 Planning in
AR T 2 [ Progress
Jinniu District, Chengdu
AR TE H 100% 14,266 71,716 e 114125 L
Chengdu Donghu Project R Dec/11 Planning in
AT VLI Progress
Jinjiang District, Chengdu
HPIEE 100% 277,423 833,949 f 115125 Eip L
Mianyang Project R Dec/11 Planning in
AL A R Progress
Kechuangyuan District, Mianyang
P — P — sy W — mps 11—z W — s
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

JRHB A9 1 JRHS A9 2
Chengdu Twenty-Four City 1 Chengdu Twenty-Four City 2

U AL

Annual Report 2009
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7] TEAMA
A E AR TEIRT AR
ARRAF CFIK) (FIiK) it
HE o B 25 Approximate Approximate R H 9
Rt IES Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AL
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
B BRI 100% 50,464 8173 {E/M 074F12H BT
Wuhan Phoenix City R/C Dec/07 Completed
RENR B R TG
Jiyugiao, Wuchang District, Wuhan
RERTHKIEA 100% 13,744 41231 fE/R 10612/ ey
Wuhan Minzhulu Project R/C Dec/10 Construction in
REETTR A R R E Progress
Minzhu Road, Wuchang District, Wuhan
B RN R — 100% 52,555 20044 /7 1046 gt
Wuhan Central Park Phase 1 R/C Jun/10 Construction in
BT [ Progress
Hanyang District, Wuhan
e BN 3 100% 71265 225,602 & 104121 GiE G
Wuhan Central Park Later Phases cp Dec/10 Planning in
BT R [ Progress
Hanyang District, Wuhan
B R E—1 100% 76,552 56767 A/ 09%12f1 BT
Hefei Park Lane Manor Phase 1 R/C Dec/09 Completed
AT LT B LA AR LRI R A 22
Crossing of Wangjiang West Road and Hezuohua
South Road, Hefei
P — e 1 — sy W — s ft—pe B — s
C — Commercial CP — Car park O — office R — Residential H — rotel

I
Wuhan Phoenix City

Annual Report 2009
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%] TEAMA
W E I AR TEIRT AR
HIAT CFIFx) (FIiK) it
HE G EEBEMELS  Approximate Approximate R H 9
B Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated I
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area B Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
BRI H 100% 53,600 199,500 f 1146 g
Hefei Ziyunfu Project R Jun/11 Construction in
AT R R TR R Progress
Changjiang East Avenue, Yaohai District, Hefei
BB EIEE 100% 221,000 618000 /M 12612/ GiE G
Hefei Zhengwuqu Project R/C Dec/12 Planning in
A T B I Progress
Zhengwu District, Hefei
BUMBEE 0% 23,556 5113 fE 1044 A gk
Hangzhou MIXc Residence R Apr/10 Construction in
U i L [ 0 2 75 i A 873795 Progress
No.737, Fuchun Road, Jianggan District, Hangzhou
UM SR =LA B 60% na 92,500 fr 12412/ G G
Hangzhou MIXc Service Apartment R Dec/12 Planning in
U T VL 8 6 7 25 75 7 1 R B 70158 Progress
No.701, Fuchun Road, Jianggan District, Hangzhou
WM Z LI H 100% 90,640 181,280 f 1241211 g
Hangzhou Zhijiang Project R Dec/12 Planning in
UM T 2 T fR s 2 VT i ) Progress
South Zhijiang Road, Zhijiang District, Hangzhou
P — i 1 — W — mnx 1 —pz B — s
C — Commercial CP — Car park O — Office R — Residential H — Hotel

LM BERT
Hangzhou MIXc Residence

BUM B 5 I
Hangzhou MIXc

SRFRIF AR
Annual Report 2009



A WA A B
HEME AR Figasce T
v (CFF7k) CFITk) it
W o5 BB 2 Approximate Approximate R H 9
BRE Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated B
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
g1 K0 B At I — 4 0% 101,976 89918 i 09412 B5T
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/09 Completed
Phase 2
P 1 B 88 R
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi
A5 R B PR [ =30 0% 79,263 60,211 f 10412 g
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/10 Construction in
Phase 3 Progress
P 1 B 8s R
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi
Ag51 K01 B Pt 5 1 0% 356,259 562,325 f 1412/ g e
Wuxi Taihu International Community R Dec/11 Planning in
Later Phases Progress
ST 2 B 88 R
No.88, Jinshi Road, Wuxi
KA e B — 100% 74418 24748 f 094F12f1 E%L
Dalian Maritime Phase 1 R Dec/09 Completed
R 8 [ g T [
Binhai New District, Development Zone, Dalian
A T 100% 59,410 194,583 f 124F12A B
Dalian Maritime Phase 2 R Dec/12 Construction in
R 8 I R T [ Progress
Binhai New District, Development Zone, Dalian
P — e 17— W — sz 1t —pw W — s
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O — Office R — Residential H — potel

TR Kb 1 L

Wuxi Taihu International Community

Kl

Dalian Maritime

BRI
12 JUAE AR
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A WA A B
HEWE AR Figasce T
v (CFF7kK) CFITk) it
W o5 B B R £ Approximate Approximate R H 9
Rk IES Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AL
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area B Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
G B 5 100% 323,729 899,195 f 12F12f e G
Dalian Maritime Later Phases R Dec/12 Planning in
K A 8 [ Progress
Binhai New District, Development Zone, Dalian
KE R ES 55— 55% 71,400 11112 f 094712 ExT
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Phase 1 R Dec/09 Completed
ATV ] 11 [ 236 1 1
Xinghaiwan No.4 Road, Shahekou District, Dalian
KR S 55% 10,374 73,920 s 13410/ GE ks
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Phase 2 R Oct/13 Planning in
SR T YDA 1 [ A2 7 Progress
Xinghaiwan No.4 Road, Shahekou District, Dalian
KEREES 5= 550 23,700 22,760 f 1248 EiE B
Dalian Oriental Xanadu Phase 3 R Aug/12 Planning in
ATV ] 11 [ 236 15 1 Progress
Xinghaiwan No.4 Road, Shahekou District, Dalian
RS 100% 96,442 24274 i 104121 g
Ningbo Tuscany Lake Valley Phase 2 R Dec/10 Construction in
B A ER I R Progress
Donggianhu District, Ningbo
P — e F— s W= mus 1F—pe B — i
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

KRG G

Dalian Oriental Xanadu

BRI
Ningbo Tuscany Lake
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A WA A B
HEME AR Figasce T
v (CFF7k) CFITk) it
HE o B 25 Approximate Approximate R H 9
Rt IES Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AL
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
H R RIS = 100% 107,013 33,875 fE 12E12/] e G
Ningbo Tuscany Lake Valley Phase 3 R Dec/12 Planning in
B BRI Progress
Donggianhu District, Ningbo
B RE DA E 100% 47,125 64929 f 104121 Bk
Ningbo Cixi Cenrtal Park Phase 2 R Dec/10 Construction in
KR EE Progress
Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo
£ F AN 100% 72,244 158,431 f 114 12f Sl
Ningbo Cixi Cenrtal Park Later Phases R Dec/11 Planning in
R T Progress
Kandun Street, Cixi, Ningbo
RN P 100% 96,564 55,085 f 1046 Bk
Suzhou Villa R Jun/10 Construction in
BEMTHLIE Progress
Pingjiang District, Suzhou
SRR IE H 100% 170,345 337,543 s 124121 ek
Suzhou Xiangcheng Project R Dec/12 Planning in
BRI AR IR [ Progress
Xiangcheng District, Suzhou
R VPRI — 100% 92,165 20,399 fE 09412/ Bl
Changsha Phoenix City Phase 1 R Dec/09 Completed
RUH R
Changsha Town, Changsha
1 — e 1 — W — o 1F—nz W — s
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

- =

PRI A AL
Ningbo Cixi Central Park
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Suzhou Villa




o] HEA AR
HWE A bR [igas £

HIR AT CFIFK) (FIik) fhiwt
JE o5 B B 25 Approximate Approximate V&R H 9
Bl Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated VDL
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
R B 100% 129,306 391,374 fE 104£12f1 B
Changsha Phoenix City Phase 2 R Dec/10 Construction in
RUT R Progress
Changsha Town, Changsha
R BB 100% 162,354 584,497 i3 14E12f GiE G
Changsha Phoenix City Later Phases R Dec/11 Planning in
RO RPH Progress
Changsha Town, Changsha
RUEITIHE 100% 153,860 460,296 f 124F12A0 il
Wang Jiang Project R Dec/12 Planning in
Wi R IR Progress
Hanpu Town, Wangcheng county, Changsha
i B A OE B 100% 171,686 572,665 fE 12612 G G
Chongging Qianweichang Project R Dec/12 Planning in
BB LAL R A e Progress
Dashiba Street, Jiangbei Disrict, Chongqing
BT 100% 86,840 209,354 f 1046 Blgkh
Chongging Twenty-Four City Phase 1 R Jun/10 Construction in
BRI LR R KM P Progress
Section P of Dayangshi, Jiulongpo District, Chongqing
Gl gt 3 100% 322,082 1,589,150 i 14E12f GiE G
Chongqing Twenty-Four City Later Phases Dec/11 Planning in
EGpIN YN e Progress
Section P of Dayangshi, Jiulongpo District, Chongqing
1 — e FE— sy W — sz 1F—pz T — i
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — Office R — Residential H — Hotel

RUWBEI T AV

Changsha Phoenix City Chongqing Twenty-Four City

> ILAE BEAE SR
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WA HEA AR
HEHE AT [igas £

HIR AT CFIFx) (FIiK) it
HE G EEBEMELS  Approximate Approximate R H 9
B Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated I
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area B Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
TR A A 100% 445,238 890,476 f 10412 sk
Shengyang Oak Bay R Dec/10  Construction in
TR A [ Progress
Yuhong District, Shenyang
ARl 100% 44,046 150085 /7 11412/ Bk
Shenyang City Crossing R/C Dec/11 Construction in
TEHT AR Progress
Heping District, Shenyang
el 100% 96427 219461 {E/ 1146A g
The Arch Shenyang R/C Jun/I1  Construction in
TR T G [ Progress
Tiexi District, Shenyang
Yo B i 100% 37,248 27040 f/R 12612/ Bl
Shenyang CR Plaza R/C Dec/12 Construction in
TR [ Progress
Tiexi District, Shenyang
TR 100% 360,117 603,108 fE 114125 g
Fuzhou Oak Bay R Dec/11 Construction in
RN T 1L [ P 4 Progress
West Hongwan Road, Cangshan District, Fuzhou
H e 100% 94,623 307,826 id 126612/ gk
Xiamen Oak BZlY R Dec/12 Construction in
J& [ T 4 I A5 L B Progress
Xingbei Road, Jimei District, Xiamen
P — e = sy W= muz 1 —pz B — s
C — Commercial CP — Car Park O — Office R — Residential H — Hotel

bz e G FER L
Shenyang Oak Bay Shenyang City Crossing
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o] HEA AR
HWE A bR [igas £

HRAF CFIFx) (FIiK) it
W o5 B B R £ Approximate Approximate R H 9
Bl Attributable Beneficial Total Site Unsold Gross Estimated AT
Properties under Interest of China Area Floor Area iR Date of State of
Development Resources Land Limited (sqm) (sqm) Type Completion Completion
KB PR 100% 105,800 151,541 f 14E12f sk
Tianjin Xiangweidi R Dec/11 Construction in
R BT S LA el Progress
Jiulong Street,Shuanggang Town, Jinnan District,
Tianjin
BILHAERIEH 100% 101,914 360,200 s 12661 Gk
Anshan Education Bureau Project R Jun/12 Planning in
LA Progress
Tiedong District, Anshan
AP S ERAE 100% 54,057 190,200 fE 1249 A
Anshan Carrefour North Project R Sep/12 Planning in
BRI Progress
Tiedong District, Anshan
P 48 A T I H 100% 185,052 415,200 s 11412 Gk
Nantong Nengda Commercial Zone Project R Dec/11 Planning in
o A A 3 o L 3 D B R Progress
East Xinkai North Road, Economic Technical
Development Zone, Nantong
T EIEMRRRIEE 100% 135,527 372700 i/ na L
Qingdao Submarine School Project R/C Planning in
F e R LR 105E Progress
No. 10, Shangdong Road, Shinan District, Qingdao
P — P — ety W — mps 11—z T — s
C — commercial CP — Car Park O — office R — Residential H — Hotel

Bl BRI

Tianjin Xiangweidi Anshan Education Bureau Project

AR
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ZHEBEOFLIRRATRARSL Y A g
FREAAFA ARG REOELERAELE
PR BRABR BRI FT HEHFFALAE -

The 91*011/0 aims to become a compelitive and feaofr}zy
I}z/eyra/eof prouzbfer of 7uaﬁ'1‘y /Oroper/y and to become
an Ibofus/ry leader both in terms 0/ business scale and

of proﬁr'/aglﬁ/y in the coming years.

During the course of 2009, the Group adhered to the existing and
effective products and marketing strategies. At the same time,
the Group has made great efforts in strengthening its internal
management, and reinforcing its cost control measures with an aim
to achieve a higher operating efficiency. Consequently, the Group
has not only achieved a balanced and steady growth for the year
of 2009 in both of its core business segments, namely residential
property development and property leasing, but also laid down a

solid foundation for satisfactory results of 2010.

2009 Annual Results and Dividend
Distribution

In the year of 2009, the Group adopted the interpretation to the
“Accounting Standard Agreements for the Construction of Real
Estate”, which requires to change the timing of revenue recognition
of property sales from completion of properties to delivery of
propertties to the purchasers. The impact of new accounting policy in
the recognition of revenue from property sales started to be reflected

in the Group’s 2009 interim results.



HRPEHT I ) 2E B B U A AR SR > B2
WIS B B4R A s R 166.0148 T -
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According to the new accounting policy in the recognition of the
revenue from property sales, the Group’s consolidated turnover and
profit attributable to shareholders for 2009 reached 16,601 million
and 4,409 million respectively, representing a respective increase of
77.3% and 121.1% over the corresponding period of 2008. Though
affected by the policy changes in the revenue recognition, the
residential development business’s turnover still recorded a strong
increase, rising to HK$14,450 million with a year on year growth of
107.9%. For 2009, the business of property leasing and management
sustained its growth, with a turnover of HK$1,292 million, an

increase of 14.2% over the same period of 2008.

For 2009, the gross profit margin of the residential development
business was 34.1%, at par with 34.3% for the whole year of 2008;
EBITDA profit margin of property leasing business stayed high at
69.1%, compared with 69.5% for 2008 if excluding revenue portion

from property management fee.

In consistence with its payout policy, the Group declared a final
dividend of HK18.3 cents per share, an increase of 120.5% compared
to HK 8.3 cents per share for the corresponding period of 2008.
Together with the interim dividend of HK 5.4 cents, the annual
dividend of 2009 reached HK23.7 cents per share. The payout ratio
of 2009 was 27.0%, the same level as for 2008.

Land Bank

In 2009, the Group acquired new land bank with a total gross floor
area of 6.05 million square meters. As of 31 December 2009, the
Group had established its presence in 21 cities nationwide with a
total land bank of 22.19 million square meters in gross floor area.
Land bank for residential projects, investment properties under
construction and investment properties in operation was 18.52
million square meters, 2.87 million square meters and 0.80 million

square meters respectively.

BRI
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Now the Group has basically formed a land bank that is ideally
balanced in its proportion for residential development and
investment properties, in its geographic mix. The size of this land

bank is sufficient for the Group’s development in the coming years.

Development Strategy

Our long-stated and well-articulated mission is to provide quality
and innovative properties and services in mainland China to
constantly enhance the productivity along the full value chain of
the property business by way of differentiation in product design
and provision of comprehensive and integrated services. We are
also dedicated to cater for the increasing demand for residential
properties from middle-to-high income consumers, the demand for
rental premises from brand retailers and that for office space from
high-end corporate clients in order to raise the brand awareness of
our products and projects. Ultimately, the Group aims to become a
competitive and leading integrated provider of quality property and
to become an industry leader both in terms of business scale and of

profitability in the coming years.

The “differentiation”, the unique business model of “residential
development + property investment + value-added customer
services” along with “quality excellence” form the core components
of the Group’s development strategy, which in turn assures the
Group to achieve its vision and helps to build its long-term core

competitiveness.



ZERFIE AL TR T A
SR FERE T 1Y B SUE SR R T 4R A i
THHEMAER L Dbt 8o E B A 1K
A BER T RO E AT ER
GIFE il - DAE— 0 I 0 58 5 AN 4R [ 7 2
FE i SRR S R o AE IR AS BRI B
(B0 A5 ik B e A st AR T U R -
RGBS A 2 ] 0 2 4 B 13RIk T
[PLE R Z A - 2B AR 1 5% -
Fic A5 A £E ] 1 iy o WAL 55 BT S L
N RS — 1TeER R K P R
T8 B0 AR L H R 3] 44 Bk T s o
JHH o

CEFIFE > AL T LR RO
TEH o AR 3 2 i 2 AU SR A (R 2 B R
SR EE S s DIRYISEAR - BN
RAGERME T ZCEIEE - BB N
T35 B4 F o ASR B4R N 3L A o JH H %
8~ TR TR o

ZEZNFENA TR - AEEPRILEUKAL
7 SR T LA R
i B A ) o WREE Tl ELAR T R
Z WU LB R OR > DL TR A v
QI 22 AR AR AE IR A R8O R 5
S5 i LRI o 35 B R IRAE SR T LA
A F 2 B TR LRI SRR

In 2009, on the top of the metropolitan complex project “City
Crossing” which has been highly recognized by the market and
by peers in the industry, the Group has developed a new series
of commercial products, i.e. “regional commercial center”, with
an aim to broaden our commercial product line and to fit into
our development plan for geographic expansion for commercial
products. To this end, we have taken Beijing Oak Bay as the pilot
project for such new commercial product line and will expand
the product nationwide once it is proven commercially successful,
During the year, the Group’s value-added services won a great
market response and achieved a great success in Beijing Oak Bay,
the pilot project selected to promote the Group’s value-added
services and to test market reception. The standardized and serialized
storage space was overwhelmingly well received by the market and
customers in our pilot project Beijing Oak Bay and has now been
extended to 13 cities; Coupled with Group’s high-end brands and
high quality image, the “service-aided marketing model” featuring
“tailor-made decoration, and integrated personalized service” was
successfully applied in King Nine project in Beijing. Having obtained
a good response from customers and the market, such marketing
practice is now being applied to high-end projects in four other

cities.

During the year of 2009, the Group launched a number of new
projects with distinguishing features, such as the Dalian Xanadu,
representing the low-density products; Shenzhen Park Lane Manor,
Shanghai Bund Side Phase 2, representing the urban core-area
residential projects. All those projects have been well recognized by
the industry peers and the market. During the year, six projects of
the Group won High Quality Engineering Awards either at municipal

or at provincial level.

On 10 September 2009, the Group formally launched high-quality
brand awareness campaign in Beijing Water Cube. During the public
release conference, we have concluded to take “quality makes more
changes for the city” as our brand appeal and “fine design guidlines”,
“the high quality engineering standards” and “service by heart” as
our brand connotation. The relentless pursuit of high-quality has
become a common code of conduct for all staff throughout the

Group.

BRI
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Prospects
The Group is confident about the sustainability of a steady and rapid
growth in China economy and the healthy development of the real

estate industry.

As of 22 March 2010, the Group has achieved contracted sales of
RMB2.93 billion in the year of 2010 at par over the same period
of 2009. Including the contracted value of RMB19.11 billion in
property sales that was achieved before the end of 2009 but
not yet recognized, the Group has, as of 22 March 2010, a total
development revenue of RMB22.04 billion available for booking
overtime. Specifically, the Group has locked up a total revenue of
RMB14.21 billion from the residential property development business
for recognition in 2010, indicating a great degree of assurance for a

sustained growth in the year of 2010.

On 5 February this year, Hang Seng Indexes Company Limited, the
Hong Kong stock index compilation agency, announced that our
Group will be included in Hang Seng Index since 8 March 2010. The
constituent change of Hang Seng Indexes is the first adjustment since
May 2009, and also an important milestone event in the Group’s
corporate history. It not only represents the full recognition of the
Group in its development strategy, corporate governance, product
competitiveness, future prospects and other aspects by the capital
market, but also greatly enhances the image and the influence
of the Group. I, on behalf of the Board, would like to take this
opportunity to express my sincere thanks to all staff for the great
efforts in making this remarkable achievement possible, and to all
the shareholders, customers, tenants and different circles of the
community for your consistent and persistent supports to our Group.
Taking this as a new start, the Group is committed to continuously
enhance its all-around capabilities in internal management and
cost controls, in product innovation, marketing as well as risk
management on its way to better realize its ultimate corporate
objectives, i.e. to continuously create values for the society,

shareholders, customers and also for our valuable employees.

Wang Yin
Chairman

26 March 2010, Hong Kong
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The “oéjyeren/ia/[on . the unigue business model of

“residential ofeuefopmen/ + property investmen! +
value-added customer services” afony with “7:10&@
excellence” form the core components of the 91’011/0 s
development straftegy, which in turn assures the
91’011/0 to achieve ils vision and Ae&) to build its fony-

term core compelitiveness.

In the year of 2009, residential development and leasing operations
of the Group delivered satisfactory performances. During the period
under review, both contracted sales and progress of our projects
were all on schedule, laying down a solid foundation for promising
results of 2009 and 2010.

Review of Residential Development
Business in the Year of 2009

In the year of 2009, the Group achieved a contracted sales of RMB
25,089 million with the area sold totaling 2,152,459 square meters,
representing a respective increase of 213.8% and 207.0% from the
year of 2008.

Annual Report 2009
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TEENELSIM T EEAESNS R Details in sales breakdown by cities during the year of 2009 are set

% out as follows:
1 ] S8 885 TH A
Contracted Value Area Sold
PN T fib RAVE S fl ke
Wi City RMB’000 % Sqm %

JExt Beijing 5,068,806 20.2% 277,708 12.9%
ity Shanghai 2,466,691 9.8% 56,092 2.6%
A Shenzhen 3,720,216 14.8% 95,352 4.4%
A Chengdu 4,321,498 17.2% 623,318 29.0%
TE Wuhan 860,734 3.4% 98,400 4.6%
AR Hefei 769,501 3.1% 139,666 6.5%
Ll Hangzhou 127,608 0.5% 3,912 0.2%
55 Wuxi 1,451,871 5.8% 200,710 9.3%
K Ningbo 1,980,310 7.9% 135,067 6.3%
K Dalian 2,398,065 9.6% 171,780 8.0%
= Changsha 570,434 2.3% 160,235 7.4%
#FEM Suzhou 373,200 1.5% 11,793 0.5%
HE Chongqing 567,319 2.3% 117,887 5.5%
Wi Shenyang 413,053 1.6% 60,539 2.8%
&t Total 25,089,306 100.0% 2,152,459 100.0%

24 | SRR
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CEREBAEARER FEIHEBHEER Sales details of the Group by projects in the year of 2009:

BIE=FRIAE
FOAST-N CRBAE CREAE
JHH B Fidesoli JHE A MeEgm  RGtoEmR O MWl TFHEE
Average
Accumulated Area sold selling price

area sold as at  in the year  in the year

Project Name City Project Type Total GFA 31 Dec 2009 of 2009 of 2009
(NRH/ T

CEFIK) Ik JiK)

(sqm) (sqm) (RMB/sqm)

JREIR Jext REEEE 356,613 252,186 20,965 22517
Phoenix City Beijing High density residential

e B[4 REEEE 616,757 286,361 128,261 18,819
Oak Bay Beijing High density residential

P SRAL L Jex PR LT 217,490 122,187 116,596 18,143
Eco Living Beijing Mid-low density residential

iwid 2 i REEEE 189,776 98,569 21,824 63,361
The Bund Side Shanghai High density residential

o i REELEE 230,795 53,068 34,268 31,631
Oak Bay Shanghai High density residential

BRI AR YN REEEE 110,000 95,352 95,352 39,016
Shenzhen Park Lane Manor Shenzhen  High density residential

HRIN JIAS PR T 1,063,542 829,496 215,630 7,319
Jade City Chengdu Mid-low density residential

iy gl JRHS HEEET 1,640,000 369,704 239,451 7,014
Twenty-Four City Chengdu High density residential

BRI JAD BEEREE 694,576 267,807 164,632 6,374
Phoenix City Chengdu High density residential

JBE R REEEE 141,300 133,128 6,604 7,891
Phoenix City Wuhan High density residential

HRAE WS REEEE 346,696 91,150 91,150 8,837
Central Park Wuhan High density residential

T B PEEEEE 202,020 192,457 26,346 5351
French Annecy Hefei Mid-low density residential

“ BB FEAER
e S ARSI 25
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JH # R

Project Name

P e 3k i

City

JHHBR

Project Type

A

Total GFA

BILZZFNAE
FoAZtH
Rt DE

Accumulated
area sold as at

31 Dec 2009

CFHAK)
(sqm)

“RBNE

BT

Area sold
in the year
of 2009

(FIK)
(sqm)

“EThA
SR
Average
selling price
in the year
of 2009
(NRHE
VES)

(RMB/sqm)

BIEEAEE
Hefei Park Lane Manor
il
MIXc Residence
ORI B A [
Wuxi Taihu International
Community
RS
Tuscany Lake
FRAE
Central Park
RIGETHR
Oriental Xanadu
R
Maritime
FF
Suzhou Villa
JELE
Phoenix City
iy plllh
Twenty-Four City
slLiEr
The Arc

Dalian
fR
Suzhou
5307
Changsha
HE
Chongging
Tk
Shenyang

REELEE

High density residential
A2

High density residential
PR LT

Mid-low density residential

R EAE

Low density residential
REEEE

High density residential
PR LT
Mid-low density residential
REEAEE

High density residential
R

Low density residentia
REEEE

High density residential
FHEEEE

High density residential
REEEE

High density residential

195,004

197,785

1,017,698

130,352

284,348

166,137

1,309,592

67,595

1,198,040

1,951,620

280,000

138,237

100,172

307,767

90,524

00,440

58,345

191,065

12,510

201,770

153,116

60,539

112,123

3912

200,710

70,626

02,490

45,298

126,482

11,793

160,235

117,887

60,539

5,579

32,619

7,234

17,073

12,219

30,318

8,102

31,646

3,560

4812

0,823

BRI
Annual Report 2009



FERENMNMEGFIHH R

CERIE AEEEHEEHEE
B R R 144500 > BHE ML
1,151,089°F 77 K > 8 I 4 [8] 1 4> Al 44 =
107.9% M 68.7% o —EEJUIFEE TR %
W B R F34.1% > B FAERH934.3%
HEARFF -

A

||

S S e SRS IEFC NS P i
MR

Details of the Projects Delivered and
Booked in 2009

During 2009, the Group’s residential development business achieved
a turnover of HK$14,450 million with 1,151,089 square meters being
recognized, representing a respective increase of 107.9% and 68.7%
over the corresponding period in 2008. The Group’s gross profit
margin of the residential development business is 34.1% in the year
of 2009, which maintains stable over the 34.3% of 2008.

Details of the projects booked and turnover of the Group in 2009 are
listed below:

FHCR 2 G ATE

JHH A

Project Name

Turnover Area Booked
w000 RRVES
HK$°000 sqm

JRE A, Phoenix City 540,048 22,156
JELEI N 7 Phoenix Plaza 636,447 39,866
iR Oak Bay 646,282 37,267
HoAth Others 40,990 3,021
Jb s Ml /NG Beijing Subtotal 1,863,767 102,310
A [ The Bund Side 145,853 3,459
g Oak Bay 1,362,858 43,842
Vg I /NG Shanghai Subtotal 1,508,711 47,301
GYIEAE B Shenzhen Park Lane Manor 3,891,481 88,334
25 R I Jade City 1,272,225 160,522
JEUEL I Phoenix City 1,196,309 165,970
B iG] Twenty-Four City 2,202,478 292,998
JRERH N Chengdu Subtotal 4,671,012 619,490
I T BRI Wuhan Phoenix City 62,700 7,250
TR BH French Annecy 162,920 26,988
AR E Hefei Park Lane Manor 122,754 13,350
A REHb NG Hefei Subtotal 285,674 40,338
AE 55 A A 1B PR A [ Wuxi Taihu International Community 628,197 76,261
RIS Ningbo Tuscany Lake 1,156,460 68,060
VP BRI Changsha Phoenix City 382,303 101,745
Hastk Total 14,450,365 1,151,089
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Since the beginning of 2010, the Group continues to deliver
satisfactory performance in project sales. As of 22 March, the
contracted value of sales was RMB2,930 million, maintained stable
over the same period of 2009. Together with the contracted value
of RMB13,113 million achieved before the end of 2009 but to be
booked in 2010, the Group has so far locked in total development
revenue of RMB14,212 million for 2010, thus laying down a solid

foundation for promising financial results of 2010.

Review of Leasing Business in 2009

As of 31 December 2009, book value of the investment properties of
the Group totaled HK$16,742 million, which accounted for 17.3% of
the total assets of the Group. In accordance with relevant accounting
standards, the Group had conducted an evaluation for its investment
properties, including projects under construction, and a revaluation
gain of HKD$1,351 million (net off taxation) were booked during
the period based on an appraisal performed by an independent
third party. In the year of 2009, the turnover of property leasing and
management business amounted to HK$1,069 million, representing
a year-on-year increase of 10.5%. Along with rising rental income,
the EBITDA profit margin of the leased properties remained at a
relatively high level at 69.1% if excluding revenue portion from
residential management fee, largely at par with 69.5% for the year of
2008.
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Investment Property

BEWHEAT]  Company

|7 3 YN/ ] Beijing China Resources

Building

b [ At CR Land Beijing Others
RS Shanghai CR Times Square
WIYIFEREF L Shenzhen City Crossing
RN Other Rental Income
e Property Management

AR TR R A ) E 2 A SERES T

B F

Property Name

GINZER O
Shenzhen City Crossing

BRI
The MIXc
RINZE R R B
China Resources Building
EERVAT)
Grand Hyatt Hotel
(EX:8 )
Car Park

PRI B K

Huarui Building

P AE38 T

City

el

Shenzhen

I

Shenzhen

The following table sets out the turnover and occupancy rates of the

key investment properties in the year of 2009:

BEFOEN 000)

Turnover (HK$°000)

e 2 S

2009

152,667

103,065
189,144
611,771

12,314
223,183

Details of the Group’s major leased properties in the PRC are listed

“EENE
2008

155,056

84,199
173,707
554,233

na
163,727

below:

AL H

R il

Interest

Attributable to
the Group

100.00%

100.00%

-1 H AL (%)

Average Occupancy Rate (%)

%wYOY —EBZNA

%yoy

-1.5%

22.4%
8.9%
10.4%
na

30.3%

2009

94.4%

96.6%
94.5%
99.9%
na
na

ZERENF

AT TRIAE A A T v R
SN

Attributable

(F75K)
Total GFA
(sqm)
323,748
159,585
40,990
67,506
55,667

13,789

GFA
(sqm)

323,748

159,585

40,990
67,506
55,667

13,789

2008

96.4%

92.4%
95.5%
99.7%
na
na

%YOY
%yoy

-2.0%

4.2%
-1.0%
0.2%
na

na

Usage

Retail
Office
5
Hotel
(R
Car Park
5

Hotel

BRI

Annual Report 2009

29



AL

LIE A AL S B e Al AOAT AL AR TR &
(FI7K) (FI7K)
Interest Attributable
Attributable to Total GFA GFA

Property Name City the Group (sqm) (sqm) Usage

iR tifg 100.00% 97,139 97,139
Shanghai CR Times Square Shanghai
% 51,190 51,190 FE
Mall Retail
R 36,843 36,843 Ry
Office Office
AL RCHERR Jext 100.00% 65,222 65,222 2
Beijing China Resources Beijing Office
Building
R el 96.24% 30,863 29,703 o
Beijing Office
ik 'ald 3 | 96.24% 36,184 34,824 8
Xidan Cultural Centre Beijing Retail
b ARG b 96.24% 16,787 16,155 e
Grand Constellation Beijing Retail
Shopping Mall
B LEES b= 96.24% 10,685 10,283 e
U-Space Mall Beijing Retail
A0 T 8 96.24% 17,952 17,277 £3
Jing Tong Shops Beijing Retail
At BRI P S A b= 96.24% 13,210 12,714 T
Beijing Phoenix City Beijing Retail
Commercial Street
HPKE Jbxt 48.12% 54,214 26,088 FE
Huawei Centre Beijing Retail
HEp R B8 15.30% 70,058 10,718 i
Huanan Building Beijing Retail
5 B ] 22 9 A de st 96.24% 4,155 3,999 R
Building 22, Guanyingyuan Beijing Office

30 | EEuEEER
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A

Property Name

P AEsR i

City

AL

Fe I e il AOMOHTEAE  REANARE AR &
SEN SEN
Interest Attributable
Attributable to Total GFA GFA
the Group (sqm) (sqm) Usage

96.24% 3,926 3,778 T
Retail
96.24% 5,681 5,467 &
Retail
96.24% 2,007 1,932 &
Retail
96.24% 34,729 33,422 R BE
Office/Retail

800,349 706,258

441,478 350,011

178,073 176,756

81,295 81,295

99,502 98,196

G |7
Jin Hui Garden Beijing
35 R INAR B2 5 40 9 ==
Building 49, Fortune Island, Beijing
Jade City

S5 AR IR B2l 1 5E A Jex
Building 1, Plot B2, Jade City ~ Beijing
HoAts =)=
Others Beijing
AR T T
Total GFA*
Hrp e TEYE
Comprising: Retail

Office

s

Hotel

HoAt

Others

1R CIFEE A R TIRSEI L > AT AR
B~ L FEA L A L
FCONE AR~ A= P2
& BB AR A AR
WAL ~ GHEFERE L b ER I
TELG KL Ji 2N~ KA L2 v N - A
MHWIRH 2~ BAE A VI ~
HF L~ P EAES - BRI H 2
&~ BB F R A o F I 512,872,524 F
Tr R uyESE AR -

k3

Not including Beijing Phoenix Plaza, Beijing Oak Bay Commercial
Property, Beijing China Resources Building Phase II, Shanghai
Bund Side Apartment, Chengdu Jade City Commercial Property,
Chengdu Twenty-Four City Commercial Property, Chengdu Oak
Bay Commercial Property, Mianyang Project Commercial Property,
Chengdu Donghu Project Commercial Property, Hefei Park Lane
Manor Commercial Property, The MIXc in Hangzhou, Wuxi Taibu
International Community Commercial Property, Hotel in Dalian
Oriental Xanadu, Suzhou Xiangcheng Project Commercial Property,
Chongqing Twenty-Four City Commercial Property, MIXc in
Shenyang, Shenyang CR Plaza, Qingdao Submarine School Project
Commercial Property, Anshan Education Bureau Project Commercial
Property, all of which are currently under construction, totalling
2,872,524 square melers.

BRI
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Properties, especially commercial properties will be the product line
the Group emphasizes on in the future. Now the Group has formed
three tiered commercial product series: metropolitan commercial
complex, i.e. City Crossing, Residential plus regional commercial
centre, Residential plus district commercial centre. With the success
of Shenzhen MIXc, an example of “City Crossing”, the City Crossing
product line is now being copied or will be copied in Hangzhou,
Shenyang, Chengdu, Nanjing and Qingdao. “Residential plus regional
commercial centre” product line is now being piloted in Beijing Oak
Bay and will also be introduced nationwide after the success of the
trial. Moreover, “Residential plus district commercial centre”, the new
product line that is smaller in scale and lower-end than the other
two commercial product lines, is now being piloted in our project in
Anshan city, Liaoning province in cooperation with China Resource
Vanguard, a retail subsidiary under China Resources Enterprises,

Limited (0291.HK) and will then be introduced to other cities.

In the future, the Group plans to launch one to two investment
property projects each year. The stable and recurrent rental income
from rental properties will offer the Group a greater operational
resilience to defend against risks from industry fluctuations while

optimizing its earnings mix.

Review of Value-added Services
In the year of 2009, the Group has further enhanced its project

management system and customer value-adding service system.

We took Beijing King Nine project as the pilot project to test market
reception by offering high-end customers with total personalized and
tailor-made furnishing solutions. After the success in Beijing King
Nine project, we have expanded such service-aided marketing model

to other high-end projects in Shanghai, Suzhou, Dalian and Ningbo.
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The standardized and serialized storage space designed by our
Group after careful and thorough market research was first
introduced in Beijing Oak Bay project, was overwhelmingly well
received by the market and customers and is now been extended to

other projects.

To better meet customers’ needs, the Group promoted a brand
slogan in 2009 “quality brings more changes to cities”, and principles
such as “fine design guidelines”, “the high quality engineering
standards” and “service by heart” have become a common code
of conduct for all staff throughout the Group In the 2009’s Gallup
Customer Satisfaction Survey, the Group’s rating of customer
satisfaction and overall satisfaction both reached the top end of the

bench mark of the industry.

BRI

Annual Report 2009

33



34

+ M fi A5 Land Bank

TEEIF > AREFIERT 604.67 87 In 2009, the Group added 6.05 million square meters to its land
KA L Gk o bank.
HE_EENE++_H=1+—H » KEH As of the end of December 2009, the total land bank of the Group
R B AR R B 4 2,218.98 H5 - oK amounted to 22.19 million square meters in terms of GFA, which
(FREmAL) > M E2VEMTT - FERT was located in 21 cities. Details are set out below:
x
Hb [ Location A el S A
CFIrK)
Total GFA
(sqm)

b3 Beijing* 2,124,262
i Shanghai 1,000,539
G Shenzhen 348,487
YA Chengdu 3,686,021
WL Wuhan 396,100
&he Hefei 482,123
LN Hangzhou 662,538
e 55 Wuxi* 1,210,841
28/ Ningbo 364,925
P Dalian* 1,551,867
= Changsha 1,556,591
RN Suzhou 430,138
HE Chongqing 2,768,239
Wk Shenyang 2,038,732
A Mianyang 893,949
J5 M Xiamen 307,826
K Tianjin 151,541
A& Fuzhou 603,108
T Nantong 415,200
Al Anshan 586,400
FE Qingdao 610,400
A5t Total 22,189,827

* o RAE ] 5A S 7 I AP B H A
FEas 25100% - 5 5E B 15 90 50 4461 2 0 H 119 1
i 4598.1% > 75 5E [E] 1 S0 7 g H A AE 2 B
FEIH [ 1 I (596,292 HEdr - RLE[F (G MN
I IE - JESGH i A R 60.0% 2 TE
o ALE Bl A SR e — ETE H 0 s 2
55.0% ©
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The Group’s interest is 100% in Beijing Daxing 17# Project, 98.1% in
Beijing Oak Bay Project and 96.2% in all other projects in Beijing. In
addition, the Group’s interests in Hangzhou MIXc project and Wuxi
projects are both 60.0%, while the Group’s interest in Dalian Oriental
Xanadu Project is 55.0%.
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Share Placement, Borrowings and Debt
Ratio

In May 2009, the Group raised net proceeds of approximately
HK$4,240 million by placing 300 million new shares in open market
to independent investors at the net price of HK$14.13 per share. The
share placement further enhanced the Group’s financial strength and
created a greater room for the Group to gear up its balance sheet to
fund its growth in the future. As of 31 December 2009, the Group
had a total gross borrowing of HK$27,459 million, as well as cash
and bank balance of HK$19,514 million. The Group’s net debt to
equity ratio stood at 21.0%.

As of 31 December 2009, 51.5% and 48.5% of the Group’s borrowings
were denominated in Renminbi and HK dollars respectively. Among
the total borrowings, approximately 6.7% of the bank borrowings are
repayable within one year while the rest are long term borrowings.
The Group has kept its borrowing costs at a relatively low level, with
its weighted average interest rate of its bank loans at approximately

2.9% per annum only.

Employee and Compensation Policy

As of 31 December 2009, the Group had approximately 6,411 full
time staff in Mainland China and Hong Kong (including its property
management and agency subsidiaries). The Group remunerates
its employees based on their performance, experience and the
prevailing market wage level. In addition, performance bonuses are
granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include
provident fund, insurance and medical coverage, share option

scheme, restricted share award scheme, etc.
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Executive Directors

MR. WANG YIN, aged 53

was appointed Chairman of the Company in June 2009. He is
responsible for the overall business development and strategic
planning of the Group’s business. He is also a Director and a Vice
President of China Resources (Holdings) Co. Ltd. and a Director of
China Resources National Corporation. Mr. Wang is also a Director of
China Vanke Co., Ltd, which is a listed company in China. Mr. Wang
has a Bachelor of Economics degree from Shangdong University in
China and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco in
the United States. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1984.

MR. WU XIANGDONG, aged 42

was appointed Managing Director of the Company in June 2009,
he is also the General Manager of China Resources (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. Mr. Wu has a double Bachelor’s degree in Architectural
Management and Mechanics and a Master’s degree in Transportation
Engineering from Tsinghua University, China and an MBA degree
from the University of San Francisco in the United States. Mr. Wu
has experience in corporate management and commercial property
operation. Mr. Wu joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1993 and was the Vice General Manager of China

Resources Property Management Limited.

Non-Executive Directors

MR. JIANG WEI, aged 47,

was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company in February
2006. Mr. Jiang is currently a Director, Vice President of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and China Resources
National Corporation. Mr. Jiang is a Non-Executive Director of China
Resources Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited, China Resources Microelectronics Limited, China
Assets (Holdings) Limited and is also an Executive Director of
Cosmos Machinery Enterprises Limited and an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Greentown China Holdings Limited. He is also
a Director of China Vanke Co., Ltd., a listed company in China. Mr.
Jiang obtained both his Bachelor’s degree in International Trade
and Master’s degree in International Business and Finance from the
University of International Business and Economics in Beijing, China.

He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1988.
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MR. YAN BIAO, aged 48

was appointed Executive Director of the Company in February
1996 and was re-designated as Non-Executive Director in February
2006. Mr. Yan is a Director of China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited and China Resources National Corporation and is the
Director of Legal Affairs of the China Resources Group. He is also
a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise, Limited.
Mr. Yan has a Bachelor of Laws degree from the Peking University,
China and an MBA degree from the University of San Francisco, USA.
He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1985.

MR. LI FUZUO, aged 45

was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company in August
2007. Mr. Li is currently the Vice President and the Chief Strategy
Management Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited,
and the General Manager of its Strategy Management Department.
He is also a Non-Executive Director of China Resources Enterprise,
Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited, China Resources
Microelectronics Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited. Mr. Li obtained both his Bachelor’s and Master’s Degrees
in Mechanical Manufacturing Engineering from Beijing University of
Aeronautics and Astronautics. He joined China Resources (Holdings)

Company Limited in 1992.

MR. DU WENMIN, aged 46

was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company in August
2007. Mr. Du is currently a Vice President and Chief Human
Resources Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.
Mr. Du is also the Non-Executive Director of China Resources
Enterprise, Limited, China Resources Gas Group Limited, China
Resources Microelectronics Limited, and China Resources Cement
Holdings Limited. Mr. Du has an MBA degree from the University of
San Francisco, USA. He joined China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited in 1985.
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PROF. DING JIEMIN, aged 52

was appointed Non-Executive Director of the Company in September
2008. Prof. Ding is currently the Assistant to the President of Tongji
University, the Chairman of Shanghai Tongji Science & Technology
Industrial Co., Ltd. (600846), and the President of the Architectural
Design and Research Institute of Tongji University. Prof. Ding is also
a researcher in structural engineering, an adviser of doctoral students,
a China national class 1 registered structural engineer, a registered
consultant engineer (in investment), and a senior registered structural
engineer in British Royal Institution of Structural Engineers. Prof.
Ding Jiemin graduated from Dept. of Building Engineering in Tongji
University in 1982. He got his master’s degree and doctor’s degree

from Tongji University in 1987 and 1990.

Prof. Ding is engaged in the research and design in structural
engineering. His research direction is super-high and large-span
complex structural system. In recent years, he published more
than 80 professional articles, and designed dozens of different
kinds of buildings, well combining the structural research with the

engineering design.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

MR. WANG SHI, aged 59

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in April 1997. Mr. Wang is also the Chairman of China Vanke Co.,
Ltd, which is listed on the Stock Exchange of Shenzhen, China. Mr.
Wang is also an Independent Non-Executive Director of SOHU.Com
Inc., Central China Real Estate Group Limited, Shanghai Metersbonwe
Fashion and Accessories Co., Ltd. and Modern Media Holdings
Limited. He has a Bachelor of Science degree from Lanzhou Railway

College in China.

MR. ANDREW Y. YAN, aged 52

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director in July 2006.
He also serves as the Chairman of the Company’s Remuneration
Committee. Currently, he is the Managing Partner of SAIF Partners
III and SB Asia Investment Fund II, and the Executive Managing
Director of Softbank Asia Infrastructure Fund (SAIF). Besides, Mr.
Yan is also a Non-Executive Director of Digital China Holdings
Limited and MOBI Development Co., Ltd, and an Independent Non-
Executive Director of Fosun International Limited, all 3 are listed

companies in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Yan obtained his Bachelor’s degree in Engineering from Nanjing
Aeronautic Institute in 1982. He received his Master’s degree in
Sociology from Beijing University in 1986 and second Master’s
degree in Economics from Princeton University in the United States

in 1989.

MR. HO HIN NGAI, BOSCO, aged 65

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in September 2005. Mr. Ho is a graduate from the Department of
Architecture of University of Hong Kong. He worked in several
renowned architectural practices in UK and HK before founding
Ho & Partners Architects Engineers and Development Consultants
Limited in 1980. He is Authorized Person (Architect) Hong Kong,
Member of Hong Kong Institute of Architects and of Royal Institute
of British Architects. His varied projects can be found in mainland

China, Hong Kong, India, South-East Asia and Middle East.

MR. WAN KAM TO, Peter, aged 57

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in March 2009, he also services as the Chairman of the Company’s
Audit Committee. Mr. Wan has been a practicing accountant in Hong
Kong for over 30 years and has extensive experience in auditing,
finance, advisory and management. He was a former partner of
PricewaterhouseCoopers Hong Kong and China firm. Mr Wan
is currently an Independent Non-Executive Director of Mindray
Medical International Limited (a company listed on the New York
Stock Exchange, USA), The Fairwood Holdings Limited (a company
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), and United
Commercial Bank (China) Limited in Shanghai, P.R.C. and the
Chairman of their respective Audit Committees. Mr. Wan is also a
Non-executive Director of Taikang Life Insurance Company Limited
in Beijing, P.R.C.. He is a Fellow of Hong Kong Institute of Certified

Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

BRI
Annual Report 2009

39



40

FEREF e > &8RS > S8BE

i R R = A ERAT By AR w L JE
WATES - HEER I L= FRERE
R S B SRt (AR B, B
MR o FEIMABUN TAEZ f1 > Bk
R AT ] % 4 TR AR T s L T A WD
PR o BEAN B E L HmMAL:
B > AT BRI S8 R R R > 7
CTEELALH BT LT ERR R
o M BT NF LA
B o BEAR BT/ FE+ H B FB K
B A BB e 40 BRI RAER R
TIAELABREERAT A PREARET
AFBIBHREEGRE - BEERAE
W b T2 ED R SR AR A R A R R IR
fTH#HE o

RAE PN B

BB - BUAFE =1 Uk

BUE 22 7 A8 A B R 2 M (Lm0 e fy
AR A A o BOSEREA T BIEER
B SR B BB B S SR AR B T
[ERESLE T S VAR | 2 iRy g il e o
T E - A MR A S S 7 T R &L
B o BROCAE — U= ImA T (R E)
AR - R AT IO 3 TR i () A FR

NI

FEH A > BUAFE =1/ UK

UL 2 ) il S A B R e 10 B 4t (R A7 BR
N RV ABEERE o FEAAE R P ) OB T
TR A B B T B e SR
B Ll R BE TR A B ER AR - B2 B
FE I A S B J5 TH B KRB o S AR R
— U= IMAEE R (EFD ARRAT > 8
AR HE Y A RA R -

SRR AR
Annual Report 2009

Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang, GBS, aged 58,

was appointed Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company
in March 2010. Mr. Ma graduated from the University of Hong Kong
in 1973 with a Bachelor of Arts (Honours) degree in economics
and history. Mr. Ma has held senior management positions in
international financial institutions and Hong Kong publicly listed
companies in his career. In July 2002, he left the private sector and
joined the Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region as the Secretary for Financial Services and the Treasury
and assumed the post of Secretary for Commerce and Economic
Development in July 2007. He resigned from the Government in July
2008 due to medical reasons. In October 2008, he was appointed
as an Honorary Professor of the School of Economics and Finance
at the University of Hong Kong. In July 2009, he was appointed as
a Member of the Intenational Advisory Council of China Investment
Corporation. At present, he is the Chairman and an non-executive
director of China Strategic Holdings Limited, a Hong Kong listed

company.

Senior Management

MR. CHEN YING, aged 39

is a Vice President of the Company and the General Manager of
China Resources Land (Beijing) Company Limited. Mr. Chen has
a Bachelor’s degree in Architectural Management from Tsinghua
University, China and an MBA degree from the University of
Oxford. Mr. Chen is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Construction Managers. He has experience in property management
and corporate management. Mr. Chen joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in 1993, and has worked for China

Resources Construction (Holdings) Co., Ltd.

MR. TANG YONG, aged 38

is a Vice President of the Company and the General Manager of
China Resources Land (Chengdu) Limited. Mr. Tang has a Bachelor’s
degree of Engineering in Industrial and Electrical Automation from
Tongji Universtity, China and an MBA degree from the University
of San Francisco in the United States. Mr. Tang has experience in
property management and corporate management. Mr. Tang joined
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 1993, and had

worked for China Resources Property Management Limited.
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MR. WANG GUOHUA, aged 46

is the General Manager of Corporate Finance and Planning
Department of the Company. Mr. Wang received his Bachelor’s
degree in Inorganic High-temperature-resistant Materials Engineering
from Wuhan Polytech University and then Master of Science degree
in International Banking and Finance from Heriott-Watt University
in Edinburgh, the UK, as a recipient of Senior Scholarship of British
Foreign Office. He joined the company in 2006. Prior to that, Mr.
Wang had worked for over 10 years in Edinburgh, London and Hong
Kong respectively with several renowned international investment
banks in areas of fund management, equity research and corporate

finance.

MS. ZHANG XIAOFENG, aged 40

is the Financial Controller of the Company. Ms. Zhang has a Master
degree in Economics from Capital University of Economics and
Business. She is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (HKICPA), the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants (ACCA), and Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (CICPA). Ms. Zhang worked for a well-known

accounting firm. She joined the Company in 2003.
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(Eight Major Environment-Friendly & Energy Conservation Systems
being applied in Eco Living Project in Beijing)
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Environmental Protection, Energy
Conservation and Emission Control

As an integrated real estate player, the Group considers
environmental protection as a vital part of corporate social
responsibility. Environmentally-conscious ideas are integrated into
the different aspects of product development such as planning and
designing, usage of construction materials, the design of landscape
and forestation, and property management. The Group strives to
create a kind of ecological environment in the community that is
comfortable and pleasant, through the usage of environment-friendly
construction materials, and the temperature, light and noise controls
in its management systems. The company emphasizes on landscape
and forestation in its property planning, employs delicate designing
ideas to public space, and endeavors to create inside and outside

environment that are equally comfortable and exquisite.

In the future, the Group will introduce the concept of low-carbon
green construction to the selected projects in their design and
management, and establish “Residential Pilot Community of China
Resources Land Limited”, in order to test the energy conservation
and environmental protection technologies in residential projects,

and apply R&D results to its green residential products.

L A 1 28 TR REFE il
(Shanghai Oak Bay project incorporated 28 ecological technologies)
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(The Group participated in “The Earth One Hour” environmental
protection activity.)

Social Philanthropy

The Group promotes the idea of contributing to society and has
hosted various community activities on a regular and irregular basis
at our residential projects. Apart from this, the Group participated in
the “Hope Village” project in Yongle County, Youjiang District, Baise
City, Guangxi Province. The “Hope Village” project is the charity
project sponsored by our majority shareholder China Resources
Holdings (the CRH) and is participated by all subsidiaries of the CRH
and other interested parties. The Group leveraged its expertise in
real estate development and helped to build public facilities such as
school, hospital, community with new concepts, playground, roads
and etc for the sponsored community; The project has so far helped
to alleviate poverty of and improve living conditions for about three

hundred farmer families.

T B A BRI

(Architectural Effect Pictures of “Hope Village” community)

A B NG 2 R RS T
(“Hope Village” School)
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The Company recognises the importance of maintaining high
standards of corporate governance to the long-term stable
development of the Group. The Company has adopt the Code on
Corporate Governance Practice set out in the Appendix 14 to the
Listing Rule of The Hong Kong Stock Exchange. A review of the

Company’s corporate governance in 2009 is set out as follows:

A.1The Board

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
issuer and for the overall enhancement of the issuer’s business
towards success. The Board should make objective decisions

to the interests for the issuer.

. As at 31 December 2009, the Board of the Company
comprised 12 directors, including 2 executive directors, 6
non-executive directors and 4 independent non-executive
directors. Members of the Board are not related to each
other and the Chairman is not related to the members
of the Board, including financial, business, family or
other significant relationship. In accordance with the
requirements of the Listing Rules, the Company has
received confirmation from each of the independent non-

executive directors, confirming their independence.
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. The Board meets at least four times a year, to review the
financial performance of the Company, any major agenda
and other matters requiring decision of the Board. The
attendance of directors in meetings held in 2009 is

detailed as follows:

H R e

Name of Director Attendance
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GNERERL 2K ©
FISLHE B S

Executive Director

Song Lin (resigned on 18 Jun 2009) 1/2
Wang Yin 4/4

Wu Xiangdong (appointed on 18 Jun 2009) 1/27

Non- Executive Director

Jiang Wei 1/4
Yan Biao 3/4
Liu Yan Jie 2/4
Li Fuzuo 4/4
Du Wenmin 4/4
Ding Jiemin 1/4

Independent Non- Executive Director

Wang Shi 1/4
Wan Kam To, Peter (appointed on 3 Mar 2009) 3/3™
Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 3/4
Andrew Y.Yan 4/4

Note: * Before the date of resignation, there were two

board meetings.

* After the date of appointment, there were two

board meetings.

**+ After the date of appointment, there were three

board meetings.
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. All directors have access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary, who is responsible for ensuring that

Board procedures are complied with;

. Minutes of meetings of the Board and Board Committees
are kept by a designated secretary and are available for
the inspection of directors upon notice of a reasonable

period;

. The Board has established a policy for directors to
seek professional advice, whereby directors may seek
independent professional advice after appropriate

procedures at the Company’s expense;

. If a substantial shareholder or director has a conflict
of interest in a material matter in respect of matters
to the consideration of the Board, such matter shall
not be considered by means of document circulation.
Independent non-executive directors who have no
significant interests in the transaction shall attend the

relevant Board meeting.

Deviation: None.

A.2 Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Issuer should separate its operating management into two
major aspects: management of the Board and day-to-day
management of the issuers’ business. On the Board level, the
two aspects must be clearly distinguished to ensure a balance

allocation of power and authority.

The posts of Chairman and Managing Director of the Company
are held separately by Mr. Wang Yin and Mr. Wu Xiangdong
respectively. The segregation of duties of the Chairman and the
Managing Director ensures a clear distinction in the Chairman’s
responsibility to manage the Board and the Managing
Director’s responsibility to manage the Company’s day to day

business.

Deviation: None.
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A.3 Board Composition

The board should have a balance of skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the issuer,
and should ensure that any change in composition shall
not cause any undue disruption. The Board should have a
balanced composition of executive and non-executive directors
(including independent non- executive directors) to ensure
the adequate independence of the board so that independent
judgment can effectively be exercised. There should be a
sufficient number of non-executive directors with appropriate
skills to reach influential advice.

. Members of the Board and their detailed biographies are
set out on pages 36 to 40. All corporate correspondence
which sets out names of directors clearly state the
identity of each director, including executive director,
non-executive director and independent non- executive
directors.

Deviation: None.

A.4 Appointments, Re-election and Removal

The Board should formulate formal, considered and transparent
procedures for the appointment of new directors, and establish
orderly plans for the succession of directors. All directors
should be re-elected regularly and issuer should state reasons
for any resignation or removal of directors.

. The Board has set up a Nomination Committee with
specific written terms of reference. It duties included
those required under Code Provision A.4.5(a) to (d).

o As at 31 December 2009, Members of Nomination
Committee include three independent non-executive
directors namely, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Andrew
Y.Yan, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, and Mr. Wang Yin (Chairman).
The duties of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition of the
Board and to make recommendation after such review
and to assess the suitability and qualification of any
proposed director candidate. The recommendations of
the Nomination Committee are then put forward for
consideration and adoption, when appropriate, by the
Board.

BRI
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On 3 March 2009, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter was
recommended by the Nomination Committee through
a written resolution to the board and was appointed by
the board as independent non-executive director of the
Company. In the meantime, Mr. Wan was also appointed
as Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company,
member of the Nomination Committee of the Company,
and member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company with effect from 3 March 2009. The Nomination
Committee had reviewed and evaluated Mr. Wan’s
qualifications and experience before recommendation.
The detailed biography of Mr. Wan is set out on page 39.

With effect from 18 June 2009, Mr. Song Lin resigned as
the Chairman of the Board, Executive Director and the
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company
in order to concentrate on other businesses of China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited. Mr. WANG
Yin was appointed as the Chairman of the Board and
Chairman of the Nomination Committee of the Company

on the same date.

On 18 June 2009, Mr. Wu Xiangdong was recommended
by the Nomination Committee through a written
resolution to the board and was appointed by the board
as Managing Director of the Company. The Nomination
Committee had reviewed and evaluated Mr. Wu’s
qualifications and experience before recommendation.

The detailed biography of Mr. Wu is set out on page 30.

On 8 March 2010, Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang was
recommended by the Nomination Committee through
a written resolution to the board and was appointed by
the board as independent non-executive director of the
Company. In the meantime, Mr. Ma was also appointed
as member of the Audit Committee of the Company,
member of Nomination Committee of the Company,
and member of the Remuneration Committee of the
Company with effect from 8 March 2010. The Nomination
Committee had reviewed and evaluated Mr. Ma’s
qualifications and experience before recommendation.

The detailed biography of Mr. Ma is set out on page 40.
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. The experience and views of independent non-executive
directors are held in high regard. The Company has
appointed 5 independent non-executive directors,
exceeding the minimum requirements under the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three
independent non-executive directors. The detailed

biographies are set out on pages 38 to 40.

Deviation:  Except independent non-executive director Mr.
Andrew Y. Yan has been appointed for fixed
term of three years, all directors of the Company
(including executive and non-executive directors)
are not appointed for a fixed period, but the
articles of the Company stipulate that every
director (including executive and non-executive
directors) retires and be re-elected at least once
every three years. Therefore, the Company
has adopted adequate measures to ensure the
corporate governance of the Company complies

with the same level to that required under the

Code.
ASHEBFHE A.5 Responsibilities of Directors
G FESHENE THESRRE > UL All directors are required to keep abreast of their
%éﬁ‘k[ﬂ’\]?ﬁ%ﬁiﬁ N %?%(ﬁ@j ° E‘ﬂﬁ/{\ responsibilities as a director and of the conduct, business
FEREANY R AL > FEFAT activities and development of that issuer. Since the Board is
EHEPITEREBAAERENLIESG K an overall group in substance, non-executive and executive
SEHRE M R TEN BT - directors should equally be required to act in a cautious and
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skillful manner.

. Every newly appointed director shall receive
a comprehensive and formal induction on the
responsibilities of directors and to ensure that the
directors understand their duties;

. Non-executive directors of the Company are equipped
with adequate experience and skills to fully participate
in the Board to perform the functions under Code
Provisions A.5.2(a) to (d);

. Every director shall acknowledge that sufficient time

should be contributed to the affairs of the Companys;
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. The Company has adopted the “Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers”
as set out in Appendix10 of the Listing Rules (“Model
Code”) as the code of best practices for the securities
transactions by directors of the Company. After specific
enquiries by the Company, all directors confirm that they
have complied with the Model Code throughout the year
under review. The Company has also formulated a code
of conduct for the securities transactions by relevant
officers to govern the securities transactions of officers
who come into contact with price-sensitive information
due to their office.

Deviation: None.

A.6 Supply of and Access to Information
Directors should be provided in a timely manner with
appropriate information so as to enable them to make
an informed decision and to discharge their duties and
responsibilities as a director.

. Documents of meetings are generally sent to members
of the Board or Board Committees three days before the
meetings the Board or Board Committee.

Deviation: None.

B.1 Remuneration of Directors and Senior
Management
Issuer shall establish a formal and transparent procedure
for setting policies for fixing the remuneration packages of
directors. No director shall be involved in deciding his own
remuneration.

. The Company has set up a Remuneration Committee
with specific written terms of reference. Its duties include
those required under Code Provisions B.1.3(a) to ().

. As at 31 December 2009, a majority of the members
of the Remuneration Committee of the Company are
independent non-executive directors. Mr. Andrew Y.Yan
is the Chairman and other members include Mr. Ho Hin
Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter and Mr. Wang Yin.



TEREBENEFTNZ BB e Attendance of members of the Remuneration Committee at
HFWA meetings held in 2009 is detailed as follows:

FHRZ Name of Director TR

Attendance

£ Ep Wang Yin 0/1
(EEE=1 Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 1/1
FERIE Wan Kam To, Peter 1/1
B #% Andrew Y Yan 1/1
[\ AR FE A 3N E B &R T A During the year under review, the Remuneration Committee
i B R T AL T S N A reviewed the incentive mechanism of the Company and
N E W FE - approved remuneration of members of the board and senior
management.
fm I - % Deviation: None.
C.1 %R C.1 Accountability and Audit
A ST VML AL R T ARY The Board should present a balanced, clear and
R~ EW LR 5 o comprehensible assessment of the issuer’s performance, state

of affairs and prospects.

e HFHATEEBARNGMBEHRE . The directors are responsible for the supervision of the
HAmE s [FiZ GEM BTN i preparation of the financial statements of the Company,
Il NI OR <E = RS to ensure that the financial statements give a true and
IR o MR R E B E AR fair view of the operating and financial status of the
+-A=+—H 8B HRE Company. In the preparation of the financial statements as
R - AN A o g5 2 W B at 31 December 2009, the directors of the Company have
THEEN SR - FH T5% selected and applied appropriate accounting policies
TE A B 2B A 5t Ak T and have made cautious and reasonable judgments and
PR RSy R estimates based on the principle of going concern;

o AT EEZNFE S BEAERLE . In 2009, audit fees were approximately HK$1,510,000
1,510,000‘{‘% IC > F M JE %E‘H‘E and there was no fees for non-audit related services;
BB 2

“ BB FEAER
e S ARSI 51
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. The statement of responsibilities expressed by the auditor
of the Company is set out in the Independent Auditor’s

Report on page 81.

Deviation: None.

C.2 Internal Controls

The Board should maintain a sound and effective internal
controls system to safeguard the shareholders’ investment and

the issuer’s assets.

The Board is responsible for the internal control system of the
Company and conduct regular review on the effectiveness of
the internal control system of the Company. During the year
under review, the Board believes the current internal control
system has been further improved and is sound and effective
to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the issuer’s

assets.

Deviation: None.

C.3 Audit Committee

. As at 31 December 2009, all members of the Audit
Committee of the Company are independent non-
executive directors, including Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter
(Chairman), Mr. Wang Shi, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, and
Mr. Andrew Y.Yan, while Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter holds

accounting-related professional qualifications;

. Current terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the
Company include the duties set out in Code Provisions
C.3.3(a) to (1);

During the year under review, the Audit Committee held two
meetings to review the financial statements of the Company
and discussed with the external auditor the impacts of
the changes in accounting policies on the Company, the
application of accounting standards and of the Listing Rules
etc. and made recommendations thereof, as well as advising
the management on the enhancement of the level of corporate

governance of the Company on an on- going basis;
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o HEHFERHILNT

EREH

Attendance of members of the Audit Committee at meetings

held in 2009 is detailed as follows:

Name of director o Ve

Attendance

T
TSR
£ A

3

« HEMZ AW @GRk E R
FIRAE > MR IE T A H

E o
e ae -

D.1 5 ¥IhRE
BT AEN S R QR EN S
YEL - I RE T e 6 7% U ) 5 T A
H 3 S G -

o G TR R AT AES
GLEE SRR I E S 5y
ool R PR L E O
AT ~ B B R > I
E RO JE e 2 ) O B R
Ko DR 2w O B AR A E
Bl oo B4 - EHEG I A B R
N RIS B AR SR KT o

Wan Kam To, Peter 2/2
Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco 2/2
Wang Shi 0/2
Andrew Y Yan 1/2

. Minutes of the meetings of the Audit Committee are kept

by a designated secretary and sent to all members of the
Board.

Deviation: None.

D.1Delegation by the Board

An issuer should have a formal schedule of matters reserved
to the board for its decision and should give clear directions to
management as to the matters that must be approved by the
Board.

. The Board is responsible for the formulation of strategies,
objectives and business plans for the Company, and to
supervise and control the implementation of strategies
of the Company and its operations and financial
performance, and formulation of appropriate risk control
policies and procedures to ensure the achievement of the
Company’s strategic objectives. In addition, the Board
is also responsible for maintaining a high standard of

corporate governance of Company.
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. The Board delegates the duties of the implementation of
strategies and the decision-making of daily operations
to the Managing Director. The Management regularly
meets to review the strategic goals, corporate structure,
operating procedures, budget implementation, major

projects and business plans of the Company.

Deviation: None.

E.1 Effective Communication
The Board should endeavor to maintain an on-going dialogue
with shareholders and in particular, use annual general

meetings to communicate with shareholders.

. The Company enhances the communication with
Shareholders by means of publication of interim and
annual results report and press release and timely

publication of information on the Company’s website.

. The Chairman of the board should attend the annual
general meeting. All general meetings where approvals
for connected transactions were being sought for had
been attended by independent non-executive directors to

address queries from shareholders.

. The Company also promotes the communication
with shareholders through various investor relation
activities to provide shareholders with more channels to
understand the strategies and the latest development of

the Company.

During the year under review, the Company participated in
roadshows in Hong Kong, Singapore, Dubai, London, New
York City and Tokyo organized by various investment banks,
covering issues on the results announcement and significant
acquisitions and presented to the investors operating results,
development strategies and latest business updates of the

Company.
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At the same time, the Company participated in various
investment conferences held in Shanghai, Beijing, Shenzhen,
Hong Kong, Singapore and frequently met on an one-on-one
basis with fund managers and investors in Hong Kong and
overseas, as well as arranged on-site visits to the Company’s
properties to actively create opportunities for communication
with the investors, so as to enable them to timely understand
the latest business development of the Company and the
industry environment of the real estate business of China to

enhance their understanding and confidence to the Company.

Looking ahead, we will continue to improve and perfect the
communication with investors and to provide them with more
opportunities to understand the business of the Company as
well as to enable the management of the Company to have
a better understanding of the requirements of the market on
the Company, with an aim to continue to enhance the internal

management, profitability and governance of the Company.

Deviation: Due to business trip, Mr. Song Lin, the then
Chairman of the board did not attend the annual

general meeting held on 3 June 2009.

E.2 Voting by Poll

The issuer should ensure that shareholders are familiar with

the detailed procedures for conducting a poll.
At the annual general meeting held on 3 June 2009, the
Chairman of the meeting had explained to the shareholders the

detailed procedures for conducting a poll.

Deviation: None.
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The directors have pleasure in submitting to shareholders their report
and audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2009.

Principal Activities

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
activities of its principal subsidiaries and associates are shown on
pages 162 to 175.

The segment information of the Group is set out in note 7 to the

financial statements.

Group Profit

The Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income set out on
page 83 shows the Group’s profit for the year ended 31 December
2009.

Dividends

The Board of Directors recommend the declaration of a final
dividend of HK18.3 cents (2008: HK8.3 cents) per share, together
with the interim dividend of HK5.4 cents per share, dividends per
share for the year amounting to HK23.7 cents. The final dividend is
payable on 2 July 2010 to shareholders whose names appear on the

Register of Members of the Company on 1 June 2010.

Property, Plan and Equipment
Movements in property, plant and equipment during the year are set

out in note 16 to the financial statements.

Properties
Schedule of the principal properties of the Group is set out on pages
3 to 17.

Share Capital
Movements in share capital during the year are set out in note 34 to

the financial statements.
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Distributable Reserves at the Company

The Company’s reserves available for distribution represent the
share premium and retained profits. Under the Companies Law
(Revised) Chapter 22 of the Cayman Islands, the share premium
of the Company is available for paying distributions or dividends
to shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum and
Articles of Association and provided that immediately following the
distribution or dividend, the Company is able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. Reserves of the Company
available for distribution to shareholders as at 31 December 2009
amounted to HK$26,805,370,000 (2008: HK$22,594,081,000).

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and at the date of this

report are:

Chairman

Mr. Wang Yin (appointed as Chairman on 18 June 2009)
Mr. Song Lin (resigned on 18 June 2009)

Managing Director
Mr. Wu Xiangdong (appointed on 18 June 2009)

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Jiang Wei
Mr. Yan Biao
Mr. Liu Yan Jie
(resigned on 20 January 2010)
Mr. Li Fuzuo
Mr. Du Wenmin

Mr. Ding Jiemin
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Wang Shi

Mr. Andrew Y. Yan

Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco

Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter (Appointed on 3 March 2009)

Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang (Appointed on 8 March 2010)
Mr. Chan Mo Po, Paul (Resigned on 1 January 2009)

According to Articles 99 and 116 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. Wu Xiangdong, Mr. Jiang Wei, Mr. Li Fuzuo, Mr. Du
Wenmin, Mr. Wang Shi and Mr. Frederick Ma Si Hang shall retire
and are eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

The Company has received the annual confirmation of independence
from all the independent non-executive directors, and considers that
all the independent non-executive directors are independent of the

Company.

Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management
Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set

out on pages 306 to 41.

Share Option Schemes

The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of
promoting additional commitment and dedication to the objective
of the Company by the participants. During the year under review,
the Company operates two share option schemes, namely the “New
Scheme” and the “Old Scheme”.
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The Old Scheme refers to the share option scheme which subsisted
until 31 January 2002 and was terminated on 31 January 2002.
Eligible participants of the Old Scheme were the employees of the
Company and its subsidiaries (including the directors). The maximum
entitlement of each participant did not exceed the maximum limit
as permitted by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) applicable
before 1 September 2001. The exercise prices of the share options
were determined at the entire discretion of the Board of Directors,
but did not exceed the maximum discount permitted by the Listing

Rules applicable prior to 1 September 2001.

The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme which
was approved by the shareholders in the extraordinary general
meeting held on 31 January 2002 and shall expire on 31 January
2012. The Board of Directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible participants including employees, executive or non-
executive directors of the Group (or any proposed candidates),
any discretionary object of a discretionary trust established by any
employee, executive or non-executive director of the Group, any
executive or employee (or any proposed candidates) of consultants,
professional and other advisors to the Group, chief executive,
substantial shareholders of the Company, associated companies of
the Group, associates of directors, chief executive and substantial
shareholders of the Company, and employees of substantial
shareholders. The maximum entitlement of each participant
(including options to be granted to the directors, chief executive
or substantial shareholders or any of their respective associates) is
equal to the maximum limit permitted under the prevailing Listing
Rules. The exercise prices of the share options are determined

pursuant to the provision of prevailing Listing Rules.

At the annual general meeting held on 23 May 2006, shareholders
approved the ordinary resolution to refresh the mandate limit of
the New Scheme, whereby further share options can be granted to

subscribe up to 313,138,369 shares.
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As at the date of this report, the number of shares available for issue
under the New Scheme is 320,560,869 shares and represents 6.37%

of the issued share capital of the Company.

The offer of a grant of share options under both schemes may be
accepted within 28 days from the date of the offer upon the payment

of a nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee.

Share options disclosed below and granted on or after 31 January
2002 were issued under the New Scheme while the remaining
options were under the Old Scheme. Share options granted under
the Old Scheme are exercisable before 27 May 2007, and those under
the New Scheme are exercisable for a period of ten years from the
date of grant. Certain share options are fully vested or exercisable
within ten years from the date of grant while part of them are vested

within four years after the date of grant.

Save as disclosed below, no other share options has been granted,
exercised, lapsed in accordance with the terms of the relevant share
option scheme during the year in relation to each of the directors,
chief executive, substantial shareholders of the Company or their

respective associates and employees of substantial shareholders.
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Date of  Exercise
Name Capacity grant price

(a) Directors
As at 31 December 2009, the following directors had interests
in respect of options to subscribe for shares under both New

and Old Schemes of the Company:

ARATB ke
M
Price of
IRt B H o Company’s share
Number of share option (HK$)
20094 20094
IIH RAREE  RAEE  RAEE RARER 12A310 CREBE SR
WAL i (i [z %k WAL i e
Option  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Expired Option
outstanding during the during the during the duringthe outstanding Option Option
at 1/1/2009 year year year year at 31/12/2009 granted  exercised

Bl FREAA 1/6/2005 123
Liu Yan Jie Beneficial Owner
ARk FEREAA 1/6/2005 123
Li Fuzuo Beneficial Owner
R BEREAA 1/6/2005 123
Du Wenmin Beneficial Owner

Mt

Lo ety WIRERCH 4B B I RER S 2 AR
AR A

2. ERCAT R U RERT e B 2 A A R
TR fEAs T A ety BAREAT 66 H 3 A —
1858 5 F A5 17 W 52 e o e g ol 4 2
IHET-$ 8 -

250,000 = - = = 250,000 - -
250,000 - 250,000 = = - = 1690
250,000 = - = = 250,000 - -
Notes:
1. Number of share options refers to the number of underlying
shares in the Company covered by the share options.
2. The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the options

exercised during the year is the weighted average of the
closing prices quoted on the Stock Exchange immediately

before the date of exercise of options.
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Option

Exercise  outstanding

Date of Grant price at 1/1/2009

(b) Employees and other participants

Details of share options granted to the employees (other than

directors) of the Group and other participants by the Company

are set out below:

(i)  Employees (Other than directors)

em %A

4]

Number of share option

N
il
Granted
during the
year

AR R R
o
Price of

Company’s share
(HKS$)

2000/
AR TRAAERE TRAAEE 121311 gl BTl
fifki i K% WA et 51 et 51
Exercised Cancelled Expired Option
during the  during the  during the  outstanding Option Option
year year year at 31/12/2009 granted exercised

7/10/2002 0.96 1,180,000
28/4/2004 1.04 2,440,000
29/4/2005 1.42 4,032,500
2/6/2005 127 150,000
27/6/2005 1.34 200,000
3/1/2006 3.225 17,725,000
17/2/2006 3965 1,625,000
26/6/2000 358 2,850,000

Lo Oy IIHES R O I RE &
ARG AR B A <

2. EREAT A AR S R P 2 AR
N E AR AR o 2 B W
AT F W — A 52 55 B B AR
T 58 T P S MR T {22 T e~ £
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530,000
975,000
2,495,000
150,000
200,000
7,190,000
625,000
1,000,000

Notes:

- - 650,000 - 1262
- - 1,465,000 - 1477
- - 2,137,500 - 15.94
- = = = 1658
- - - - 16.58
= - 10,535,000 - 1252
- - 1,000,000 = 9.54
- - 1,850,000 - 1337

Number of share options refers to the number of
underlying shares in the Company covered by the

share options.

The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the
options exercised during the year is the weighted
average of the closing prices quoted on the Stock
Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of

options.
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Date of grant

4/3/2002 159 1,950,000 ~ 250,000 - - 1,700,000 - 14.16
1/6/2005 1.23 2,525,000% - 1,000,000 - - 1,525,000 - 15.73
* A5 B T BT E * Including renumbering due to the resignation and

By o appointment of directors.
M - Notes:
1. O WIRERCE F8 O WTRE VS K 1. Number of share options refers to the number of
AN FIAH B LA o underlying shares in the Company covered by the
share options.
2. SR AT 1 B A9 03 oy o % 2 AR 2. The price for the Company’s share disclosed for the

T ARG o T A B SR
T8 H AT — 52 5 H BB
gt 58 ST Sk A T B 2 RS- 3

# o

(ii)  Other participants

B G 91 o
Number of share option
20094 20094
VITH  RAEE AR RAREE AR 12H31H
A A AT i itk i R HARFTHE

Option  Granted Exercised Cancelled  Expired Option
Exercise outstanding during the during the duringthe during the outstanding at
price at 1/1/2009 year year year year 31/12/2009

options.

AN R R
i
Price of
Company’s share
(HK$)
[RES4 oATHE
JetimE I
Wikt i

Option Option
granted exercised

options exercised during the year is the weighted
average of the closing prices quoted on the Stock

Exchange immediately before the date of exercise of
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Long position/

Name Short position

Number of

Directors’ Interest in Securities

As at 31 December 2009, the interests and short positions of
the directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which have been notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including interests and short positions which the
directors and chief executive of the Company are taken or deemed
to have under such provisions of the SFO, or which are required
to be recorded in the register maintained pursuant to section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise required to be notified to Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (the “Model Code”)

contained in the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of the

Company:
B SR
ety E BB EO Sh Bl
Number of Approximate

underlying percentage of

shares shares ® Capacity interest @

O LD
Wang Yin Long position
ELE wa
Wu Xiangdong Long position
& 351
Jiang Wei Long position
B L3521
Yan Biao Long position
BN LIo5]
Liu Yan Jie Long position
ZAEAE R
Li Fuzuo Long position
A SCR L3521

Du Wenmin

BRIV
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Long position

4,230,000 - HmfrA A 0.084
Beneficial owner

1,629,000 - HGFFAA 0.032
Beneficial owner

892,000 - EmirAA 0.018
Beneficial owner

1,992,000 - EHHFFAEA 0.040
Beneficial owner

550,000 250,000 E#iEfA A 0.016
Beneficial owner

1,000,000 - EmirAA 0.020
Beneficial owner

790,000 250,000 EAFEA A 0.021

Beneficial owner



Mt

(D

2

& 30T et R st ) | — et C 4%
H R 03 ST RE B 95 % 09 AR 4 ) A B A
1 WA SRR R o e JF LT U
Py AT A T A -

TR U7 BT B9 A 2% w47y A Bl 1B
BHBOR —FFNFEF—H=1+—H
AR A O BT RAEE 2 I -

(&) WAL FIAR B B — S BRI SE A BR 2
A ([ HER A ) O34T 5 7 i S AR

Je iy b AT R £
w4 W WA
Long position/
Name Short position

Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of the Company covered by
share options granted as detailed above under the section
headed “Share Option Schemes”, such options being unlisted

physically settled equity derivatives.

(2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long positions
in shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
issued share capital of the Company as at 31 December
2009.

(b) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Enterprise, Limited (“CRE”) , an associated

corporation of the Company:

JeprsH MR EEO AR e

Number of Approximate
underlying percentage
Number of shares shares ® of interest @

E A "R
Wang Yin Long position
oA "R
Jiang Wei Long position
B 552}
Yan Biao Long position
FESCER 352}
Du Wenmin Long position
Wit -
(D FEMRER AR A SET By WHE ] |4

2

kBB A73 SRR 4 o ) A SR A ] B
1> R%AF IO WIRE I A JF 1Tl LU
Py AT A T A -

TEAF 7 BT 5 B ) 22 R 8 S B 3 B AR T
ety o —FFIAEF A=+
FI A 32 T8 1 2 2 BT A S B T 2
AN

20,000 — 0.001
240,000 = 0.010
500,000 = 0.021
100,000 = 0.004

Notes:

(1) This refers to underlying shares of CRE, covered by share
option granted under the Share Option Scheme of CRE, such
option being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives.

(2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
positions in shares and underlying shares of CRE to the total
issued share capital of the CRE as at 31 December 2009.
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(V) AN AR B B — e PR SR s e (o) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

B2 &) (T HEE R ) (T 7 3 S Jh 3 China Resources Gas Group Limited (“CR Gas”, previously
AR T)) B 3473898 % S 4 B8 ik 45y known as China Resources Logic Limited), an associated
FHEEG RS corporation of the Company:
244 wa wa Ry H  MBEBGEEO SRR E e
Number of Approximate
Long position/ underlying percentage
Name Short position Number of shares shares ® of interest @

T B 351 30,000 - 0.002
Wang Yin Long position
Sefi R LIDE) 45,000 - 0.003
Wu Xiangdong Long position
TR LIDE 51,000 - 0.004
Li Fuzuo Long position
FESCR e 54,000 - 0.004
Du Wenmin Long position
Mt - Notes:
(D FRARR A E RS IO IRES T 8 ) %2 (1)  This refers to underlying shares of CR Gas covered by share
HH AR B RE T 5 K 11 3 TR M S I option granted under the Share Option Scheme of the CR
By o WZAE AR SRR B IF BT LA Gas, such option being unlisted physically settled equity
WA AT TR o derivatives.
) BIPRS00 B A A (2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
ey BB — B ZJUE T H =+ — positions in shares and underlying shares of CR Gas to the
FARSE A SR O AT IRA SR B 1 40 total issued share capital of the CR Gas as at 31 December
I o 20009.

66 SRR AR
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(1) JAAZS mIARNS i ) — 3 o6 D A
PR R (FEE T TT) B #4783 B A
I e 3 v AT O i -

o R

Long position/

Name Short position

(d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CR

Power”), an associated corporation of the Company:

Number

ety H MBI E SRR e

Number of Approximate
underlying percentage
of shares shares ® of interest @

£ B LD
Wang Yin Long position
# R "R
Jiang Wei Long position
M L5y
Yan Biao Long position
Blaters 351
Liu Yan Jie Long position
ZFEAEAE wE
Li Fuzuo Long position
HICR 3521
Du Wenmin Long position

Wit -

(D AEREERE N TR RT3
H P07 0T REE P 9 T ) 2 7 2 T A R i
> %S Iy W HE R A 9 1T LS
WA AT A T A o

) AR E I K i HE R T R B AR B

AR RO —F I A=t —
F Ak 3 8 78 ) 2 B AT A S0 B T 4y
A

Notes:

Y]

2

- 427,560 0.009
840,000 570,080 0.030
- 570,080 0.012
120,000 234,140 0.008
528,000 274,860 0.017
297,000 183,240 0.010

This refers to underlying shares of CR Power covered by
share options granted under the Share Option Scheme of CR
Power, such option being unlisted physically settled equity

derivatives.

This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
positions in shares and underlying shares of CR Power to the
total issued share capital of the CR Power as at 31 December
2009.
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(B0 A2 F AR B — = RO A PR
28] (GEEBET) B #A7 8E@ BA

B A b AT O AR
w4 LS Rl V<
Long position/
Name Short position

(e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying
shares of China Resources Microelectronics Limited (“CR

Microelectronics”), an associated corporation of the Company:

ety H BB EE SRR e

Number of Approximate
underlying percentage
Number of shares shares ® of interest @

£ B LD
Wang Yin Long position
Sl R "R
Wu Xiangdong Long position
R b
Jiang Wei Long position
Blaters 351
Liu Yan Jie Long position
ZFEAEAE wE
Li Fuzuo Long position
HICR 3521
Du Wenmin Long position
Wit -

(D AEREERBTE TR HER # 2
P B AR SO HE T 5 T ) 3 TR PR 1 A
BRBC Oy > %5 B MR JE I 9 bl
UM S AT E T, -

(2 ARERE P KRR ROE TR &
A BA O M BOR —FRIUET A
=t RS EEREME T LB TR
BT -

BRI
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540,000 - 0.006
1,215,000 - 0.014
537,614 - 0.006
10,810 - 0.0001
918,000 - 0.010
1,458,000 - 0.017

Notes:

(1)  This refers to underlying shares of CR Microelectronics
covered by share options granted under the Share Option
Scheme of CR Microelectronics, such option being unlisted

physically settled equity derivatives.

(2) This represents the percentage of the aggregate long
positions in shares and underlying shares of CR
Microelectronics to the total issued share capital of the CR

Microelectronics as at 31 December 2009.



PR B 2 1 % ) P A 2

] Ho> 5 T o 2 2 A AR A o T (i 28
S5 BB ARM)) 14 B3 39 M - ) e
52t AT R0y 2 B A7 JU1 R v B A
it %A 0 S RE R B8 S IF T A A
WA AR AE T

(FF ) AR — [ AR ok B — == ¥ 7 By 40
REFTR T2 B0 0y I HE

i gy

Name Capacity

Interests in Underlying Shares of
Associated Corporation

As at the same date, certain directors had interests in options
to subscribe shares granted under the share option schemes of
associated corporations (within the meaning of SFO) , such options

being unlisted physically settled equity derivatives:

(a) Options outstanding under the share option schemes of an

associated corporation, CR Power:

20094

AR 12/i31H

Option

Exercise Price outstanding at

Date of grant (HK$) 31/12/2009

+ E HamEA A
Wang Yin Beneficial owner
o fE HafEAa A
Jiang Wei Beneficial owner
G HadEAa A
Yan Biao Beneficial owner
BN HamEa A
Liu Yan Jie Beneficial owner
ZAEAE Haa A
Li Fuzuo Beneficial owner
MR HafEA A
Du Wenmin Beneficial owner

12/11/2003® 2.75 122,160
18/3/2005 3.919 305,400
12/11/2003® 2.75 203,600
18/3/2005?@ 3.919 366,480
12/11/2003® 2.75 244,320
18/3/2005%® 3.919 325,760
12/11/2003® 2.75 50,900
18/3/2005?® 3.919 183,240
12/11/2003® 2.75 91,620
18/3/2005 3.919 183,240
12/11/2003® 2.75 183,240

BB AR AR
BRJUEIEAR 69
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(D B IRER] 4> TATRE > B 120% -
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fifi

(2 M IRER] 4> FATRE > B I20% -

A ETNE s BT LFE - 2 F

TN~ ZERBBIIF R R R

A+ ABE -Z—-HLFE=H+tHEMH

HEFRES

(3) AR R AR B B 1.00
WG -

R ek A7 A2 il - 38

TR A S T 5 O OF B B8 > A8
AR R/ UERA = HCRA
501 1) 9 k4R 40 L A 1 9 D

([ 3E i wtE 1) W:’%ﬁﬁb&?ﬁ%’él o BRIFAL
EHGRER L - FHRZER A

PRAA H%ﬁﬁ_ﬂ“ﬁﬁq’ﬁxﬁl RyZLEHH > 2
RE AR T 8 b AAR SR M 42 i 22 Bl A
REAGAN F R4 BB C 8 AT AR 1 70
Z B BB o 0 DAE REE U
BACHUER B A - B 2SR hrkaZst
) 2 AVl A I A S R B2 I o

BE_ZEZZNETHA=1T—H > ZitA
BT E L AEARE (BB i
%5196,735,600.52 70 1§ A 23,958,000 A< A
R WA R R A B B 8 T AR
0.5937% o EAAE IS FIEE H o 5%
et —HLME IR Z it AR -

CRBIUAE AR
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Notes:

(1) Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 6
October 2004, 2005, 2006, 2007 and 2008 to 5 October 2013.

(2) Options are exercisable in 5 tranches of 20% each, from 18
March 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 to 17 March 2015.

(3) Consideration for each of the grants mentioned above is
HK$1.00.

Restricted Share Award

Scheme is an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for
the continual operation and development of the Group, the Board of
the Company resolved to adopt the Restricted Share Award Scheme
(the “Scheme”) on 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”). Unless
sooner terminated by the Board of Directors, the Scheme shall be
effective from the Adoption Date and shall continue in full force
and effect for a term of 10 years. According to the Scheme, shares
up to 2.5% of the issued share capital of the Company as at the
Adoption Date will be purchased by the Trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for the
relevant selected employees until such shares are vested with the
relevant selected employees in accordance with the provisions of the

Scheme.

Up to 31 December 2009, the Company had through Trustee
purchased 23,958,000 shares, representing 0.5937% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date, from the
market at an aggregate consideration of HK$196,735,600.52 (including
transaction costs). As of the date of this report, the purchased shares

have been held in trust by the Trustee.
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Purchase, Sale or Redemption of Listed
Securities

Save as disclosed above under “Restricted Share Award Scheme”,
neither the Company nor its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s list securities during the year ended
31 December 2009.

Directors’ Service Contracts

As at 31 December 2009, none of the Directors has any service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
terminable by the employing company within one year without

payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contracts of significance to which the Company or its subsidiaries
were a party and in which any director of the Company had a
material interest, either directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of

the year or at any time during the year.
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A 78 HH R BE 2R A IR Shareholders with Notifiable Interests

BE_EZEZNFE+_H=+—H > I'FA As at 31 December 2009, the following persons (not being a Director
d (AR R H#E 3 BT AR AR PR A1) A AR A ] or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions
0] B A5y | %ﬁﬂﬁfﬁ¢%ﬁ*ﬁﬂ§<ﬁ§# &Eﬂ in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would
B AT ) B XV 27 2 12 55 39 43 KR 2 1) AR fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of Division
s E) B R BR0 Bk A R G s S R e 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register
55 33616 1M A A7 1 5w M 9 RE 4 sk A 0 maintained by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO:
T
#20094£12H31H
i By ) A MR
AN F BT
IR Sy eSS 2 (| JREA Y T 43 e

Percentage of the

aggregate long position

in shares to the issued

Nature of Number of share capital of the

Name of shareholder Capacity interest shares Company as at 31/12/2009

Gain Ahead Group Limited ~E# A A At 3,173,401,240 63.09
([ Gain Ahead]) Beneficial owner Beneficial interest

e (EH) AR CRELIVNTIL £ gl £ 3,173,401,240 63.09
(e o Controlled company’s interest Corporation interest

China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited (“CRH")

CRC Bluesky Limited YR A vl R £ NGl & 3,173,401,240 63.09
(I Bluesky |)® Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporation interest

HERMAA R A e FHE AR il to 3,173,401,240 63.09
(TEER/ B )@ Controlled company’s interest Corporation interest

China Resources Co., Limited
(“CRC”) [69)

Gk YN ZEl 2w e AR 3,173,401,240 63.09
(MBI o Controlled company’s interest ~ Corporation interest

China Resources National
Corporation (“CRNC”) ®

JP Morgan Chase & Co.2 () EHm#EA A () Effd 353,464,189 7.03
Beneficial owner Beneficial interest (i) 6,688,633
() BB (i) HAtofE s (ii) 248,648,000
Investment manager Other interest (iii) 98,127,556
Giii) PREAN—EE (i) A
el A3 Other interest

Custodian corporation/

approved lending agent

7y | cEEERER
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(1) Gain Ahead B #2 5 4 2\ 7 3,173,401,240
J& - AL M 5 Gain Ahead Z ME— A
Wﬁ%ir’iﬁ%%BlueskyE"Ji\gwgﬁﬂ ’
Bluesky f& # B A (1) 2 B W& 2~ 7 - i #E
T B 153 99.98% 1Y) HE 4t 2 ey v [ 2 R B A -
Bt > HEBLEE ~ Bluesky ~ A - H
IR 2 P 24 AL B T N F 3,173,401, 2408
BriohEs -

(2 AREER SR MR BRI X VAR R =0
B E 1) A2 ) B i 1 ERHEDR - BRI A
HJP Morgan Chase & Co.LA Nl 7 X F5h
HOYEEAh > 525 i TP Morgan Chase &
Co. Fe . B 1 o P He A 10006 728 T A 2 325 )
Fif

HE AT

Name of Corporation

Notes:

(D Gain Ahead directly held 3,173,401,240 shares of the Company,
CRH is the sole shareholder of Gain Ahead. Moreover, CRH is a
100% subsidiary of Bluesky, which is in turn owned as to 100% by
CRC. Limited, which is in turn held as to 99.98% by CRNC. Thus,
CRH, Bluesky, CRC and CRNC are deemed to be interested in an
aggregate of 3,173,401,240 shares in the Company.

(2)  According to the information disclosed to the Company under
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, other than the following
corporation which was held by JP Morgan Chase & Co. in the
manner described below, these shares were held by JP Morgan
Chase & Co. and corporations controlled directly or indirectly as to
100% by it:

JP Morgan Chase & Co.
BRI W A 43 L
Percentage interest

(direct or indirect)

held by JP Morgan Chase & Co.

China International Fund Management Co. Ltd 49%

Br ESCRTHER SN > R —FFILFE T A
=10 BT AL A LR A A
e 473 B AR Bl B 03 m e A AR R Rl o S &
A S XV AR 55 2 B 5 330 o B ZR e A 2
A R PR A NIRRT > BGROBR A AN 24
MRCRE I S B R 1) 28 330 A7 L 10 & il
4 i TR

FFf I8 2 W) % Bk % A )
5 B JE 2 ) WA ) 2w A T A
BI2E BH175H o

Save as aforesaid, as at 31 December 2009, no other person had any
interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provision of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
were recorded in the register kept by the Company under section
336 of the SFO.

Subsidiaries and Associates
Particulars regarding the subsidiaries and associates are set out on

pages 162 to 175.
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Financial Derivative Instruments

During the year of 2008, the Company timely seized the opportunity
of current subdued interest rate level caused by the sub-prime
mortgage crisis outbreak in the United States, and has fixed the
interest costs of a portion of its HK$ loans at relatively low levels by
entering into interest rate swap transactions. The swap transactions
involved HK$3 billion in total, of which HK$1 billion had a swap
period of four years and the rest in a five year period. Due to
decreases in swap rates in the market since our transactions, the
Company recorded a mark-to-market loss for which a provision was
made in full year results in 2008. However, as the market value of
the swap transactions recovered slightly from the end-2008 levels, a
market-to-market profit was thus recorded in the annual results for
20009.

Specific Performance Obligations on
Controlling Shareholder

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$1,000,000,000,
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”) is required
to maintain the control in the Company’s management by directly or
indirectly holding not less than 35% beneficial interest in the share
of the Company. As at 31 December 2009, there was no outstanding
balance under the loan agreement and is fully repayable within five

years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$400,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain the control in the Company’s
management by directly or indirectly holding not less than 35%
beneficial interest in the share of the Company. As at 31 December
2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan agreement

and is fully repayable within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$500,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest
shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not less
than 35% beneficial interest in the shares of the Company, while the
PRC Government's shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As
at 31 December 2009, there was no outstanding balance under the

loan agreement and is fully repayable within five years.
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Pursuant to another loan agreement for the amount of
HK$500,000,000, CRH is required to maintain its status as the
single largest shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly
holding not less than 35% beneficial interest in the shares of the
Company, while the PRC Government’s shareholding in CRH shall
not be less than 50%. As at 31 December 2009, the outstanding
loan owed by the Company under the loan agreement amounted to
HK$350,000,000 and is fully repayable within three years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$2,500,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest
shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not
less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s
shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December
2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan agreement

and is fully repayable within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$2,000,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest
shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not
less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s
shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December
2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan agreement

and is fully repayable within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$3,000,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest
shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not
less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s
shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December
2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan agreement

and is fully repayable within five years.
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Pursuant to two loan agreements for the amount of HK$200,000,000
respectively, CRH is required to maintain its status as the single
largest shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly
holding not less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC
Government’s shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at
31 December 2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan

agreements and is fully repayable within three years.

Pursuant to two loan agreements for the amount of HK$300,000,000
respectively, CRH is required to maintain its status as the single
largest shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly
holding not less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC
Government’s shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at
31 December 2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan

agreements and is fully repayable within three years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$350,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest
shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not
less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s
shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December
2009, there was no outstanding balance under the loan agreement

and is fully repayable within four years.

Pursuant to another loan agreement for the amount of
HK$500,000,000, CRH is required to maintain its status as the
single largest shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly
holding not less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC
Government’s shareholding in the CRH shall not be less than 50%. As
at 31 December 2009, there was no outstanding loan owed by the
Company under the loan agreement amounted to 120,000,000 and is

fully repayable within four years.
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Pursuant to another loan agreement for the amount of
HK$1,000,000,000, CRH is required to maintain its status as the
single largest shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly
holding not less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC
Government’s shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As
at 31 December 2009, the outstanding loan owed by the Company
under the loan agreement amounted to HK$1,000,000,000 and is
fully repayable within five years.

Pursuant to a loan agreement for the amount of HK$2,750,000,000,
CRH is required to maintain its status as the single largest
shareholder of the Company by directly or indirectly holding not
less than 35% shares of the Company, while the PRC Government’s
shareholding in CRH shall not be less than 50%. As at 31 December
2009, the outstanding loan owed by the Company under the loan
agreement amounted to HK$2,410,000,000 and is fully repayable

within five years.

Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions

On 31 July 2009, the Company entered into an agreement with
Central New Investments Limited (“Central New”) to acquire 100%
stake of its wholly-owned subsidiary Day Rejoice Limited (“Day
Rejoice”) . Day Rejoice is an investment holding company and its
principal assets are its indirect 100% interests in the Project Sites
which comprise the Shenyang City Crossing Site, the Shenyang Tiexi
Site, the Beijing ChinaResources Hotel Site and the Fuzhou Hongwan
Site located in the PRC. The Consideration was HK$3,570.0 million,
satisfied by cash. As Central New is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
CRH, and CRH has a 63.09% interest in the Company, the agreement
constituted a discloseable and connected transaction of the Company
pursuant to Listing Rules, and was approved by shareholders at a

general meeting held on 28 August 2009.
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During the year under review, the Company’s wholly-owned
subsidiaries, namely Beijing China Resources Building Co. Ltd.,
China Resources Land (Shanghai) Limited (“CR Shanghai”), China
Resources (Shenzhen) Ltd. (“CR Shengzhen”), and members of CRH
entered into certain contracts in respect of leasing and concessionaire
arrangements, which constituted continuing connected transactions.
At the same time, the Company purchased construction and
decoration business from CRH on 22 June 2007, together with the
furniture business purchased from CRH on 6 June 2008, the services
provided by the construction, decoration and furniture subsidiaries of
the Company to CRH and its subsidiaries also constituted continuing
connected transactions. Pursuant to Rule 14A.37 of the Listing Rules.
independent non- executive directors have reviewed the above
connected transactions and continuing connected transactions and

confirmed that:

1. these transactions were in the Company’s ordinary course of
business;

2. these transactions were entered into on normal commercial
terms;

3. these transactions were carried out in accordance with

respective agreement terms which were fair and reasonable,
and in the interests of the Company and the shareholders as a

whole.

The Company’s auditors Deloitte Touche Thomatsu has provided a
letter to the Company’s Board of Directors confirming that the above

continuing connected transactions:

1.  have received the approval of the Company’s Board of
Directors;

2. are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Company;

3. have been entered into in accordance with the relevant

agreement governing the transactions; and

4. have not exceeded the cap disclosed in previous

announcement(s).
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Model Code Regarding Securities
Transactions by the Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rule as code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the directors. Having made specific enquiry with all
directors, the Company confirmed that all directors has complied
with the required standard set our in the Model Code during the

year under review.

Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the

Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

Major Customers and Suppliers
During the year under review, the Group’s five largest suppliers
and customers together accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s

purchases and sales respectively.

Five Year Financial Summary
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the

Group for the past five financial years is set out on page 186.

Pre-Emptive Rights
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association and there are no restrictions against such

rights under the laws in the Cayman Island.

Audit Committee

The audit committee comprises Mr. Wan Kam To, Peter, Mr. Wang
Shi, Mr. Ho Hin Ngai, Bosco, Mr. Andrew Y. Yan, and Mr. Frederick
Ma Si Hang, all of them being independent non-executive directors
of the Company. The audit committee has reviewed, together
with the management and the Company’s auditors, the accounting
principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed
auditing, internal control and financial reporting matters including

the financial statements for the year.
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Auditors

Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire at the end of
the forthcoming annual general meeting and is eligible for
reappointment.

By order of the Board

Wang Yin

Chairman

26 March 2010, Hong Kong



Mg A% B R

Independent Auditor’s Report

Deloitte.
=g

BB AT R ) 2 BOR
(BREFLN & 22 FI27)

ALTEBEYNE B3 EH £ 185 H # Y
B A PR A (&) K H a2 A
(FfE EEE ) W5 EMBME » WS
BHMERAE -FENFE T+ H =1T—HM®
SEAEPBIR IR » B EZ H 4 47
AWM R - A RARE L LB
SRR > DLRE R G BOR B K A
Bt SR AR o

3 AR G T B R R I Y
HiE

BAAERHAARRETEGAAS
(7 s Bl 2 B ) 0L A ) 0 s B 5
e L) e 7 o 2 WA 14 0 R R A S %
FAV B AR B B R o BT
LA ¢ R B S A B R L
-l B2 A T A B Y A B
AR B R AEAE ph R S
B E R R BRI 5 R4 R TR
FHECR 5 S dZAE DL & A Eratfiliat o

Y A
AATHBAE RARGE S 1 B S AR
IB R SR > WAL TR 1
IR o > BRIL LSS > AR sty Fil 4 A
FEY o AAT A St A o 28 ) A Ho At
At B EBURALM AT - 17T CRER
W A2 B AR A A 7 o R T T
B TAR o 5% 45 W I ZORAAT B~ 48 18 M
& AR KBTI > LA PR E IS
R A i R R 7 N AT ] A S R B
m o

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA RESOURCES LAND LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Land Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 83 to 185
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2009, and the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to
the preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting
policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the

circumstances.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms
of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance as to whether the consolidated financial

statements are free from material misstatement.

SRFRIF AR
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal controls relevant to the Group’s preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal controls. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors of the Company, as well as evaluating the overall

presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2009
and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2010
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For the year ended 31 December 2009

Revenue 6
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties
Gain on changes in fair value of
inventory of properties transferred
to investment properties
Gain (loss) on changes in fair value of
derivative financial instruments
Other income 8
Selling and marketing expenses
General and administration expenses
Share of results of associates
Finance costs 11

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense 12

Profit for the year 13

Other comprehensive income

Exchange differences arising on translation
to presentation currency

Gain (loss) on changes in fair value of
cash flow hedges

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Minority interests

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Minority interests

Earnings per share 15
Basic

Diluted

T T T

HK$°000 HK$°000

(F%1)

(Restated)
16,601,348 9,365,833
(10,662,798) (6,023,550)
5,938,550 3,342,283
2,295,062 308,098
67,208 61,706
2,390 (100,665)
248,252 402,413
(547,249) (373,817)
(755,990) (580,302)
41,481 97,094
(153,961) (151,275)
7,135,743 3,005,535
(2,285,219) (967,541)
4,850,524 2,037,994
(54,784) 1,766,467
11,433 (36,259)
(43,351) 1,730,208
4,807,173 3,768,202
4,408,510 3,579,875
398,663 188,327
4,807,173 3,768,202
4,408,909 1,993,973
441,615 44,021
4,850,524 2,037,994
#0021l w4591l

HK90.2 cents

HK45.9 cents

W89 811l

HKS89.8 cents

45 51l

HK45.5 cents
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REEENFET A =+—H At 31 December 2009
T T T
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$'000
(E 1) (E%1))
(Restated) (Restated)
IE B Non-current assets
YIZE ~ WE KM Property, plant and equipment 16 2,578,850 2,274,429 1,520,609
TA T A Prepaid lease payments 17 453,008 631,924 440,625
EVS~C7/E 3 Investment properties 18 16,742,284 9,998,305 8,967,812
TR E A T Z Mt Interests in associates 19 668,666 731,099 593,600
JRE WS — [ 25 ) Amount due from an associate
2 A 20 238,614 265,178 237,464
af it E RS Available-for-sale investments 21 179,772 187,994 196,220
PEFE R VE A Deferred taxation assets 22 471,022 398,634 375,547
21,332,276 14,487,563 12,337,877
L gé Current assets
LIJE Xy Inventory of properties 23 40,827,522 38,149,775 22,201,622
AT B A Prepaid lease payments 17 11,188 12,898 10,880
HiGFE Other inventories 24 55,606 61,387 37,588
}%WE&%\” N Eﬁtﬁ%lﬂl Trade receivables, other receivables
HRIA R E 4RI 4 and deposits paid 25 13,751,430 9,884,625 9,334,047
W EF &% Amounts due from customers
TARFIE for contract works 26 281,615 210,929 190,784
JEW R R JE A T #KIE  Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 27 99,999 15,598 274,012
TRV B4 e Amounts due from immediate
UNGIE/ O] holding company 27 4,103 7,629 5,026
TEABIIE Taxation prepaid 707,019 128,731 52,532
B4 RARITEE AT Cash and bank balances 28 19,513,576 5,658,521 4,834,298
75,252,058 54,130,093 306,940,789
i) £ i Current liabilities
JREASH R S oAt Trade and other payables
JRE A MR T 29 5,657,260 4,258,280 2,144,333
TEEYZEC IGT & Deposits received from pre-sales
of properties 30 18,943,304 5,689,910 3,573,992
E%{TJ‘%:}EI %;%"J Amounts due to customers
THEFIA for contract works 26 374,575 341,963 124,248
JEATR] R B /A R #KIE  Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 31 23,976 1,945,751 2,166,958
JREASH L B P Amount due to immediate holding
NGIE7e5E company 31 - 981,299 2,648,081
JREASH D B SRR IR Amounts due to minority shareholders 31 988,111 911,573 728,920
SRATMEAEE — —4ENEIM  Bank borrowings — due within one year 32 1,827,206 4,062,895 2,712,212
JREA i IE Taxation payable 1,849,380 686,238 864,397
29,663,812 18,877,909 14,963,141
i B VR E Net current assets 45,588,246 35,252,184 21,977,648
7 AR (RO B A Total assets less current liabilities 66,920,522 49,739,747 34,315,525

g4 | cEEnsmmEm
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

T oo biiskia i T oo
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(F51) (H 1)
(Restated) (Restated)
B B fii Capital and reserves
RS Share capital 34 503,001 471,535 402,520
Gl Reserves 37,306,983 29,791,551 19,268,256
AN EHEA NEAS A Equity attributable to owners of the Company 37,809,984 30,263,086 19,670,776
DB R Minority interests 1,190,073 798,526 619,598
39,000,057 31,061,612 20,290,374
EIS T Uh=R Non-current liabilities
SRATIEE — —4EfE 2 Bank borrowings — due after one year 32 25,631,576 17,030,097 12,748,212
PEAEF A B 1 Deferred taxation liabilities 22 2,165,788 1,511,114 1,276,939
fiid4m T H Derivative financial instruments 33 123,101 136,924 -
27,920,465 18,678,135 14,025,151
66,920,522 49,739,747 34,315,525
EXCI Wang Yin
HH Director
B R Wu Xiangdong
HH Director

“rEnE | oo
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BEEZENET A=+ —HILEE For the year ended 31 December 2009
LYNGE: 2PNl

Attributable to owners of the Company

TR
R ARG
BriElkly AR
Shares held  Employee HH
Bk b B RGBSR forResriaed shuebased ADFREM  HUbGHE  BEEA T
Share Share Capital General Translduon Share Award compensation ~ Merger Hedging  Retained i@ﬁ’r Minority fist
capital  premium  reserve  reserves  reserve  Scheme  reserve feserve feserve profits Total interests Total
BT R BN W T BRI BETr ERTr BN T BN BT s T
HK§000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000 ~ HKS000  HKS$000  HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
(Hfzka) (Hfzt36) (Hizk2)
(Note 2) (Note 36) (Note 2)

W EEEN\E~H—H At1 January 2008 audited)
%J(-E%V 402520 16219556 1,131,520 96,189 1,278,187 - 21,570 - - 2973919 22129461 1,776,649 23,906,110
FHHRED R Effect of changes in
EXiva 7 accounting policies and
restatements - 593000 (9269%3) 15384 304571 - - (4152976) - 1708285 (248,089) (1,157,050 (3,615736)

REFZENF—H—H & 1 January 2008 (restated)

(E51) 402520 16812562 204567 111573 158278 - 50 (4152976) S ARR200 19670776 619598 20290374
&%Fﬁ? iz Exchange translation reserve

i arising on translation = = = - 162161 = = = = - 162161 144306 1766467
HERHML Fair value change on

ATEER cash flow hedges = - = - - - - - 66259 - 6629 - 6629
AR Profit for the year . . - - - - - = - 199973 1993973 44021 20379%

ERZTRALE  Toul comprehensive income

for the year = = - - 162161 - - - (6259 199973 3579875 188327 3768202
HERRALERIRG  Recognition of equity -
3 settled share based payments - - - = = = 7835 _ . _ 783 _ 783
HRIBATRE  Tunsfer of reserve
in subsidiaries - - - 47007 = - - - L) - - _
JEE RSB EI)  Purchase of shares under
ety Share Award Scheme - - - - - (1624 - - - - 1R -6
fi Exercise of share options 1435 45,611 - - - - (13620 - - = 3,420 - 33420

HfﬁJA {7 Distribution to China Resources
ﬁ () AR (Holdings) Company Limited

([HEEER ) (“CRH) arising from
JMR (D) common control
combination (Note b) 67,580 8,082,567 - - - - - (557808 - - 7592339 10,751 7,603,090
S A Acquisition of additional
i interest in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (154060 (15,406)
CERLERMIRE  Final dividend for 2007 - - - - - - - - - 789 (97%) (T G069
LR HMASE  Additonal final dividend
for prior year - - - - - - - - = (78) (758) = (758)
SERNERHIRE  Interim dividend for 2008 = = = = = = = = - (160294)  (160.294) - (60299)
MEZEENFFH  At31 December 2008
=t-HE) (restated) 7153 490740 204567 158600 3204919 (16224D) 2079 (4710789 (36259 6170231 30263086 798526 31061612
WHRERZ Exchange translation reserve
B St arising on translation - - - - (118 . S - _ S WD) @290 (54789)
Rainz Fair value change on
/\HE ) cash flow hedges - - - - - - - - uB - 4B - 143
A A Profit for the year = - - - = = - - - 4408909 4408909 441615 4,850,524

ERZ AR Total comprehensive income
for the year - - = - (1183 - - - 11433 4408909 4408510 398663 4807173

86 REIE AR
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A BT IUAE BRI 6 D i RRT A B 2 R ik
HABRAT (TRKE D) o fk B ZFFSUEIUES T 7
R R A ) 2 R M IR A ) o R L
LA =R ARSEEE EROEIR A BLa R E A
#3,680,400,0007C © HA L[4 A DR AT > A B0
A G 2 ) 2 T M 3,261,730,0007G © B H K
A7 B2 ) B BRI 28 w1 SR [R) 1 i & i 2k 2
T A B 1 418,670,000 70 A VR 1) 38 T 4 [ 112 s 2>
G3UR o i AR > AR [ HE R AL A B
F]Gain Ahead Group Limited ([ Gain Ahead J) Yt #H
LS 151 4 IR A 0 (T SR IELE 11 ) B LRI A ) o w4
7 B T )\ A B AL R D A T v B A
BURSRELVE 93 Lk ) NG IR e AN G N
A 2 AR (E AR 7,800,090,0007C o ASE M E LAEE
AT 18 1 12.06 7T 17 2 8 4 [ 49517 675,799,850 1% 5 4
B B S A 5 197,000,000 TG £ CAE 4R

AT AL
Attributable to owners of the Company
TR
R ARG
BriElkly AR
Shares held  Employee HH
Wk Wb EARGHE MR ERRAE for Resiriced share-based ADEREM B (R T
Share Share Capital General ~ Translation Share Award compensation ~ Merger Hedging  Retained ﬁ%’r Minority fist
capital  premium  reserve  reserves  reserve  Scheme  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total interests Total
BT R BN W T BRI BETr ERTr BN T BN BT s T
HK§000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000 ~ HKS000  HKS$000  HK$000  HK§000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
(Hfzka) (f3£36) (Hfzk2)
(Note 2) (Note 36) (Note 2)
TR RIZE A BT Distibution to CRH arising
] ) from common control
(HfzEb) combination (Note b) - - - - - - - (18670 - - ({18670 - (8670
BERRIR A A e Recognition of equity settled
DE:¢ share based payments - - - - - - 3,033 - - - 3,033 - 3033
BREATIRE  Tnsfer of reserve
in subsidiaries = - - 573% - - - - - (25739) - - -
FRE RSB RIE  Purchase of shares under
et Share Award Scheme - - - - - (34494 - - = - (34499 - (34499
e Placement of new shares 30,000 4,210,308 - - - - - - - - 4240308 - 4240308
Tl Exercise of share options 1466 52140 = = = - asom = - -5 - 36705
e A Acquisition of additional
25} interest in a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - - (16 (7,116)
“RBERMRE  Final dividend for 2008 - - - - - - - - - I 3913 - 3B
FEEHMAMRE  Addiional final dividend
for prior year = - - - - - - - - (25543) (558 - (25,543)
ZEZNENMRE  terim dividend for 2009 - - - - - - - - - nsm) Qsm - 5w
REZENE At31 December 2009
TZA=t— 503,001 29,203,188 204567 415995 3,193,087  (196,730) Tl (5129454) (248200 9,633,251 37809984 1,190,073 39,000,057
ff ek - Notes:
a. A A ] 2 — R A B4 A 4 [ A v B 7R HbL S N ) a. The Group’s general reserves comprise the Group’s share of the statutory surplus reserve of
ZUE R o subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland.
b. e A 2 4 R B 2 W IE B B A PR /D (T 18 1) b. Central New Investments Limited (“Central New”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH,

during 2009 and prior to common control combination, had established a wholly-owned
subsidiary, Day Rejoice Limited (“Day Rejoice”). Day Rejoice during 2009 had acquired certain
subsidiaries which held property development sites in the Chinese Mainland. On 3 September
2009, the Group had acquired Day Rejoice Limited from Central New at cash consideration
of HK$3,680,400,000. Prior to the common control combination, the net asset value of these
subsidiaries acquired was amounted to HK$3,261,730,000. The payment of HK$418,670,000
in excess of the net asset value of Day Rejoice and its subsidiaries arising from the common
control combination was considered as distribution paid to CRH. During 2008, the Group had
acquired Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day Group”) and its subsidiaries from Gain
Ahead Group Limited (“Gain Ahead”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH. Smooth Day Group,
during 2008 and prior to common control combination, had acquired certain subsidiaries
which held property development sites in the Chinese Mainland. The net asset value of these
subsidiaries acquired was amounted to HK$7,800,090,000. The Group had issued 675,799,850
ordinary shares at issue price of HK$12.06 and paid HK$197,000,000 to CRH as the total

consideration.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HEZENFE+ A=+ —HILEE For The Year Ended 31 December 2009
1 " R
BT BT
HK$°000 HK$000
(1)
(Restated)
B OPERATING ACTIVITIES
R il i 1) Profit before taxation 7,135,743 3,005,535
R Adjustments for:
HAHS RS Finance costs 153,961 151,275
SRATAIE LA Bank interest income (104,891) (86,802)
JRE s — TR A R R 22 Imputed interest income in respect of amount due
AR YA from an associate (9,233) (12,403)
WA B WA ¢ ] Reversal of impairment for inventory of properties - (18,966)
it — [ B R 4 2 BT Discount on acquisition of additional interests in a subsidiary (1,696) (2,708)
g L E YNSEIEE Tl Gain on changes in fair value of investment properties (2,295,062) (308,098)
%%ﬁﬁ f@?ﬁ&g*@%f% Gain on changes in fair value of inventory of properties
RS E I A transferred to investment properties (67,208) (61,706)
A A Al T BT (R A (Gain) loss on changes in fair value of derivative
(et ) s 8 financial instruments (2,390) 100,665
Hj%ﬁ@itﬂ%ﬁg\zl&fﬁ Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments - (765)
Wzt - Wm Bkt 2 s Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 112,657 31,521
B ~ MR M 2 R Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,156 1,353
g I YA AHL B T Release of prepaid lease payments 3,067 3,067
O IR AT R B At R A s T i Impairment loss recognised on trade and other receivables
Z IR 43,183 44,710
RAE— BB A R A A Impairment loss recognised on deemed capital contribution
R W 1R in an associate 50,057 -
R LA RS 2 % LA JFEE o)A B T 478 A5 4% [ Reversal of allowance for trade and other receivables 979) -
HERR IR ASGE S A 3k Recognition of equity-settled share based payment 3,033 7,835
JEAL NI E Share of results of associates (41,481) (97,094)
R A SR A B I Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 4,979,917 2,757,419
L EZeaC el Increase in inventory of properties (1,757,305) (13,729,099)
Ho AT BBk D () Decrease (increase) in other inventories 5,847 (21,402)
%WE&?X N ,EMFEH&IEEIE& (Increase) decrease in trade receivables, other receivables
EATHE 4 (B ) s and deposits paid (3,891,163) 38,457
W?Llﬁ(% 1= EH) Iﬁa?ﬂlﬁiﬂﬂ Increase in amounts due from customers for contract works (70,451) (7,978)
JRE Wi [R] 2R B R 2 ) 3K () b (Increase) decrease in amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (84,384) 241,933
JRE WA T 47 S R SR T T Increase in amount due from immediate holding company - (2,282)
JHRE A e 2 S L At R A< B T 48 Ty Increase in trade and other payables 1,403,749 1,977,190
FEYEC G Increase in deposits received from pre-sales of properties 13,259,705 1,887,983
JEAT 2 F A ) TAE R TE S hn Increase in amounts due to customers for contract works 32,991 209,791
JEAHR] Z& ¥t o 2 ) FIE D Decrease in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (1,919,617) (359,407)
SRR (I H) & Cash from (used in) operations 11,959,289 (7,007,395)
ELAT N RN (T A ) People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) tax paid (1,118,154) (1,115,616)
A B T
S B PRy S D 5 ) S 35 K Payment for purchase of shares for share award scheme (34,494) (162,242)
BIHER PR (BT ) Bl & v NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 10,806,641 (8,285,253)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2009

e 373
B — [T Bf o 2 =) R i
Sigil)=

Wi Bl — [ g 2~ )

[SY el il k= g/Acili s
KT — A A
AP ~ BRSS K Be

[ A

Hh AT AR 5 T AR A

WEAWIZE ~ U Bk it

WA TR L L B

LY s/ E VST
TEAE B2

AT AR B 2 BB AR [

B SR i PR B v

L R

HHEERAT HEK

AR ERAT EK
DR R
EATHE

EATFLE

BEAT I A3 30H
A7 o S PR P 45
TR B B A R OR
B 52 [ 2 ) T R
AT 2 1 £ R

Al S T B
Bl e Bl 4 5 (I (i) A
45 P9 36 I ) 45 DF

AR ACTEA
A WA ) S
—H—HBE MBI E&FH
ToAZE T HBE LB S HE
Bl R Bl AR Z 40T
Bl RRATH A7

2008
T ek W
HK$000 HK$’000
(E%1))
(Restated)

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary (5,420) (12,698)
Interest received 104,891 86,802
Acquisition of a subsidiary 37 (1,578,127) -
Dividend received from an associate 103,858 -
Advance to an associate (14,554) -
Proceeds on disposal of property,

plant and equipment 886 1,119
Proceeds from disposal of available-for-sale

investment - 765
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,067,222) (733,623)
Purchase of prepaid land lease (13,714) (190,202)
Purchase of investment properties

and addition to investment

properties under construction (2,297,370) (21,865)
Investment cost in available-for-sale

investment refunded 8,215 12,237
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (4,758,557) (857,465)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
New bank loans raised 15,489,584 11,924,325
Repayments of bank loans (9,122,993) (7,204,162)
Advance from minority shareholders 77,549 131,421
Dividends paid (688,494) (458,917)
Interest paid (713,643) (997,346)
Proceeds on placement of new shares 4,240,308 -
Proceeds on exercise of share options 36,705 33,420
Repayment to immediate holding company (976,676) (1,835,666)
Payment to CRH for the acquisitions of entities

under common control (3,680,400) (197,000)
NET CASH FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 4,661,940 1,396,075
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 10,710,024 (7,746,643)
CAPITAL INJECTION BY CRH DURING THE YEAR

PRIOR TO COMMON CONTROL COMBINATION 3,261,730 7,800,090
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE RATE CHANGE (116,699) 770,776
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 1 JANUARY 5,658,521 4,834,298
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 19,513,576 5,658,521
ANALYSIS OF THE BALANCE OF CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances 19,513,576 5,658,521

AL | go
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For The Year Ended 31 December 2009

1.

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated in the Cayman Islands
and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”). The immediate holding company as at 31 December
2009 is China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH”). The directors
regard the ultimate holding company of the Company to be China Resources
National Corporation (“CRNC”), a company incorporated in the Chinese
Mainland. The addresses of the registered office and principal place of business

of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information of the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which
is different from the functional currency of the Company, Renminbi (“RMB”),
as the Company is a public company incorporated in Cayman Island with the
shares listed on Hong Kong Stock Exchange, where most of its investors are
located in Hong Kong and therefore, the directors consider that Hong Kong
dollars is preferable in presenting the operating result and financial position of
the Company and the Group. The majority of the Company’s subsidiaries are

operating in the Chinese Mainland with RMB as their functional currency.

The principal activities of the Group are property development, property
investments and management and provision of construction, decoration services

and others.

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
RESTATEMENTS

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

In prior years, the Group has accounted for all its business combinations,
including those combinations involving entities under common control, using
the purchase method. On 3 September 2009, CRH transferred all its equity
interest in Day Rejoice Limited and its subsidiaries to the Group. The directors
of the Company have determined that the application of merger accounting to
this acquisition from CRH being a business combination involving entities under
common control will provide more relevant and useful information to financial
statement users as it better reflects the economic substance of the transaction.
The Group and the entities acquired pursuant to this group reorganisation is
regarded as a continuing entity, and the application of merger accounting is
consistent with certain subsidiaries of CRH which have also accounted for the
business combinations involving entities under common control of CRNC under

merger accounting.
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CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)

Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued)

Under merger accounting, based on the guidance set out in Accounting
Guideline 5 Merger Accounting for Common Control Combinations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”), the
consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statement items of
the combining entities or businesses in which the common control combination
occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the combining entities

or businesses first came under the control of the controlling party, CRNC.

The directors have reviewed all of the previous acquisitions of subsidiaries from
CRH and looked into the substance of the transactions both in terms of common
control and the clarified definition of business in HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business
Combinations issued in March 2008. Prior to 1 January 2008, acquisitions
previously accounted for as business combination included Boom Go Group
Limited and its subsidiaries, King Role Limited and Toprun Investments Limited
and its subsidiaries, while acquisitions which were previously accounted for as
acquisition of assets included Cosmart Resources Limited and its subsidiaries and
Speedy Gain Investments Limited and its subsidiaries. These acquisitions have
been restated using merger accounting. The details of the combinations of each

combining entity in 2009 and 2008 had been detailed in note 43(a).

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost
at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of
the controlling party’s interest. The adjustments to eliminate share capital of the
combining entities or business against the related investment costs have been

made to merger reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Merger accounting has been applied retrospectively to group reorganisations
in prior periods involving acquisition of entities or businesses from CRH. The
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the prior
years have been restated to include the operating results, changes in equity
and cash flows of the entities or businesses acquired from CRH as if these
acquisitions had been completed at the beginning of the earliest prior period
presented or since the dates the respective entities or businesses came under
the control of CRNC during the respective accounting periods, whichever is
appropriate. The consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2008 and 1 January 2008 have been restated to include the carrying amounts
of the assets and liabilities of the entities or businesses acquired from CRH as if
those entities or businesses were combined as at those dates (see below for the

financial impact).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial

Statements

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

RESTATEMENTS (continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued)

December 2008 by line items is as follows:

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit

Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties

Gain on changes in fair value of inventory
of properties transferred to investment
properties

Loss on changes in fair value of
derivative financial instruments

Other income

Selling and marketing expenses

General and administration expenses

Share of results of associates

Finance costs

Profit before taxation
Income tax expense

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences arising on
translation to presentation currency
Loss on changes in fair value
of cash flow hedge

Total comprehensive income for the year

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company
Minority interests

Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company
Minority interests

Earnings per share
Basic

Diluted

The effect of the changes in accounting policy and restatements described above

on the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31

BEZERNE R wE_Z A@
“A=1+—H EH L E +#H#+
¢$f§ Changes in JJ:EE
Year ended accounting Year ended
31 December policy and 31 December
2008 restatements 2008
T IT BT BT
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$’000
(J551) (F51)
(Originally stated) (Restated)
9,133,605 232,228 9,305,833
(5,875,379) (148,171) (6,023,550)
3,258,226 84,057 3,342,283
308,098 - 308,098
61,706 - 61,706
(100,665) - (100,665)
384,379 18,034 402,413
(341,390) (32,427) (373,817)
(473,216) (107,086) (580,302)
97,094 - 97,094
(137,312) (13,963) (151,275)
3,056,920 (51,385) 3,005,535
(965,596) (1,945) (967,541)
2,091,324 (53,330) 2,037,994
1,373,610 392,857 1,766,467
(36,259) - (36,259)
3,428,675 339,527 3,768,202
3,240,347 339,528 3,579,875
188,328 1) 188,327
3,428,675 339,527 3,768,202
2,037,631 (43,658) 1,993,973
53,093 (9,672) 44,021
2,091,324 (53,330) 2,037,994
46,91l LD HK45.91l
HK46.9 cents QA cend) #H45.9 cents
46,511l e CLALD a4 sl
HK46.5 cents HK(1 cent) HK45.5 cents
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Rt BORE ) R E S ()
WRZEFENEEEE A 0E
AHE ()
PRAN Sk 2 & n+ﬂ% N E e e
/\@ A—HEZZE/F+_A=+—HZ
S WBIR IR TR IHZ BT
JE ) Non-current assets

[k Goodwill

LE BN 104 Property, plant and
B equipment

TE AT B OE Prepaid lease

payments

Ei'g - L/ Investment properties

ﬁ/{\%ﬁ’;&%’.& /NG| Z*Efni Interests in associates

JRE ST — [HI 5025 ) Amount due from
ZEKIE an associate

ISRy Available-for-sale

investments
PRAERLIE gé Deferred taxation assets
{fﬁﬁl g% Current assets

LYE c5 Inventory of properties

TE A E Prepaid lease payments

HA A7 & Other inventories

SRR Trade receivables,
ﬁ{ﬂﬂ?ﬂﬁlﬁﬁlﬁ other receivables and
JEATHET 4 deposits paid

JEWE F A4 Amounts due from customers
TRRRIA for contract works

JREMG ] 2R g 4 Amounts due from fellow
IR subsidiaries

@WE%E‘EH&/& G| Amount due from immediate
FOH holding company

TSR Taxation prepaid

& BRI THREAT Cash and bank balances

SIS R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial

tatements

2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control (continued)
The effects of the changes in accounting policy and restatements described
above on the consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January 2008
and 31 December 2008 by line items are as follows:
ErRFEOR Rt EOR
SEE) [ 5 SRR BELEY RENE
TERERNF Changes in &% /\ 4 +—H Changes in +—H
—H—H accounting —H—H =+—H accounting =+—H
1 January policy and 1 January 31 December policy and 31 December
2008  restatements 2008 2008  restatements 2008
wTT ¥ TIT %I wHTT ¥ T BT T
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(J531) (FE51) (J531) (FE51)
(Originally (Restated) (Originally (Restated)
stated) stated)

50,423 (50,423) = 87,459 (87,459) -
1,273,490 247,119 1,520,609 2,263,789 10,640 2,274,429
2,399,137 (1,952,512) 440,625 2,876,565 (2,244,641) 631,924
8,967,812 - 8,967,812 9,998,305 = 9,998,305

593,600 - 593,600 731,099 = 731,099
237,464 - 237,464 265,178 - 265,178
196,220 196,220 187,994 187,994
374,174 1,373 375,547 395,333 3,301 398,034
14,092,320 (1,754,443) 12,337,877 16,805,722 (2,318,159) 14,487,503
22,097,459 104,163 22,201,622 38,024,692 125,083 38,149,775

41,686 (30,806) 10,880 75,485 (62,587) 12,898

12,734 24,854 37,588 59,363 2,024 61,387
6,766,924 2,567,123 9,334,047 9,876,713 7,912 9,884,625

190,784 — 190,784 210,929 - 210,929
2,791 271,221 274,012 15,598 = 15,598
5,026 = 5,026 7,629 = 7,629

52,532 = 52,532 128,731 - 128,731

4,516,801 317,497 4,834,298 5,553,441 105,080 5,658,521
33,686,737 3,254,052 36,940,789 53,952,581 177,512 54,130,093
TERT IR
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2. EEtEOREE REY (4) 2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)
& x N I_] FEHEMEE S 0iE Merger accounting for business combination involving
A (4 entities under common control (continued)
G RTEUR FRtBOR
5 ) ) 5| CERF)NE EHNEY] FF/N\E
ZERENE Changes in &% /4 +=A Changes in +=A
*H —H accounting *H —H E‘I‘* H accounting E‘I‘* H
1 January policy and 1 January 31 December policy and 31 December
2008  restatements 2008 2008  restatements 2008
Wi W% Tt W TT W  WR T T T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
(J531) (E%1)) (J531) (E51)
(Originally (Restated) (Originally (Restated)
stated) stated)
i IB=K Current liabilities
JEATBE R Trade and other payables
FoA AT HRIE 2,096,676 47,657 2,144,333 4,226,299 31,981 4,258,280
TEEY)E Deposits received from
ERIGE pre-sales of properties 3,573,992 - 3,573,992 5,689,910 - 5,689,910
ﬁg’ﬁ‘g}ﬁ %%‘J Amounts due to customers
TFEF0E for contract works 124,248 = 124,248 341,963 = 341,963
W?{#E%%—EE& Amounts due to immediate
N A FERIE holding company - 2,648,081 2,648,081 - 981,299 981,299
W?H[EJ/% WE Amounts due to fellow
NGIE7e5E subsidiaries 425 2,166,533 2,166,958 13,098 1,932,653 1,945,751
W?ﬁ‘@%{ﬂﬁﬁ%ﬁlﬁ Amounts due to minority
shareholders 503,084 225,836 728,920 911,573 = 911,573
RATIEE — Bank borrowings —
—AE R E due within one year 2,712,212 = 2,712,212 4,062,895 - 4,062,895
JE AR TE Taxation payable 863,635 762 864,397 686,238 - 686,238
9,874,272 5,088,869 14,963,141 15,931,976 2,945,933 18,877,909
LB B R Net current assets 23,812,465  (1,834,817) 21,977,648 38,020,605  (2,768,421) 35,252,184
R AMEILE A Total assets less current liabilities 37,904,785 (3,589,260) 34315525  54,826327  (5,086,580) 49,739,747
— TR
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2. EEtEOREE REY (4) 2. CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)
& x N I_] WM EE S 0ig Merger accounting for business combination involving
Atk (4 entities under common control (continued)
G RTEUR FRtBOR

5 ) ) 5| CERF)NE EHNEY] FF/N\E

ZERENE Changes in & Z /4 +—A Changes in +—=A

*H —H accounting *H —H E‘I‘* H accounting E‘I‘* H

1 January policy and 1 January 31 December policy and 31 December

2008  restatements 2008 2008  restatements 2008

wRToT  EETIE BRI T T Lo T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(J531) (E%1)) (J531) (1)
(Originally (Restated) (Originally (Restated)
stated) stated)
A K fiti i Capital and reserves
e A Share capital 402,520 - 402,520 471,535 - 471,535
it tts Reserves 21,726,941 (2,458,685) 19,268,256 33,333,600 (3,542,049) 29,791,551
ENNEIE XS DN Equity attributable to owners
JREA e A of the Company 22,129,461 (2458,685) 19,670,776 33,805,135  (3,542,049) 30,263,086
DB R £ Minority interests 1,776,649 (1,157,051) 619,598 2,334,009 (1,535,483) 798,526
23,906,110 (3,615,736) 20,290,374 36,139,144 (5,077,532) 31,061,612
EIS i Uh=R Non-current liabilities
SRITIEE— Bank borrowings —

—AEMR EI| due after one year 12,721,736 26,476 12,748,212 17,030,097 = 17,030,097
SR TE B Deferred taxation liabilities 1,276,939 = 1,276,939 1,520,162 (9,048) 1,511,114
A4 T E Derivative financial

instruments = = - 136,924 = 136,924

13,998,675 26,476 14,025,151 18,687,183 (9,048) 18,678,135

37,904,785 (3,589,260) 34,315,525 54,820,327 (5,086,580) 49,739,747

“RRIUEILER 5
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2. EHETBCREE R ED] ()

?b"&x/\ 7] 42 ) B S 0 O 2 A O

wtik (g

%@LiﬁLZ@#ﬂ% TP ERIEsENCA
R oEBENE—H—H K EE/NE+H

S H 2Bk Z BT

“EENE

—H—H
1 January
2008

CHANGE IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
RESTATEMENTS (continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving

entities under common control (continued)

The effects of the changes in accounting policy and restatements described

above to the Group’s equity on 1 January 2008 and 31 December 2008 are as

follows:
it

Changes in
accounting
policy and
restatements

i

—A—H
1 January
2008

TEREAE
+=A
=+—H
31 December
2008

iR

84T K 51

Changes in
accounting
policy and
restatements

TERE )N
+=A
=+—H
31 December
2008

WwHETor  WETor Wl T WETor  WwEToC ek T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
(J531) (E%1)) (J531) (E51)
(Originally (Restated) (Originally (Restated)
stated) stated)
JieAs Share capital 402,520 = 402,520 471,535 - 471,535
eyt A8 Share premium 16,219,556 593,006 16,812,562 25212757 (272,017) 24,940,740
A Capital reserve 1,131,520 (926,953) 204,567 1,131,581 (927,014) 204,567
— R f General reserve 96,189 15,384 111,573 143,216 15,384 158,600
EE 56 ft Translation reserve 1,278,187 304,571 1,582,758 2,517,162 687,757 3,204,919
IR 2 L 143 528 i Share held for Restricted Share
Ein iR Ri el Award Scheme = = = (162,242) = (162,242)
V& B B0 4 i e Employee share-based
compensation reserve 27,570 - 27,570 21,779 - 21,779
& D Merger reserve - 4,152976)  (4,152,976) — (4710784  (4,710,784)
ESRUEA Hedging reserve (36,259) - (36,259)
R B s A1) Retained profits 2,973,919 1,708,283 4,682,202 4,505,606 1,664,625 6,170,231
DU R RE A Minority interests 1,776,649 (1,157,051) 619,598 2,334,009 (1,535,483) 798,526
23,906,110 (3,615,736) 20,290,374 30,139,144 (5,077,532) 31,061,612
CEEPIEIE R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new and revised

3. MERHTAT M AGE AT A s s etk v 3.

AR > AL ER oI E s ima e
LA BT T R A T HE R W‘T&%E(F%ﬁ”ﬂ

standards, amendments and interpretations (“new and revised HKFRSs”) issued

R S RT A s A o HE L )

by the HKICPA.

ke A g e BHSIR R 2 25 HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements
ZERRLAEET)
i EE R 2358 ERETIN HKAS 23 (Revised 2007) Borrowing Costs
ZERLLFERT)

st fI 553298 K nERTE A TR K HKAS 32 & 1 (Amendments) Puttable Financial Instruments and
EAUALCHES) AT AR Obligations Arising on Liquidation

F U RS 1 9E & N B A T - SR HKFRS 1 & HKAS 27 Cost of an Investment in a Subsidiary,
Fr e s f 52798 =B | (Amendments) Jointly Controlled Entity or Associate
(BwTA) ZRE A

T A S HE I 55 258 B B HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Vesting Conditions and Cancellations
(B#TA)

T Uk B I 2 7 e YOS R T AR HKFRS 7 (Amendment) Improving Disclosures about Financial
( 1@“ %TZF ) Instruments

T W U i o U S 8 R AN HKEFRS 8 Operating Segments

Tl (B PR s t s R A A4 LR HKAFRIC) - Int 9 & HKAS 39 Embedded Derivatives
ZRG) —RREE K (Amendments)
Al gt E3948
(EFTA)

o] P A S i o e R K E S HK(FRIC) — Int 13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

ZHE) R RE135

Tk (PR B R 2 fe o HhE s HK{FRIC) — Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate
ZEG) — 155

s (BRI S i e R AN ER 2 HK(FRIC) - Int 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign
ZA®) —2EE165E FHE Operation

Fib (B FH gﬁz%ﬁi‘;ﬁ% HKJFRIC) - Int 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

ZHE) — @R 189E
s A A
QCHES)

e A 5 o Y
(774

B EN 2
T it TR e
P ¢ W NOET S
ZEENFEA
—H B AP
AR
R B I
W e 5 55
TR Z 57T

BOFTIAEHM 2
B B R R
2o A
HHEFEE
HE 553095 5 80 B
ZAEFT

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008,
except for the amendment to HKFRS 5 that is
effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 July 2009

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009 in
relation to the amendment to paragraph 80
of HKAS 39

2 IR K
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JRE FH T T B B8AE 5T A v B 7 4 E
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S o e

B AT ERIAT19E (RS T) [ B B 2 25 )
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) (BRI AR A MBS ek < ) B s B P
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RIPECRO P HAR & M B iR e 5

BEAR A A b e AR 15 (R E L AEERT)

Eﬁﬁi‘%@%ﬁﬂ%ﬁi%ﬁéiii/\@—ﬁ -
B A BRI -

BB IR T R S T RS E 7

T s B S v J S s SR A E AL ) 291

7 3B AR A B = B PSR R B 2
R — B GRS RET) o B il A5 i

i JU) 55 S S HA A ol o A B 2 14 R 2

Wl %2%5']%?-@?%*%%@@%@%*4
(ZEA5 70 5T e Ml 5338 ) Pﬂ?’&%ﬁh%iﬁ’*ﬁ
U§€85FI,.\$§EEZIK%@EE/\%$&ﬁﬁ ’

W T MR R E IR -

B TR A Y

(BB B A R 75962 ERT 2 T A,
Wik ])
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aHi 2 G TR 2 A EFHE R 2 Sk
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Except as described below, the adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs had
no material effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group, for the

current or prior accounting periods.

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and
disclosure only

HKAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised) has introduced a number of terminology changes (including
revised titles for the consolidated financial statements) and changes in the format

and content of the consolidated financial statements.

In addition, the adoption of HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has resulted in the
presentation of a third consolidated statement of financial position as at 1 January
2008 as the Group has applied accounting policies retrospectively and made a
retrospective restatement of items in its consolidated financial statements during

the current financial year.

HKERS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 requires the presentation of operating segments in a manner consistent
with the internal reports that are regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief
operating decision maker (see note 7 for details). HKFRS 8 replaces HKAS 14
Segment Reporting which required an entity to identify two sets of segments
(business and geographical). The adoption of HKFRS 8 has not resulted
in redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments but has changed the

measurement of segment results and segment assets.

Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

(Amendments to HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures)

The amendments to HKFRS 7 expand the disclosures required in relation to fair
value measurements in respect of financial instruments which are measured at
fair value. The amendments also expand and amend the disclosures required in
relation to liquidity risk. The Group has not provided comparative information
for the expanded disclosures in accordance with the transitional provision set out

in the amendments.
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Tl BRI A09E2 17T B )
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Tk - TEREBCRY 3 2 PR T3 B 355353 B
AR o B T H0H A A TR RS > T
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S E A TBE R HAB A A -

A4 B EAREM BRI L E H BT NE—H
— HREAE W s R R SE 4095 1 1 2
1E5T o BN IE A BUERT » A2 AR g
W (RS U st A= 4) > AR
AE— H — H 43 Bl 38 A B T (R 5 7 238,274,000
JG Je s 648,815,000 0C ¢ i —EFEIJLE—H
— H B EH B A B 200 LA THERH R

Tl RN T (E i 25 B 8 51,093,921,000 TG 1T 45 B
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

New and revised HKFRSs affect the reported results and/
or financial position

Amendments to HKAS 40 Investment Property

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs (2008), HKAS 40 has been amended to
include within its scope properties under construction or development for future
use as investment properties and to require such properties to be measured
at fair value (where the fair value model is used and the fair values of the
properties are reliably determinable). In the past, the leasehold land and building
elements of investment properties under construction were accounted for
separately. The leasehold land element was accounted for as an operating lease
and the building element was carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses,
if any. The Group has used the fair value model to account for its investment

properties.

The Group has applied the amendments to HKAS 40 prospectively from 1
January 2009 in accordance with the relevant transitional provision. As a result
of the application of the amendment, the Group’s investment properties under
construction that include the leasehold land and buildings elements with previous
carrying amounts of HK$238,274,000 and HK$648,815,000 as at 1 January 2009
respectively, have been reclassified as investment properties and measured
at fair value as at 1 January 2009, with the recognition of fair value gain of
HK$1,093,921,000 and related deferred taxation expense of HK$273,480,000. As
at 31 December 2009, the impact has been to decrease prepaid lease payments
and property, plant and equipment by HK$232,374,000 and HK$2,889,005,000
respectively, to increase investment properties by HK$5,068,092,000, to increase
deferred taxation liabilities by HK$486,082,000 and to increase profit for the year
by HK$1,458,246,000 of which HK$1,037,826,000 attributable to owners of the
Company and increase basic and diluted earnings per share by HK21.2 cents and
HK21.1 cents respectively. The amendments to HKAS 40 Investment Property
did not have any financial impact on the reported results and basic and diluted

earnings per share for the year ended 31 December 2008.

HK(IFRIC) — Int 15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

HKAFRIC) — Int 15 supersedes HK — Int 3 Revenue — Pre-completion Contracts
for the Sale of Development Properties. HK(IFRIC) — Int 15 clarifies whether
HKAS 18 Revenue or HKAS 11 Construction Contracts should be applied to
particular transactions. The adoption of this interpretation does not have any

material impact to the Group.

The Group has not early adopted the following new or revised standards,

amendments or interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective.

“RRIUEILER
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3. MERHHT B REAE T A W A s e R

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
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(E7TA)
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Tl R 158 B AL
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A R E s
Fh I A28 SEE A
(BFTA) et B AR S A 2
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TR R3S WA
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FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised 2008)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised 2008)

HKFRS 9
HKAFRIC) — Int 14
(Amendment)

HK{FRIC) - Int 17

HKJFRIC) - Int 19

Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of
Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2008!

Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 20092

Related Party Disclosures®

Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements!

Classification of Rights Issues®

Eligible Hedged Items’

Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters?

Limited Exemptions from Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for First-time Adopters’

Group Cash-settled Share-based Payment
Transactions?

Business Combinations!

Financial Instruments’

Prepayments of a Minimum Funding
Requirement®

Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners!

Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity

Instruments®

! R FTIUAFEL A — H B2 % B 2 4R BE IR A
: REFRJELA—HR-F—FFE—A—H (%
BT A ) B2 45 B o2 A BEHA ] A R s T

AT H B2 % B 2 AR B IR Ak
AT AR — H B2 AR B 2 AR BN A
—FARL A — H B R B i 2 AR B A
A MR AR B AR 2 AR B A
A= F =4 H B Z R B 2 AR B IR A

G w e

B P 75 8 A 5 s 15 4 JUL 55 3 B (RRAERT) AT RESY
BARERBEH A - F—FF—H—Hix
2 WAk 2GRt BT % o B e e
527 5% (KRBT ) SN 52 B 412 7% WY e 2 Wl AT
REREST S8 2 et sl -
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! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009
and 1 January 2010, as appropriate

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January, 2010

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The application of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting for the Group’s
business combination for which the acquisition date is on or after 1 January
2010. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting treatment for changes in the

Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments introduces new requirements for the classification
and measurement of financial assets and will be effective from 1 January
2013, with earlier application permitted. The Standard requires all recognised
financial assets that are within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement to be measured at either amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments that (i) are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows and (ii) have contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal
outstanding are generally measured at amortised cost. All other debt investments
and equity investments are measured at fair value. The application of HKFRS 9

might affect the classification and measurement of the Group’s financial assets.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of the other new
and revised standards, amendments or interpretations will have no material

impact on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for investment properties and certain financial instruments, which
are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting policies set out

below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of
the Company and entities controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control
is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial and

operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income from the effective date
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal (except for subsidiaries
under common control which are accounted for using the principles of merger

accounting), as appropriate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries
to bring their accounting policies into line with those used by other members of

the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on

consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority interests in the net assets
consist of the amount of those interests at the date of the original business
combination and the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the
combination. Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest
in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the Group except
to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation and is able to make an

additional investment to cover the losses.

Acquisition of additional interest in a subsidiary is recorded at the Group’s book
value of the net assets attributable to the interests. The excess of the carrying
amounts of net assets attributable to the interest over the cost of acquisition is

recognised as discount on acquisition in the profit or loss.

Business combinations (other than involving entities
under common control)

The acquisition of businesses is accounted for using the purchase method. The
cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the fair values, at the
date of exchange, of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree, plus
any costs directly attributable to the business combination. The acquiree’s
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for
recognition under HKFRS 3 Business Combinations are recognised at their fair

values at the acquisition date.

Goodwill arising on acquisition is recognised as an asset and initially measured
at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the
Group’s interest in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and
contingent liabilities recognised. If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in
the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities exceeds the cost of the business combination, the excess is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

The interest of minority shareholders in the acquiree is initially measured at the
minority’s proportion of the net fair value of the assets, liabilities and contingent

liabilities recognised.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Merger accounting for business combination involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
items of the combining entities or businesses in which the common control
combination occurs as if they had been combined from the date when the

combining entities or businesses first came under the control of the controlling

party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are consolidated using
the existing book values from the controlling party’s perspective. No amount is
recognised in respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over cost
at the time of common control combination, to the extent of the continuation of

the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes the results of
each of the combining entities or businesses from the earliest date presented or
since the date when the combining entities or businesses first came under the
common control, where this is a shorter period, regardless of the date of the

common control combination.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial statements are presented
as if the entities or businesses had been combined at the end of the previous
reporting period or when they first came under common control, whichever is

shorter.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant influence and
that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence
is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the

investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these
consolidated financial statements using the equity method of accounting. Under
the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial positions at cost as adjusted for post-acquisition changes
in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any identified
impairment loss. When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests
that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate), the
Group discontinues recognising its share of further losses. An additional share
of losses is provided for and a liability is recognised only to the extent that the
Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of that associate.

Where a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses

are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
and represents amounts receivable for goods sold and services provided in the

normal course of business.

Revenue from sale of properties held for sale in the ordinary course of business is

recognised when all of the following criteria are met:

. the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties are
transferred to buyers, which is when the construction of relevant
properties has been completed, upon delivery, and collectability of

related receivables is reasonably assured;

. neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually

associated with ownership nor effective control over the properties are

retained;
. the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
. it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction

will flow to the Group; and

. the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be

measured reliably.

Deposits and instalments received from purchasers prior to meeting the above
criteria for revenue recognition are included in the consolidated statement of

financial position under current liabilities.

Revenue from sales of goods (including furnitures and other inventories) are

recognised when goods are delivered and title has been passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by reference
to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable, which
is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the

expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.

Property management income and service income are recognised when services

are rendered.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the production
or supply of goods or services, or for administrative purposes (other than
construction in progress) are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property, plant and
equipment, other than construction in progress, over their estimated useful lives
after taking into account of their estimated residual values, using the straight-line

method.

Construction in progress represents property, plant and equipment in the course
of construction for production or for its own use purposes. Construction in
progress is carried at cost less any recognised impairment loss. Construction
in progress is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the assets

are ready for their intended use.

Prior to 1 January 2009, property that was being constructed or developed for
future use as an investment property was included in construction in progress
until construction or development was complete, at which time it was reclassified
to and subsequently accounted for as an investment property. Any difference
between the fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying
amount was recognised in profit or loss. Upon adoption of amendments to
HKAS 40, that property under construction has been reclassified as an investment

property at 1 January 2009 (see note 3).

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use
of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the

item) is included in profit or loss in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Leasehold land and building under development for
future owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of development for
production or for administrative purposes, the leasehold land component is
classified as a prepaid lease payment and amortised over a straight-line basis
over the lease term. During the construction period, the amortisation charge
provided for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings under

construction.

Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified impairment

losses.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leasehold land and building under development for
future owner-occupied purpose (continued)

Depreciation of buildings commences when they are available for use (i.e.
when they are in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of

operating in the manner intended by management).

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital

appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at their fair values using the fair value model. Gains
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment properties are

included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction
are capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction. Starting from 1 January 2009, investment properties under
construction are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Any
difference between the fair value of the investment properties under construction
and their carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal of when the investment
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from its disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
assets (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the year in which the

item is derecognised.

Inventory of properties is transferred to investment property when it is evidenced
by the commencement of an operating lease to another party. The difference
between the fair value and the carrying amount at the date of transfer is

recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Impairment losses on tangible assets (continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior

years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately.

Construction contracts

Where the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, revenue
and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the end of reporting period, as measured by the proportion that
contract costs incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total
contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the stage of
completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are
included to the extent that the amount can be measured reliably and its receipt is

considered probable.

Where the outcome of a construction contract cannot be estimated reliably,
contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract costs incurred that it is
probable will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the
period in which they are incurred. When it is probable that total contract costs
will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is shown as amounts due from
customers for contract work. For contracts where progress billings exceed
contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract work. Amounts
received before the related work is performed are included in the consolidated
statement of financial position, as a liability, as advances received. Amounts
billed for work performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in
the consolidated statement of financial position under trade receivables, other

receivables and deposits paid.

Leasing
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases

are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in the profit or loss on a

straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Leasing (continued)

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits received and receivable as an
incentive to enter into an operating lease are recognised as a reduction of rental

expense over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Leasehold land and building

The land and building elements of a lease of land and building are considered
separately for the purpose of lease classification, unless the lease payments
cannot be allocated reliably between the land and building elements, in which
case, the entire contract is generally treated as a finance lease and accounted
for as property, plant and equipment. To the extent the allocation of the lease
payments can be made reliably, leasehold interests in land are accounted for as
operating leases and released over the lease term on a straight-term basis except
for those that are classified and accounted for as investment properties under the

fair value model.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity, transactions
in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies)
are recorded in the respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the
primary economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the
date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured

in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-
monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period
except for exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income, in which cases, the exchange differences are also

recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the assets
and liabilities of the Group’s entities are translated into the presentation currency
of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the
end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are translated at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the year, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in

other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity (the translation reserve).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended
use or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the

borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they are incurred.

Government grant

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over
the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses that the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate. Government grants that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become

receivable.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred

taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit
differs from profit as reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable
or deductible. The Group’s liability for current taxation is calculated using tax
rates that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred taxation is recognised on differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred
taxation liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred taxation assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill
or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the

accounting profit.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Taxation (continued)

Deferred taxation liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the
Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred taxation assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the
benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred taxation assets is reviewed at the end of the
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be

recovered.

Deferred taxation assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred taxation liabilities
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle
the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred taxation is recognised
in profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the deferred taxation is

also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Inventory of properties
Inventory of properties includes properties under development and properties

held for sale which are stated at lower of cost and net realisable value.

The carrying value of inventory of properties comprises the leasehold interest in
land together with development expenditure, which includes construction costs

and borrowing costs capitalised.

Other inventories
Other inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is

calculated using the weighted average method.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the consolidated
statement of financial position when a group entity becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial liabilities
are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value

through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and receivables and
available-for-sale financial assets. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the

marketplace.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial asset and of allocating interest income over the relevant period. The
effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter

period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Subsequent
to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits paid, amounts from due an associate, immediate holding
company and fellow subsidiaries and bank balances and cash) are carried at
amortised cost using the effective interest method, less any identified impairment

losses (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated
or not classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL"),

loans and receivables or held-to-maturity investments.

For available-for-sale equity investments that do not have a quoted market price
in an active market and whose fair value cannot be reliably measured, they
are measured at cost less any identified impairment losses at the end of each
reporting period (see accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets

below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets are impaired
where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future

cash flows of the financial assets have been impacted.
For an available-for sale equity investment, a significant or prolonged decline
in the fair value of that investment below its cost is considered to be objective

evidence of impairment.

For all other financial assets, objective evidence of impairment could include:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
. default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
. it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial

re-organisation.

For certain categories of financial asset such as trade receivables, assets that
are assessed not to be impaired individually are subsequently assessed for
impairment on a collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience of collecting
payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period, observable changes in national or local economic

conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss is recognised in
profit or loss when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, and is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective

interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)

For financial assets carried at cost, the amount of the impairment loss is
measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Such impairment loss will not be reversed in

subsequent periods.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss
directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables and
other receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an
allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance account
are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade receivable or other receivable
is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited to profit or

loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the
amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively
to an event occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that
the carrying amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been

recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets

of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of
a financial liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
payments (including all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premium or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (continued)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables, amounts due to fellow
subsidiaries, amounts due to minority shareholders, amount due to immediate
holding company and bank borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised

cost, using the effective interest method.

Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,

net of direct issue costs.

Derivative financial instruments and bedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair values at the end
of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or
loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss depends

on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

The Group uses derivative financial instruments (primarily interest rate swap)
as hedges of the floating rate bank borrowing. At the inception of the hedging
relationship the entity documents the relationship between the hedging
instrument and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives and its
strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. Furthermore, at the inception
of the hedge and on an ongoing basis, the Group documents whether the
hedging instrument that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in

offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that
are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges are recognised in other
comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is

recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when

the hedged item is recognised in profit or loss.

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging
relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised,
or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss
accumulated in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the gain or loss accumulated in equity

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Financial instruments (continued)

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original
or modified terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by
the Group and not designated as at fair value through profit or loss is recognised
initially at its fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
issue of the financial guarantee contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the
Group measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the amount
determined in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,

cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with HKAS 18 Revenue.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred and the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets. On
derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the
cumulative gain or loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income

is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The difference between the carrying
amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Share-based payments transactions
Share options/awarded shares granted to employees after 7 November 2002 and

vested on or after 1 January 2005

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value
of share options and awarded shares granted at the grant date is expensed as
staff costs on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding

increase in employee share-based compensation reserve.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the
number of options and the awarded shares that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the estimates during the vesting period, if any, is
recognised in profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to employee share-

based compensation reserve.

—EF IR
Annual Report 2009

115



116

A S R AL

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4.

EEEHHBUR ()

It A sk 22 o (#1)

T TEETAEA L D& R SR
FELE—H —HB 2 EH IR SR
R (48)

“u P REATT IR > ST 5 PR 170 T <5 ok ke
R B S LR A« v PR M B
F 342 AR WAl T 3 T 0o SR AT RDSERT R
A 58I 073 T < fof 4 e 0 22 < A gt 2 R P O
M e

B S 0 B IR > ST PR A e £ 5 i -3
O P A7 ff M R0 2 S R AR 5 P 17 P <k
ARG R -

TR AR — b H B i AR i 2
T TEE AL D& R R
ELHAF—]— H .2 Ak IR TE

P45t i P R 17 0 T 22 B 5 2 I e A fi
BB o T ITER PR A (L B S
AR AR RS, o W BCHEREAT (AR » I gfAT %
By B A SRS F REANBEA 5 A BB AT B
R B3 T B 2 22 FANRS N B IR i (8 © iAAT
o7 T 2R AR < RO 1 o 2RAT Gl S B
B RC M A B o

AR PR A sk
TERRBFCRIAR AT 8 2 AT S0 B S SR BS
VA HEIR ALK R T ABASE -

ANHERE AN T T B

A2 PG T A S 0 O > A 7
PR R OB F 8 B 1 7 I
FUS L SRTR(EA BT il BBt a2 %A
A A 7 AR T A5 B A B A B 2
DR At o BERAS SRea f BLRZ A AR o

VAT 25 8 15 0 AR A ] A A T Al 2 B 7 i
FHACR 2 FEAREE - AR T AR U T — @
AR E ) T 8 MR T (L1 o TR

— BRI
Annual Report 2009

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Share-based payments transactions (continued)
Share options/awarded shares granted to employees after 7 November 2002 and

vested on or after 1 January 2005 (continued)

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred
to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date
or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised
in employee share-based compensation reserve will be transferred to retained

profits.

At the time when the awarded shares are vested, the amount previously
recognised in shares held for restricted share award scheme reserve and the
amount recognised in employee share-based compensation reserve will be

transferred to retained profits.

Share options granted to employees on or before 7 November 2002, or granted

after 7 November 2002 and vested before 1 January 2005

The financial impact of share options granted is not recorded in the consolidated
financial statements until such time as the options are exercised, and no charge
is recognised in the profit or loss in respect of the value of options granted.
Upon the exercise of the share options, the resulting shares issued are recorded
as additional share capital at the nominal value of the shares, and the excess of
the exercise price per share over the nominal value of the shares is recorded as
share premium. Options which lapse or are cancelled prior to their exercise date

are deleted from the register of outstanding options.

Retirement benefit contributions
Payment to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as
an expense when employees have rendered service entitling them to the

contributions.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in
Note 4, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be

relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets

and liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(continued)

Fair value of investment properties

Investment properties, including those completed investment properties and
investment properties under construction, are carried in the consolidated
statement of financial position at 31 December 2009 at their fair value, details
of which are disclosed in Note 18. The fair value of the investment properties
was determined by reference to valuations conducted on these properties by
independent firms of property valuers using property valuation techniques
which involve certain assumptions of prevailing market conditions. Favourable
or unfavourable changes to these assumptions may result in changes in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties and corresponding adjustments to the
changes in fair value reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and the carrying amount of these properties included in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Impairment loss on inventory of properties

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position at 31 December 2009
are inventory of properties of HK$40,827,522,000 (2008: HK$38,149,775,000)
which are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Management
conducts assessments on the net realisable value of inventories by reference to
their estimated net selling price and other economic conditions of the markets in
which the Group’s properties are situated. If the actual selling prices of inventory
of properties are substantially less than expected due to an adverse market
condition or other factors, impairment loss on inventory of properties may result.

No impairment loss was made in the current year.

Deferred taxation assets

As at 31 December 2009, a deferred taxation asset of HK$471,022,000 (2008:
HK$398,634,000) in relation to allowance for doubtful debts, write down of
inventory of properties, impairment loss of available-for-sale investments the
provision for Land Appreciation Tax and certain amount of tax losses has been
recognised in the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position. No
deferred taxation asset has been recognised in respect of the remaining tax
losses of HK$260,060,000 (2008: HK$443,098,000) due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams. The realisability of the deferred taxation asset mainly
depends on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary differences
will be available in the future. In cases where the actual future assessable profits
generated are less than or more than expected, a reversal or recognition of the
deferred taxation assets may arise, which would be recognised in profit or loss

for the period in which such a reversal or recognition takes place.
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REVENUE

Revenue represents income from sale of developed properties, rental income,
property management and related services and construction, decoration services
and others for the year. An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as

follows:

T BT
HK$000 HK$’000
(FE51)
(Restated)
DR E Sale of developed properties 14,450,366 6,949,401
FHA YA Rental income 909,323 811,683
) 2E A5 B B BE AR S Property management and related services 382,820 319,494
A BB MRS K A Construction, decoration services and others
HELY Construction contracts 549,491 920,287
AR IR s % B Furniture manufacturing and sales 302,632 301,931
HoAth Others 6,716 63,037
16,601,348 9,305,833
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SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments with effect from 1 January
2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires operating segments to be
identified on the basis of internal reports about components of the Group that
are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of
allocating resources to segments and assessing their performance. In contrast,
the predecessor Standard (HKAS 14 Segment Reporting) required an entity to
identify two sets of segments (business and geographical) using a risks and
returns approach. In the past, the Group’s primary reporting format was business
segments. The application of HKFRS 8 has not resulted in a redesignation of the
Group’s reportable segments as compared with the primary reportable segments

determined in accordance with HKAS 14.

The factor that used to identify the Group’s reportable segments, including the
basis of organisation is mainly on the basis of the types of properties sold and
services provided by the Group’s operating divisions (i.e. Property investments

and management, construction, decoration services and others).

The adoption of HKFRS 8 has changed the basis of measurement of segment
assets and segment results. Investment properties included in segment assets are
stated at cost when reported to the chief operating decision maker. In the past,
investment properties are included in segment assets at fair value with changes

in fair value included in segment results under HKAS 14.
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by

reportable segment.

Year ended 31 December 2009

HE -
LUESi'd FeAB IS
HED &=L L HoAt
ERYE Property Construction,
Sale of investments decoration
developed and services A
properties management and others Consolidated

T i W T T T
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
qﬂ(ijﬁ Revenue
S External sales 14,450,366 1,292,143 858,839 16,601,348
S Result
DR Segment result 4,197,548 573,260 18,065 4,788,873
RO B EARMA Unallocated other income 248,251
BBV N T EEE B 7 Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties 2,362,270
RO H Unallocated expenses (151,171)
%15%’%/{_\\%%% Share of results of associates 41,481
E]ﬁ%%ﬁﬁ Finance costs (153,961)
I A5 i ¥ Profit before taxation 7,135,743
TERTIUEEER
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7. JYEYERH (G
() ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ&%» (#8)
&5;;;A$+;H:+*H¢$§

tatements

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(a) Segment revenues and results (continued)
Year ended 31 December 2008

HE -
LUESi'd FeAB RS
HED Y& JeHoAt
EIRYE Property Construction,
Sale of investments decoration
developed and services A
properties management and others Consolidated

qﬂ(fﬁ Revenue
HhEH External sales
ES Result
P B Segment result
A3 B HABIA Unallocated other income
BBV N T EHEE B 7 Gain on changes in fair value
of investment properties
RIS Unallocated expenses
JRE G M A ) S Share of results of associates
»Ed‘ 4% % i Finance costs
I A5 i ¥ Profit before taxation

T i W T T T
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000
(E%1) (FE51) (FE51) (FE51)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
6,949,401 1,131,177 1,285,255 9,365,833
1,795,720 651,880 29,210 2,476,810
280,750
369,804
(67,648)
97,094
(151,275)
3,005,535

BB E W SRR A E B S - TR
JSURA B R SR 2 LIS B 4 P il
At B — B o R R % 20 U
S S 408 T 2% A e 7 B AR SR B )
ROE R BB 2 WA BB ST RS TiE
BEWE NP EET) - BMATER -
A MEAG T R SR R B 2
FH 3R A o 2 L U0 TIE S R BT AL
1) B o A 3 R HE S ) T B PR T
LG bE Ly

“RT IR AR
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Except for investment properties which were reviewed based on cost,
the accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as
the Group’s accounting policies described in note 4. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of
incomes or expenses which are not recurring in nature and unrelated to
the Group’s operating performance, fair value changes on investment
properties, central administration costs, directors’ salaries, share of results
of associates and finance costs. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker that are the directors of the Company for the

purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.
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7. SREFGR)
b) R E KA
I
PRWES SUTE T ) R

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(b) Segment assets and liabilities
Segment assels

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets by reportable segment:

T T T T
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$°000

SR B Segment assets
SED Ry Sales of developed properties 54,966,323 48,544,056 32,077,962
LESV a9 &8 ] Property investments and management 14,375,153 11,066,681 9,056,215
feie %1@5&%&%1@ Construction, decoration services

and others 2,150,768 852,225 733,956
IR A Total segment assets 71,492,244 60,462,962 41,868,133
G 2N THEE) Changes in fair value of investment

properties 4,109,732 1,747,462 1,377,658
RIMEL Unallocated 20,982,358 6,407,232 6,032,875
AEERE Consolidated assets 96,584,334 68,617,656 49,278,666

I BB RBUR A BL /M W R

o IrHEREES T E TR M MR
— [ oy R EIE R O W 2 A
fi ~ ARV R - Ak AR -
WS ) 25 B g 2 ) M e B ) I
MBI - Bl RRATH A R G
BRob o A A AL 2 1 B IR AE
LB PR AR LU AFHE -

DA

B PR T R e B R B A A
PIERE > AEBD B BRI R A H
E R PR E R AR LR & 2 AU B
HR -

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating

resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
amount due from an associate, interest in associates, deferred
taxation assets, available-for-sale investments, amounts due from
fellow subsidiaries and immediate holding company, taxation
prepaid, cash and bank balances and other corporate assets. The
investment properties included in segment assets are stated at

cost when assessed by the chief operating decision maker.

Segment liabilities

The chief operating decision maker mainly reviews the segment assets
for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment, the
analysis of the Group’s liability is not regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker and hence, the relevant information is not

presented accordingly.

— B
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7. SREERHEE)
(© HAhsrBER

e

7.

2009
LUES 3y
HED Jo i H
BRYE Property
Sale of investments
developed and
properties management

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Other segment information

-
ESlie
B HAb
Construction,
decoration
services ‘é'%rb\ ﬁ

and others Consolidated

T T T T fiiicm T BT IT
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
AL FEAE 53 H 0 ] 5 Amount included in the measure of
MG ER R B segment profit or segment assets:
Hg Capital additions* 427,936 2,369,151 579,453 3,376,540
e Depreciation 47516 58,605 5,912 112,033
BEWEN-TEE T Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties - 2,295,062 - 2,295,062
LUEES =L VEE =Ty ESiL) Gain on changes in fair value of
WNTAESE B 5 inventory of properties transferred
to investment properties - 67,208 - 67,208
TRT)\AE 2008
jz: o
YL e
HED R K HA
EIRYE Property Construction,
Sale of investments decoration
developed and services ,é'ﬁ—:é‘
properties management and others Consolidated

BLAEAE TR M =
IMEE R R R

oy
e
BOEY AT B s

YR L B B 0
e e

Amount included in the measure of

segment profit or segment assets:

Capital additions*

Depreciation

Gain on changes in fair value of
investment properties

Gain on changes in fair value of
inventory of properties transferred

to investment properties

biiskio i T oo
HK$'000 HK$°000
192,437 576,930
13,836 13,222
- 308,098
- 61,706

ek o ST T
HK$'000 HK$'000
175,642 945,009
3,960 31,018
- 308,098
- 61,706

* B G AR BE RN 2~ RS B Af
BB FOR -

— BT AR AR
122 FRIUERLFR
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Capital additions include addition to property, plant and equipment,

investment properties and prepaid lease payments in both years.
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7. SREFRGR)
(@  FZE R 2 W ak
A A 1 i MR 2 i
B -

7.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
(d) Revenue from major products and services

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its major

products and services:

T

BT T T T
HK$°000 HK$'000
(E41)
(Restated)
BHEEERY Sale of developed properties 14,450,366 6,949,401
%%fﬂ% Leasing of properties 909,323 811,683
2678 B TR B RS Property management and related services 382,820 319,494
RIS Construction services 164,387 265,337
HEME RS Decoration services 385,104 654,950
’f%ﬁlx%ﬁ&ﬁﬁ% Furniture manufacturing and sales 302,632 301,931
HAthy Others 6,716 63,037
16,601,348 9,365,833

(€) A< 42 [ 3 909 ) Wit i 5 | i
B A 58 2 FE 0 > HAE B B0
P L > 534k o AL 90% 1 IE T
BE R T AR TR &LL&E%F&
5 #520,442,868,0007C ( " FE J\4E @
#513,635,757,00070) 1 i o B A | > i
S 1 250 4 b 3 5 14 3 UL o

B o S 28 B — 54 AR 2 L 2R 10%
VUL MRS RS o

(e)

®

No geographical segment analysis is shown as more than 90% of the
Group’s revenue are derived from activities in, and from customers
located in the Chinese Mainland and more than 90% of the carrying
values of the Group’s non-current assets excluding financial instruments
and deferred taxation assets amounting to HK$20,442,868,000 (2008:
HK$13,635,757,000) are situated in the Chinese Mainland.

The Group does not have major customers as no single customer

contributes more than 10% of the Group’s turnover.

“RRIUEILER
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OTHER INCOME

8. At 8.

I S T

124

BT T T T
HK$°000 HK$'000
(E41)
(Restated)
[FFE 50,04 25 1 Exchange gain, net 4,420 169,129
SRATALE A Bank interest income 104,891 86,802
W?L&#Fﬁﬁ%ﬁ NEIE IE Z Imputed interest income in respect of
ﬁ%ﬂ B A amount due from an associate 9,233 12,403
B A (B ) Government grants (Note) 94,696 54,442
B YA E Tﬁ'ﬁ Reversal of allowance for inventory of properties - 18,966
3% 0] JE AT BR K ﬁﬁWElﬁ[ RIE B Af Reversal of allowance for trade and other receivables 979 -
Wi [m] i @E@F ?Mé ) IR ATk S Recovery of trade and other receivables written off
E{W?llﬁl?ﬂiﬁi in the prior years - 17,933
i E%*Fa‘il}ﬁ%/& ] %ﬁéz%)ﬁ% Discount on acquisition of additional interests
in a subsidiary 1,696 2,708
tt'/%ﬂﬁ#tﬂ%j&ﬁztlﬂ(ﬁ Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments - 765
HoAtb Others 32,337 39,265
248,252 402,413
BT« % BRI Ay b % T R S P A Note:  The amount represents mainly the compensations, subsidies and refunds of various
féf N EEE&E&@%E@E’\]*}E%}E%{ ° taxes as incentives by the government authorities in various cities of the Chinese

TR IUF AR
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A AR R MY

9. EHME
EATEIER 134 (ZFFNE 1240 did
&I
= W om W
2009 Songlin ~ WangYin  Jiang Wei

BT T T i B i i i i BiTn Bix Bix #in #i

9.

[

Yan Biao

DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the 13 (2008: 12) directors were as
follows:
ThE
RN OTER IR ZEE A WER AWk e ZERAE
Liu Ding Du li h Andrew Ho Wu  KimTo Total
Yan Jie JieMin  Wen Min FuZwo ~ Wang Shi Y.Yan  HinNgai  Xiang Dong Peter 2009

Statements

HKS000 HKS000 HE$000 HK$000 HKS000 HES'000 HKS 000 HKS000 HES'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$ 000 HK$1000
%ﬂﬁ Fees
e Executive directors 0 70 - - - - - - - - - 70 - 10
Fangs Non-executive directors - - 70 0 70 70 0 70 - - - - - 40
B Independent non-executive
§$ directors - - - - - - - - 120 120 120 - 120 480
0 70 70 70 70 70 70 0 120 120 120 0 120 1110
e Other emoluments
e R Salaries and other benefits = 2867 - - - - - - - - - 2565 - 5432
RIVEAE Contribution to retirement benefit
it schemes - 19 - - - - - - - - - 107 - 06
TR Share option expense - - - - - - - - - - - _ _ _
et Total emoluments - 2,986 - - - - - - - - - 2672 - 5638
ot
WA TER O OHXR ZHK B WER O OWKE CREAE
CERNE P i i i3 Liu Ding Du i o adew Ho  ChanMo Toul
2008 Songlin -~ Wang Yin Jiang Wei Yan Biao Yan Jie Jie Min Wen Min Fu Zuo Wang Shi Y. Yan Hin Ngai Po, Paul 2008

RO (DTN 1 AUTANNR a o DR - AT a oL A OTNR  apT  a VE -t SO s o 3 A
HES 000 HKS000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000 HES 000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK§ 000 HK§ 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS$ 000 HKS 000
s Fees
HLES Executive directors 70 0 - - - - - - - - - - 140
FarEs Non-executive directors - - 0 70 70 21 0 0 _ i i i 371
BikafEs Independent non-executive
directors - - - - - - - - 120 120 10 10 480
0 70 70 70 0 U 70 70 10 10 10 10 %l
Flma Other emoluments
B RHMAR  Salaries and other bereis - 3,050 - - - - - - - - - - 3050
AR Contribution to retirement
it benefit schemes - 1 - - - - - - - = = - 1
TR Share option expense - - - - 6 - 6 6 - - - - 18
i 4 Total emoluments - 3,162 - - 6 - 6 6 - - - - 3180
B EE - ﬂ:w AR e T 2k 5 S 4 ( FTINAE Note:  During the year, none of the directors have waived the directors’ emoluments (2008:

g BT?%%E%$I11HAJZWE@71DJ\ZI—V\ Al T
Wﬂﬂﬁﬁ o

None). None of the directors have received any inducement pay for joining or upon

joining the Company.

“RRIUEILER
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10. EBW4 10. EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS
REB L EEHMA LEIEWRZ (ZEE I\ Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, two (2008:
HE ) ARNTEES > 4R SO one) were directors of the Company whose emoluments are included in the
9o Hfp =& (—FE /)4 W% A2 4 disclosures in note 9 above. The emoluments of the remaining three (2008: four)
mr individuals were as follows:
BT BT
HK$000 HK$’000
3 4 S HoAth AR R Salaries and other benefits 7,467 6,546
BARAEF 5K Contributions to retirement benefit schemes 222 281
TR BB 845 Performance related incentive payments - 2,230
7,689 9,057
s 2 A 5 Their emoluments were within the following bands:
PN

No. of employees

W¥1,500,0017C F #EH2,000,0007C  HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 - 1
12,000,001 7C £ #EH2,500,0000C  HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 1 2
#E¥2 500,001 76 E #EHE3,000,0000C  HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 1
3 4
iupis it 11. FINANCE COSTS
s T s T
HK$'000 HK$'000
(FE51)
(Restated)
ZHR T 5 PR 76 B R 2 Interest on bank loans wholly repayable:
SRAT R AR
HAER Within five years (706,594) (985,992)
AR Over five years (7,049) (11,354)
AR AR Total borrowing cost (713,643) (997,346)
W R Less: Amount capitalised in properties under development,
FRER G properties under construction held for investment and
TERETIREARZ 44 construction in progress 559,682 840,071
(153,961) (151,275)

— BT
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12. Fif3FipE % 12.

S

ARAEFERLIA Current tax:
B s RIS Hong Kong Profits Tax
Hh I £ SE TR B PRC Enterprise Income Tax
F 5 - b 3 (E L Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)
([ A4 (ERL ) in the PRC
IRIERLIA Deferred taxation:
ZRAE B ([ 5E22) Current year (Note 22)

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2008
T ok aTH
HK$°000 HK$'000
(E%1))
(Restated)
(229) (1,894)
(949,679) (516,277)
(949,908) (518,171)
(752,134) (296,581)
(583,177) (152,789)
(2,285,219) (967,541)

SEFNEANA AR LSRR
(BT AR AL > # AR BIBL
RH17.5%MEE165% > H_EFEFN/ “FEE
JUAERRBIAE B AL o DRI - W MAR BE IO & it
GBI T Al T MBI A9 16.5%7 155 »

WIS AR = FRLFE=ZH TN H KR %EL
A A S B 2 A SE T AR (T3
FrASBIE 1) R E ARG - AL R
WA ZHEEBE L MEA RS » 55N &5
I ZEZ AT BLR D h —F R NF—H
— HALAHE—F25% » Z 0 IFE =G 5 B 2 ft
AT B G DI IR B 2 B o AR
AETN H 15%55 25 G 28 259, o

On 26 June 2008, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed the Revenue Bill
2008 which reduced corporate profits tax rate from 17.5% to 16.5% effective from
the year of assessment 2008/2009. Therefore, Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated

at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT Law”) and its detailed
implementation rules promulgated on 16 March 2007 and 6 December 2007
respectively, for those subsidiaries without preferential tax rates, the new tax
rate for domestic and foreign enterprises was unified at 25% and had become
effective from 1 January 2008. For those subsidiaries enjoying a preferential tax
rate, the new tax rate would increase from 15% over 5 years to 25% as a result of

the grandfathering provisions.

“RRIUEILER
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12. FBHE % (48) 12. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)
A A T AR B S B 4 A TR WA 85 28 BT R B T The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
Ui A 2 EEER taxation per the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:
™
BT T T T
HK$000 HK$°000
(E41)
(Restated)
Rt 1 i ) Profit before taxation 7,135,743 3,005,535
AL 2259 (—FE\4E © 25%)  Tax charge at domestic tax rate of 25% (2008: 25%)

FHA Z BUIABA ST (1,783,936) (751,384)
R N E Y Pk v Tax effect of share of results of associates 10,370 24,274
AR S 2 B Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose (71,368) (35,745)
HIEFRBUA Z B Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 10,845 22,495
RIEABIE 18 2 B Tax effect of tax losses not recognised (32,989) (43,376)
B AR A NI R i R B IE E’ifﬁ Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 44,222 15,414
Tt R R TS Bl Income taxed at concessionary rate 68,750 22,532
Fft Ji 2~ FIASIRI B R 2 5 Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries (198) (1,141)
TERBARE R AR 2 Bl A kG 15 Recognition of tax losses previously not recognised 33,185 1,826
+ M E R Land appreciation tax (752,134) (296,581)
T b (ERL 2 B R Tax effect of land appreciation tax 188,034 74,145
AN TSR B 32 Income tax expense for the year (2,285,219) (967,541)

TR IUF AR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial

13. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

tatements

T IT T T
HK$°000 HK$°000
(FE51)
(Restated)
A A IR A 2L FORR Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging:
RS Directors’ emoluments
4 Fees 1,110 991
S S LA 4 Salaries and other emoluments 5,658 3,180
HoAth B TRA Other staff costs
Hr 4 K HAbAR A Salaries and other benefits 454,948 354,839
IRARAE I B A O L4551 2 Retirement benefit cost (excluding amount included
T H 4 FK0E) in directors’ emoluments) 62,031 45,772
Vi PSR AR A B S CR L4651 7% Share option benefits expenses (excluding
M 2 FOE amount included in directors’ emoluments) 3,033 7,817
B TR A% Total staff costs 526,780 412,599
W R Less: Amount capitalised in the properties under development,
R a2 properties under construction held for investment and
MAEE TRREARZ &8 construction in progress (137,758) (122,419)
389,022 290,180
THERR B 3 2 AF B LA Cost of inventories recognised as expense 9,618,520 4,249,726
*Z%ZEW@H% Auditor’s remuneration 1,510 1,510
TE S TR A Release of prepaid lease payments 3,067 3,067
JPRE WA e 2 e EL At JEE LA B T Impairment losses recognised on trade and other receivables
1l % i (EL e 1 43,183 44,710
B — M A i E Impairment loss recognised on deemed capital contribution
fifes8 2 W E 1R in an associate 50,057 -
Y2~ R B EITEE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 112,657 31,521
HEYZE ~ WE K 2 R Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1,156 1,353
Sr GRS A R BLE (B R ARELS Share of tax of associates (included in share of results
R /NCIE S ) of associates) (12,244) (30,884)
WS HF AL & TH ¢ and after crediting:
Evd R E AN L] Gross rental income from investment properties 909,323 811,683
W FEREAERSRAZ Less: Direct operating expenses from investment
Eld -V E Tk 415 properties that generated rental income
during the year (108,427) (77,673)
800,896 734,010
Bt VAR ) ¥ A1) 4 1 H5 637,335,000 Note:  Profit of the Company for 2009 amounted to approximately HK$637,335,000 (2008:

TAE E@Tﬁ:%%%379,320,000ﬁ) ° loss amounted to approximately HK$379,320,000).

“RRIUEILER
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14. JBRE 14. DIVIDENDS
T T T T
HK$000 HK$'000
ENER A MR S Dividends recognised as distribution during the year:
3?%@*% ﬁ%%%i%ﬂ 2009 Interim — HK5.4 cents (2008: 2008 Interim
FINAE « ZREB A HK3.4 cents) per share
EP%H{%%S.MIJJ 271,578 160,294
TRE AW - GREEMS.3Ml 2008 Final - HK8.3 cents (2008: 2007 Final
#ZZ;/\EF P CEREBLA HK7.4 cents) per share
A7 400) 391,373 297,865
[ilﬁ’{iﬁﬁﬂfﬁgﬁﬁﬂg%ﬁ i #ash Additional final dividend for prior year due to exercise
TR 2 KT AR of share options and placement of new shares 25,543 758
688,494 458,917
RS, Dividend proposed:
A R A I R S Final dividend proposed for the year
ZRFJUEAR I — 2009 Final — HK18.3 cents
ﬂﬂi#ﬁ‘%lS A (—FT A (2008: 2008 Final HK8.3 cents) per share
AN 31 920,492 391,373
§$ﬁﬁ(ﬂ"d¢§ﬁ§ ??ZiJL/FF‘f“:H =t+—H The final dividend of HK18.3 cents per ordinary share in respect of the year
JJ:iFr‘E/J R AR B P v A s ’ﬁ@&aﬂll (— ended 31 December 2009 (2008: final dividend of HK8.3 cents in respect of the
FTNF BE BT NFETH=1—H1E year ended 31 December 2008) per share has been proposed by the directors
Exﬂﬁ*%ﬁﬂuz VRSBl ) > 2R SR R and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general
e S SRR g At ﬁTﬁZE ° meeting.
15. HREF] A 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ZI://.\\? A N MEAN B9 5 B A R 4 28 R e DA The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share attributable to the
SR ordinary owners of the Company is based on the following data:

T T T TT
HK$°000 HK$’000
(FE51)
(Restated)
BA Earnings
FRAE B e LA S e 2 ) 2 2 ) Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings
(AN w) A N IEAG 47 gk 1)) per share (profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company) 4,408,909 1,993,973
Jildfs 14E| Number of shares
FERT B AR B A 2 Weighted average number of ordinary shares
bl *qui'f]%:?ﬁﬂﬁ% H for the purposes of basic earnings per share 4,8806,605,294 4,347,896,126
Fﬁﬁ&%ﬁﬁ W R BB E SR Y Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares on
o5 share options 21,744,572 30,706,426
FAVER TS e 2 A Weighted average number of ordinary shares
TIP3 355 A i H for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 4,908,349,866 4,378,602,552
bl 3 RS 1A 8 T AR e A 2 ] B The weighted average number of ordinary shares shown above has been arrived
[ 3 P = /A e a4 T S R at after deducting the effect on 23,958,000 shares (2008: 19,900,000 shares) held
LA PR R 223,958,000 A £ ( —FF I\ by BOCI — Prudential Trustee Limited, a trustee company for the Company’s
A 19,900,000%%{5]\) ZRBREN o restricted share award scheme.
TR IR EFH
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16. W3 ~ Wm K

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

I

Hotel

properties

THEEAAE -
VS
Leasehold R TE
improvements, (A:\$ Construction
T furniture and Motor in ?@ﬁ'
Buildings equipment vehicles progress Total

i3 T T T T T T L T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E51) (E51) (E31) (E31) (E31)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(Fi5E)
(Note)
B COST
TERFENFE—H—H (FEFH]) At 1 January 2008 (Restated) = 854,151 228,851 47833 899,643 2,030,478
LR Currency realignment = 58,456 14,595 3,052 53,082 129,185
NE Additions = 29 105,903 22,835 604,856 733,623
e Disposal - (11,553) (2,124) (12,488) - (26,165)
ZEZENF+H=1—H At 31 December 2008 (Restated)

(E51) - 901,083 347,225 61,232 1,557,581 2,867,121
ek Currency realignment - azn (49) © (219) (404)
NE Additions - 49,535 112,154 4,538 900,995 1,067,222
L6713 Transfer 1,212,860 = 144,583 = (1,357,443) -
W s — [ g 2 ) A Acquired on acquisition of

a subsidiary - - 190 799 - 989
EHAEER ﬁ: LES Reclassified to investment

(MtzE18) properties (Note 18) = = = = (648,815) (648,815)
e Disposal = = (14,594) (3,442) - (18,036)
SEZENFE+TH=1—H At31 December 2009 1,212,860 950,491 589,509 63,118 452,099 3,268,077
EHEiT ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
ZFEENE—H—H (FF) At 1 January 2008 (Restated) - 315,573 169,048 25,248 - 509,869
e (i 2 Currency realignment - 19,591 44,488 10,916 - 74,995
ARAE B Provided for the year - 20,072 9,856 1,593 = 31,521
T S 4 Eliminated on disposal - (10,561) (2,644) (10,488) - (23,693)
ZFFENFEFZH=T—H At31 December 2008 (Restated)

(FE51) = 344,675 220,748 27,269 - 592,692
G EE S Currency realignment - (80) (44) (4) - (128)
A R A Provided for the year - 66,342 38,609 7,706 - 112,657
i B TRr Eliminated on disposal = = (13,367) (2,627) = (15,994)
ZEENF+H=1—H At31 December 2009 - 410,937 245,946 32,344 - 689,227
MR i CARRYING VALUES
ZEZENF+H=1—H At31 December 2009 1,212,860 539,554 343,503 30,774 452,099 2,578,850
ZEENEFZH=1+—H At31 December 2008 (Restated)

(H#51) - 556,408 126,477 33,963 1,557,581 2,274,429
ZEFZ)\F—H—H(EF) A1 January 2008 (Restated) - 538,578 59,803 22,585 899,643 1,520,609

BifeE @ BRIV RIAE B LA A AR L T ﬁ% Note:  Construction in progress prior to 2009 represented the Group’s development in some

SEIHH AR TR

GEEER(RIINS 3G

WAEE AN G - —FFIAFESBIRTLE

W -

investment property projects which were intended to be held for earning rentals or for
capital appreciation purposes. The amount in 2009 represented the hotel properties
which are under construction.
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16.

17.

W3 ~ Wi Kt (4 16.

@E%%&%$mm¢@mmsu¢%m%%
H -

PRTERE TARSL - LA - Mo Bt H %
PUR Al A AR BT DL AT

TEVEBAET 20 B40E S EHRT
AW > DA J e

HEMEEE - S5

548 B i A

TR S4F

FEAT AL O 17.

A B 1) 2 TEAS L B RIS v B A DA e
FLAFRFAT o AT B BRI 5339 2 S0 4R R 4 B
BRIR SRR o ACAR B iR IR £ W 15 11,188,000 7T
(& AE i%'ﬁ@lz 898,0007G) » H ik
8,121,000 76 ( = E J\AE + i 19,830,000 70
%$kﬂf@1&§$ FEAMIZE - RRF Bk
ﬁ o
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Hotel properties and buildings are located in the Chinese Mainland and are

situated on land held under medium-term leases.

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis with the following estimated
useful lives:

Hotel properties and buildings 20 — 40 years or over the unexpired

term of lease, whichever is shorter

Leasehold improvements, furniture 5 years
and equipment
Motor vehicles 5 years

PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

The Group’s prepaid lease payments are situated in the Chinese Mainland and
held under medium-term leases. The prepaid lease payments are released over
their lease terms of 39 to 50 years on a straight-line basis. The release for the
year is HK$11,188,000 (2008: HK$12,898,000), of which HK$8,121,000 (2008:
HK$9,830,000) is capitalised in construction in progress included in property,

plant and equipment.
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REWE 18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
A% ﬁf% ES Investment
Completed properties
investment under =t
properties construction Total
]
BT BT BT
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
APE FAIR VALUE
WoEENE—H—H At 1 January 2008 8,967,812 = 8,967,812
LR RS Currency realignment 576,911 - 576,911
HH B AR AYEGE Reclassified from properties under
Z B 2 (Kt iEa) development included in inventory
of properties (Note a) 123,619 - 123,619
wE Additions 21,865 - 21,865
AR £ TR & A THE 1 Increase in fair value recognised in
profit or loss 308,098 - 308,098
REEENEFZA=+—H At 31 December 2008 9,998,305 - 9,998,305
W EENE—H—HEN S Reclassified from construction
HERIRI A ZE - E Kkt in progress for investment properties
PRy A TR previously included in property,
(Bff&ED) plant and equipment at 1 January 2009
(Note b) - 648,815 648,815
W EENE—H—HENSE Reclassified from prepaid lease payments
b > FE AR E (D) for land at 1 January 2009 (Note b) = 238,274 238,274
N =EEJUFE—H—H ﬁ/{\fﬁﬁi Increase in fair value at 1 January 2009
R AN TERE I recognised in profit or loss - 1,093,921 1,093,921
LR RS Currency realignment (780) 2,384 1,604
wE Additions 63,080 2,234,290 2,297,370
AR AR Reclassified from properties under
Z BRI (i REc) development included in inventory
of properties (Note ¢) - 1,262,854 1,262,854
AR A5 TR A A 1 Increase in fair value recognised
in profit or loss 306,476 894,665 1,201,141
LLSHEN YRS YE Transfer to completed investment
properties 1,089,469 (1,089,469) =
WEEENETH =+—H At 31 December 2009 11,456,550 5,285,734 16,742,284
TERT IR
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a. REFNE . B A A ER T
T L) 3 2 A RE AR A B AT (L s
#£61,706,0007C °

b. I EFSAE-AH > AR FERE
Wy 2 2 A ) 2 AT R R S A 43 AR
W~ B B 1 s 1 648,815,000 76 A K
kA b 7 A AR B R 1Y i 238,274,000
JG > CARSRME A s e s E R 4097 I G
ZAEHT I E R R R A o

c. LK ELE R R SR A KM 2 TR I G ¥
Wy e M EEFE/NEF A=+ —H > Bt
UM T A R T B IR AR A
EE TR S LE PN TR
HUFFAMEFE o FN - ZHERLEY
W2 IRA AT A SERE T [RGRZ AR T FH
BAERZEYE - EEHHFEED > HE
TR E G ) 2T B I 4995 1:67,208,000
JC( RN« )

AL BOEMEAEF I BIE H - REFE
FE-A—H s ZEFIERETNEF A
E+*HZA¥ﬁEf g TR e

A A (R AT 5255 1 TEAT 2 A (B R
%o&#ﬁﬁ%%ﬁA@§%=ﬁﬁE% il
) M P A ¥ 2 0

BB 2 A TET R A (LR R L S8 e
;E .

Z B —  ZEBEE SR
3 oy B TG R

Cii Yz — ZSFLUBRAHANNEAR
LA B %58 2 4%
W AT > B 1 L
1115 22 75 S50l (88 25 fRL5IR
UMIDEER VR Y/E a7
i R

TEA - ZEFLHE KLY
Ea R ARk
o W A RE A K
PO M

B AR T A P TR AT o A
4 B T B 2 5B ) S 2 R R UL B TR B
AIGHME 2 B A A 2 LA R3S
W i B M BUR BOE Y2 > AL
AHERAA e Rt E R -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

18.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Notes:

a. In 2008, the amount represented the reclassification of completed investment
property from inventory of properties which included the increase in fair value of
HK$61,706,000 on the date of transfer.

b. At 1 January 2009, the building and land elements of properties under construction
for future use as investment properties amounting to HK$648,815,000 included
in property, plant and equipment and HK$238,274,000 included in prepaid lease
payments for land respectively were reclassified to investment properties pursuant to
the application of the amendments to HKAS 40 Investment Property.

c. This amount represents the portion of investment properties under construction
in residential and commercial complex. As at 31 December 2008, the cost of these
investment properties under construction was not reliably determinable and was
included in inventory of properties as the residential and commercial complex
was mainly developed for sales purpose. During the year, the cost attributable to
these investment properties under construction could be reliably determinable and
accordingly the amount was reclassified to investment properties under construction.
On the date of reclassification, the amount includes an increase in fair value in respect
of investment properties under construction of approximately HK$67,208,000 (2008:
nil).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties on the dates of
reclassification, at 1 January 2009, 31 December 2009 and 2008 have been arrived
at on the basis of a valuation carried out as of those dates by an independent
qualified professional valuers who are not connected with the Group. The
valuers have appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of

similar properties in the relevant locations.

The fair values of the investment properties were determined by the valuers on

the following basis:

Vacant properties - by reference to market evidence of transaction
prices for similar properties in the similar

locations

Occupied properties - by reference to capitalised income to be
derived from the existing tenancies and
the reversionary income potential of the
properties or, where appropriate, by reference
to market evidence of transaction prices for

similar properties in the similar locations and

conditions
Properties under - by reference to market evidence of transaction
construction prices for similar properties in the similar

locations, less estimated costs to completion

and investors’ return

The investment properties are situated in the PRC under medium term leases. All
of the Group’s leasehold interests in land, in respect of the investment properties,
held under operating leases to earn rentals or for capital appreciation purposes
are classified as investment properties and are accounted for using the fair value

model.
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19. B AT ZRESS 19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
BT BT BT
HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$000
S /NI T &=y %N Cost of unlisted investments in associates 74,766 74,777 70,294
JRRE A S B A% v ) S LAt A TR Share of post-acquisition profits and
EANER E Ui 5 other comprehensive income,
net of dividend received 593,900 656,322 523,306
668,666 731,099 593,600
AR A T 2 PATS EORM B A An T The summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s associates is set
out below:
wHT T W BT
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$’000
B AE Total assets 2,172,758 1,695,948 2,067,574
A A Total liabilities (784,547) (385,624) (880,025)
B RE Net assets 1,388,211 1,310,324 1,187,549
A REAG B N T 2 B R VR Group’s share of net assets of associates 668,666 731,099 593,600
&= Revenue 167,166 337,937 136,896
A A i ] Profit for the year 82,963 203,925 132,114
oAt A1 (B S2) YA Other comprehensive (expense) income (196) 83,567 80,516

RPN ST S e /N | Group’s share of profits and other

KA AT A comprehensive income of associates
for the year 39,832 138,101 101,635
AL W S W) 2 SR O B 440 © Particulars of the Group’s associates are set out in note 44(c).
20. JEW— & A ) 0E 20. AMOUNT DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

JRE ST — (1M 2 ) S TR A~ S AT ] 52 The amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and does not
P o AR )RR L LA S R A have fixed terms of repayment. In the opinion of the directors of the Company,
WIsEAE AR AW A N > WOIEJE i E) the amount will not be repayable in the next twelve months after the end of
FH o FHEIE B AL P A B PR AR R the reporting period, and accordingly, it is shown as non-current. The effective
Fy5% ( —EENF 1 5%) o INARERE > N TE imputed interest rate per annum on the non-current balance is 5% (2008: 5%).
R H550,057,00070 ( FEFEJAE ) B During the year, the amount of fair value adjustment of HK$50,057,000 (2008:
PR — B A IR E > HE 2GR E & nil) is deemed as the capital contribution in an associate, which has been fully
AR IR o AR [ e AR BRI 2 w0 A L impaired and charged to profit or loss. The Group assessed the credit quality
SR LA I A m AR BT > BRI A S of the associate regularly based on its financial position and considered no
AT 2 ME R — P B v 2 ) SR T AR o allowance for the amount due from an associate should be provided at the end

of the reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial

21.

Statements

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

I N T AT

T i T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Al ik R A Available-for-sale investments comprise:
W bR BT RARE TR Unlisted equity securities in
AR the Chinese Mainland, at cost 426,801 435,141 431,627
W EEE Less: Impairment losses (247,119) (247,147) (235,407)
179,772 187,994 196,220

22.

FHL A JBEAS 156 A 18 B 7 500 SR AR - o B Al
MNP EZ FER LR - DIEOR A Rl SR

SO TR LT SE Rt i b T (it 5
AR IR AR TR B E Rt o

ARAELE > AL IE R A G 2 ARG AR
B iz 7] 5 98,215,000 70 ( - F /UAF - i
12,237,0007C) ° it "ERE )\AE > AREFE IR H
AT IR AT RARE (LS 2R E)
BB U 4 7 1K 765,000 00 B R ZFE 4R 15

n£°

A5 R T 3k e 5 SO AL T 1 3
BRI 2> R P Rp 4 TR b AR w5

HESE LI 7T 7 (HL D)

RS HBR LRS- & TARAEBLIA Y
FAHEHARS o F IR RIS WA AR
SAAEBRAMT -

22.

The above available-for-sale investments were measured at cost less impairment
at the end of the reporting period since the equity investments do not have a
quoted market price in an active market and the range of reasonable fair value
estimates is so significant that the directors of the Company are of the opinion

that the fair value cannot be reliably measured.

In the current year, the Group’s investment cost in an unlisted equity investment
had been refunded in the amount of HK$8,215,000 (2008: HK$12,237,000). In
2008, the Group also disposed of certain unlisted equity investments which had
been fully impaired before the disposal. A gain on disposal of HK$765,000 was

recognised in profit or loss in 2008.

The Group’s remaining available-for-sale investments represent certain unlisted

equity securities held by a property investment subsidiary established in Beijing.

DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred taxation assets and liabilities have been offset. The
following is the analysis of the deferred taxation balances at the end of the

reporting period:

T T BT
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$°000
(FE51) (FE51)
(Restated) (Restated)
R LR TE Deferred taxation assets 471,022 398,634 375,547
R SR TE A i Deferred taxation liabilities (2,165,788) (1,511,114) (1,276,939)
(1,694,766) (1,112,480) (901,392)
TETJUEEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

IEEMIEE E (A E) () 22. DEFERRED TAXATION ASSETS (LIABILITIES)
(continued)
LR By AR Ko A 4R B B RERR 2 TR IE The followings are the major deferred taxation assets (liabilities) recognised and
PLIE G (AR A ) o movements thereon during the current and prior years.
AT R
I
TG CRMEREBM LHNER BUEER (B&E) Mt
Allowance Other
for Land temporary
Investment doubtful  Appreciation Tax differences
properties debts Tax losses (Note) Total

wRToT El¥TT BT B¥TT  B¥TT i T

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(E41) (#41) (&%)
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
TEE)NE—H—H At 1 January 2008 (Restated)

(HE51) (1,276,939) 182,331 111,994 1,374 79,848 (901,392)
LR Currency realignment (80,886) 10,499 6,817 46 5,225 (58,299)
(1 8) AR (Charge) credit to profit or loss (153,289) 19,406 (24,209) 3,703 1,595 (152,789)
ZEENETTZH At 31 December 2008 (Restated)

=+—H (&%) (1,511,114) 212,236 94,607 5,123 86,668 (1,112,480)
(R L Currency realignment (335) 2D an 46 3) (330)
Wi — MM A 7 Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - 1,221 - 1,221
(FnH) 5FAE L (Charge) credit to profit or loss (654,339) 10,710 (4,006) 56,485 7,973 (583,177)
ZERILAE At 31 December 2009

+ZA=+—H (2,165,788) 222,925 90,584 62,875 94,638 (1,694,766)

BT« LA T Ry S A T B O R B - Tk Note:  Other temporary differences mainly represent the deductible temporary differences
B PG 2 I R 48 S H A B S T 2k 2 AT g arising from the write down of inventory of properties, impairment loss of available-
T R 2E AT o for-sale investments and other expenses.

EZRE++_H=+—H - z’g% @ﬁjﬁ@j At 31 December 2009, the Group has unused tax losses of HK$511,560,000

}ﬂﬁlﬁ&iﬁpﬁ’ﬁﬁ5]1 560,000G ( - Z % J\4E ¢ (2008: HK$463,590,000) available for offset against future profits. HK$251,500,000

1 463,590,0007C ) FFEHESE H 1§ s A o FEIE (2008: HK$20,492,000) tax losses has been recognised as deferred taxation assets.

&5 8 5 5 251,500,000 7 ( - F VAR @ i No deferred taxation asset has been recognised on the remaining tax losses of

20,492,0007C) CLHERD Ay R AEBLIBE 7 o AN T HK$260,060,000 (2008: HK$443,098,000), as in the opinion of the directors of the

TR - BN GZEME N 7 H AR R B Company, the future profit streams of these subsidiaries are uncertain. The tax

ARHEE > WO L 260,060,000 70 ( —FF losses could be carried forward for a maximum of five years.

JNAE + i W0443,098,00070) 2 B T i JE s 1E A
FRIEIERIE S E o BT R R T A5 AR -

“RRIUEILER
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23.

YRER

23.

INVENTORY OF PROPERTIES

B YES
(G 7ES

Properties held for sale

Properties under development

T T ok aTH
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(&71) (#51)
(Restated) (Restated)
37,964,258 33,499,473 20,408,843
2,863,264 4,650,302 1,792,779
40,827,522 38,149,775 22,201,622

24.

WA AR R b > AR AT AR o B
TEHA R i o WA SE S R T T H R R 2
AT BAGFI R AR A B E A EE s
WO H B B B A o A R AL SRR R
EHIEAEE T AR A R BN Y A B
Ly it 15 29,642,921,000 76 ( & AR« i
30,841,278,0007C) ©

R (RE

24.

The inventory of properties were located in the Chinese Mainland under
medium-term lease. Inventory of properties which are expected to be recovered
in more than twelve months after the end of the reporting period are classified
under current assets as it is expected to be realised in the Group’s normal
operating cycle. The amounts of inventory of properties that are expected by the
management to be realised after more than twelve months after the end of the

reporting period are HK$29,642,921,000 (2008: HK$30,841,278,000).

OTHER INVENTORIES

JEA R Raw materials

THFE B A

Consumables and others

T T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(F 1) (E%1)
(Restated) (Restated)
52,677 57,877 26,515
2,929 3,510 11,073
55,606 61,387 37,588

“RT IR AR
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25. MEMURZK

At S R I S LA T

DEPOSITS PAID

25. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

T T i T T
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(FE51) (1)
(Restated) (Restated)
MR Trade receivables 1,166,551 1,194,439 645,434
B SRR Less: allowance for doubtful debts (349,661) (349,888) (328,707)
816,890 844,551 316,727
TER A A b (5 PR RE A 42 4 (Bt ) Deposits paid for acquisition of
land use rights (Note) 11,087,733 8,090,094 8,058,314
oAt BB A R TE Other receivables 1,340,710 773,459 876,502
W %Eﬁﬁﬁ Less: allowance for doubtful debts (362,577) (320,200) (258,445)
978,133 453,259 618,057
TEA 3 K v T 4 Prepayments and deposits 868,674 496,721 340,949
13,751,430 9,884,625 9,334,047
BAE 3 + 7 I SR B A A (A0 b R A b b e R Note:  The amount represents the partial payments made by the Group for the acquisition of

TR 490 2 5% e LR B 85 T S AT 9 3 43 I

AR IR o AR SR 5 R IR
RERE o 4 B TR E RO R+ A
AL R B A T HE R OT A 0 e <

8,135,123,0007C °

Hh 5 ) S 1) B A
£ o —JEIM = > W2 E FH I E W R UETE
30 H SRR B g A AR T £

W 05 4 SE I B NGRS > FH B SR < T
S5 KA R WCER SE R AT Bl T sl S A > AR
B — i B A PR AR B AS KI5 FE -

IH 4 I

Bk 1) e 32

land use rights in the Chinese Mainland for property development for sale. The land use

right certificates have not yet been obtained by the Group at the end of the reporting

period. The management expects the deposits paid that they would obtain the land use

right certificates in the coming twelve months after the end of reporting period are

HK$8,135,123,000.

Proceeds receivable in respect of sales of properties are settled in accordance
with the terms stipulated in the sale and purchase agreements. Generally,

purchasers of properties are required to settle the balance within 30 days as

specified in the sales and purchase agreements or not granted with any credit

period.

Except for the proceeds receivable from sales of properties, rental income from
lease of properties and proceeds from construction contracts which are payable

in accordance with the terms of the relevant agreements, the Group generally

allows a credit period of not exceeding 45 days to its customers.

SRR
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25, MEWCHRR ~ oAb BE WO IE R © AT &
(#8)
A WA B 2 1) B WA 47 8 4 B 5 75 01,798,000
TE(EE A« #6,215,0007T) > A BB
B8, > LEAR I R A A (R U A RO AT i ] o

ASEBTEHANE P AT > B RIS A AR 5 55T
il il £ Ay e B RO KR Sl L7 1R
PR F e S BRAE - 3 HAEH A R A
FE R o AR AR 2 SR EI A AR
B

DA 2 i SR S ) R i A

CL A1 R Rl 2 B R sk 4 e B 23 A

25.

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
DEPOSITS PAID (continued)

Retention receivables included in trade receivables amounted to HK$1,798,000
(2008: HK$6,215,000) are interest-free and receivable at the end of the retention

period of individual construction contracts.

Before accepting any customers, the Group uses an internal credit assessment
system to assess the potential customers’ credit quality and defines credit limits
by customer, and considers adequate allowance has been made at the end of the
reporting period. Balances which are neither past due nor impaired are all with

good credit quality.

The followings are the aged analysis of trade receivables at the end of the

reporting period:

Aged analysis of trade receivables net of impairment

Within one year

Over one year

T T ok aTH
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(F 1) (FE%1))
(Restated) (Restated)
612,871 638,381 199,331
204,019 206,170 117,396
816,890 844,551 316,727

A 0 0 P -2 B O K A R % 4
Br

Aged analysis of trade receivables which are past due
but not impaired

T T T T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
(FE51) (1)
(Restated) (Restated)
—4E R Within one year - 145,245 10,061
R —4F Over one year 153,468 96,905 91,744
153,468 242,150 101,805
7 4 [ 0 R ERAS R B EE HR AR (E Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with aggregate
153,468,0007C ( —FZ J\4E © ##242,150,0000 carrying amount of HK$153,468,000 (2008: HK$242,150,000) which are past due

JC) B BEMOIRAR > 3% 55 IEUUIR SR ol B
FUHD > M G FSI AR R TR © AR
OB RS R R O TR R
FZE AT HE

“RT IR AR
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at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided for impairment loss.
The Group has retained the legal ownership of the property sold to the property

buyer for overdue debtor balances.



AR R I T

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. MEWORSR - oAt ORI K AT 4 25.

TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

(#8)
A g B TSI 4 2 2 ) A 30 2
ﬁ?kﬁﬁm L@ 78 805 B ke — 48 ik
[E] °

AR TSP R T PO HE R B AL B - B
Wi B H A RE IR T A 5 B 7KF > 3l FLR8 A
G WIR BB IS ST 0« LUR Brs i 2 4uBR
WA F AR RENOR I AR B 7 - MESL LA M) (E
9 (L 1) LA B SR AR 0 BT AN

DA 7 40 IR s el (B 2 HL A RE IR TE
R T

DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
There are no fixed repayment term for other receivables and the Group considers
they are repayable on demand and will be recovered in one year from the date

of advance.

The Group assessed the credit quality of trade and other receivables based on
historical default rates and the repayment records and considered adequate
allowance has been made at the end of the reporting period. The aged analysis
of other receivables net of impairment presented below should be the same as

the ageing of other receivables past due but not impaired.

The following is an aged analysis of other receivables net of impairments at the

end of the reporting period:

A 1 W B T Other receivables
T T ok aTH
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
(F 1) (FE%1))
(Restated) (Restated)
—4E R Within one year 675,130 247,723 552,345
R —4F Over one year 303,003 205,536 65,712
978,133 453,259 618,057

R S R A LA 43 FIl B v HE 349,661,000 JG
Fe it 362,577,000 G ( - FE JUE -
349,888,000 7C K ¥ #320,200,000 75 ) A8 Al ik
IR R S A RN R T - 3% S5 B R
ORI B L A ] o AR NG SRR AT 5% A A
BRIGHEHR o LUTR Fb MBS 3R H A R i AR TE Y
ZEHREET) -

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade
receivables and other receivables of HK$349,661,000 and HK$362,577,000 (2008:
HK$349,888,000 and HK$320,200,000) respectively, which have been in severe
financial difficulties and irrecoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances. The followings are the movements in the accumulated

impairments for trade receivables and other receivables.

“RRIUEILER
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25. JEWEEZ - M BEWEE KOS 25. TRADE RECEIVABLES, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

(#8)
JFEE WA e 2 o M 4 £ 5 )

DEPOSITS PAID (continued)
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for trade
receivables

T T i T T
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(FE51) (1)

(Restated) (Restated)
R GERR Balance at the beginning of the year 349,888 328,707 308,913
[ifE b, 5] % Exchange realignment 49) 21,181 19,783
A TR e R 2 (RS 4R Impairment losses recognised for the year 342 - 11
L 488 n (B e 4R Impairment loss reversed (520) = _
SRR Gl Balance at the end of the year 349,661 349,888 328,707

JHL Al A0 R TR R 38 £ 2 ) Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts for other

receivables

BT T BT T BT T
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
#Hl)) (E41))
(Restated) (Restated)
R GER Balance at the beginning of the year 320,200 258,445 213,301
[ffE 5, 3 A Exchange realignment 5) 17,045 16,754
AE N RRERR 2 W (G 1R (BT Impairment losses recognised
for the year (Note) 42841 44,710 28,390
SEC MM oF Impairment loss reversed (459) = =
AR AR R Balance at the end of the year 362,577 320,200 258,445
BEGE © A% ORI i A T B O T R AR R ) Note:  The amount represented the partial impairment made for the loan advance to an

KT AN R B

“RT IR AR
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26. MEW(H) %P A4 TRRIE

26. AMOUNTS DUE FROM (TO) CUSTOMERS FOR
CONTRACT WORKS

BT BT BT
HK$ 000 HK$°000 HK$’000
Ak BIAR AR LA Contracts in progress at the end of
the reporting period
L8 AR 1 DR R4S i 8 R Contract costs incurred plus recognised
Thi A ek £ e SR S 1R profits less recognised losses 5,849,879 4,458,873 2,833,692
W HER Less: progress billings (5,942,839) (4,589,907) (2,767,156)
(92,960) (131,034) 66,536
R WAE T - Analysed for reporting purposes as:
JEU T 45 #) TRE 08 Amounts due from customers
for contract works 281,615 210,929 190,784
JERI %5 A 4 LA EIE Amounts due to customers
for contract works (374,575) (341,963) (124,248)
(92,960) (131,034) 66,536

REZEENFETZA=1—H BRURRNE
}EEJEA”JI&*#ﬁE’J{%"”‘E%%l 798,000
JC (TR - 15 %06,215,00000) o HAth
WEﬁEELEWEM&%ﬁE’JA%I%%%%k%%%
52 021 000G ( =& FE )4 - «%4‘6‘64 662,000
ﬁégfﬁzﬂﬁﬁg X NE+ A
:+*EI s B RLR P LA ) LA W
FREE 4 K B E P A 4 TRERGK > iR
WS T WA N EBL

27. %glﬂ%ﬁi%&ﬂ/ﬁ%@ﬂﬁ&ﬁ
A
T BHEE 2y A AT R SR I R A
RS AR T 8 H A m] o

28. ﬁﬁ&ﬁ& mnﬁ
B4 K 814 mﬁ@?ﬁﬁ? A 34 R 220,08 8
F 1350 (ZFEZ A ¢ 0.36)H £3.25)%) 5 A
Zﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmo

BaRMITH FEE 2 AHE AR
15,911,570,000 7t ( AH & it #s ¥ 18,071,407,000
J6) (ZFEE A AR 4,560,413,00070 (41
HOA T 5,180,173,00000) ) A RS FHE M &
17 e NRMER ] [ i S df o

27.

28.

At 31 December 2009, retentions held by customers for contract works included
in trade receivables amounted to HK$1,798,000 (2008: HK$6,215,000). Advances
received from customers for contract work included in other payables amounted
to HK$52,021,000 (2008: HK$64,662,000). At 31 December 2009 and 2008, the
management expects both the retentions held by customers for contract works
and advances received from customers for contract works will be realised within

twelve months after the end of the reporting period.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/
IMMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amounts are unsecured, trade in nature and recoverable within twelve

months after the end of the reporting period.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES
Cash and bank balances comprise short-term bank deposits carry interest at
prevailing deposit rates which range from 0.08% to 1.35% (2008: 0.36% to 3.25%)

per annum.

Included in cash and bank balances, there is a total balance amounting to
RMB15,911,570,000 (equivalent to HK$18,071,407,000) (2008: RMB4,560,413,000
(equivalent to HK$5,180,173,000)) denominated in RMB which is not a freely

convertible currency.

— B
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28. B4 MBRITHIAF () 28. CASH AND BANK BALANCES (continued)
4 RABRATEEAE AT B The cash and bank balances are denominated in the following currencies:
T T i T T
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(FE51) (1)
(Restated) (Restated)
e B4R A R RSN Hong Kong dollar (foreign currency of
the relevant group entity) 280,110 466,535 624,270
NG Renminbi 18,071,407 5,180,173 4,185,407
Em United States Dollar 1,160,586 10,545 20,567
HoAt Others 1,473 1,268 4,054
19,513,576 5,658,521 4,834,298
29. AR K B oA AT R I 29. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
T T T T
HK$ 000 HK$000 HK$°000
(FE51) (1)
(Restated) (Restated)
JREAT AR Trade payables 4,032,505 2,491,149 1,232,875
oA REA R TE K T Other payables and accrued charges 1,624,755 1,767,131 911,458
5,657,260 4,258,280 2,144,333
AR MR 2 EAT IR A Hran - The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting
period:
T T T it o T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
(FE51) (1)
(Restated) (Restated)
—A4E R Within one year 2,290,818 950,810 534,687
AR —4F Over one year 1,741,687 1,540,339 698,188
4,032,505 2,491,149 1,232,875
“RT IR AR
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30.

31.

32.

HEMECHEIRS

TARHR RS B &S AR 20+ A BB B
B B G ARSI 0 IE RS R > BT
B F 0 £ 1R o LG T D VT A I A R AR
Z i AR A B B SR i 159,582,166,000
TG FE AR - #sH323,453,0000C) °

HEAT 1) 2 i A W) A e A AL
AR

I ) 27 B 24 7 K 1 e M 2 0 kP 1 5
SHYEEL o AT BICHUHE R - S BL T 20 BRI
@@o@ﬁm%ﬁﬁ SR Y D BUROR AR
BEROBERK o BERCR SRHEHT - S0 B LR BRI
s -

ATAE B

30.

31.

32.

DEPOSITS RECEIVED FROM PRE-SALES OF PROPERTIES
The amounts which are expected to be realised in more than twelve months after
the end of the reporting period are also classified under current liabilities as it
is within the Group’s normal operating cycle. The amounts that are expected by
the management to be realised by more than twelve months after the end of the

reporting period are HK$9,582,166,000 (2008: HK$323,453,000).

AMOUNTS DUE TO FELLOW SUBSIDIARIES/IMMEDIATE
HOLDING COMPANY/MINORITY SHAREHOLDERS

The amounts due to fellow subsidiaries and immediate holding company are
trade in nature. The amounts are unsecured, interest free and repayable on
demand. The amounts due to minority sharcholders represent mainly the loan
advances from the minority shareholders, and which are unsecured, interest free

and repayable on demand.

BANK BORROWINGS

T T T
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$°000
#4)
(Restated)
AT HEH Secured 3,045,486 4,477,710 2,338,782
AHE AT Unsecured 24,413,296 16,615,282 13,121,642
27,458,782 21,092,992 15,460,424
AT B A 2 B Carrying amount repayable:
TR B — 4N On demand or within one year 1,827,206 4,062,895 2,712,212
—AELA BN A AR More than one year but not
exceeding two years 9,005,618 1,240,762 3,194,136
A DA FAROR A AR More than two years but not
more than five years 16,052,409 15,583,453 9,307,147
HAED B More than five years 573,549 205,882 246,929
27,458,782 21,092,992 15,460,424
B AR R AN Less: Amounts due within one year
FI| 3 > 2 IE shown under current liabilities (1,827,206) (4,062,895) (2,712,212)
25,031,576 17,030,097 12,748,212

“RRIUEILER
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32. ﬁﬁf?%ﬁ (#8) 32. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)
AAE 5] D) AT A A [ B o fe Bl LA 2 R The Group’s borrowings that are denominated in currencies other than the
(HZ ST - functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:
T T T ek T
HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$°000
e Hong Kong dollars 13,320,000 11,180,000 8,236,676

SRAT AR B 5 4% 7 X [ e AR R RS (K
TR AR K46 E ) FHE 2 B HE
5 W 14,138,782,000 76 ( =& F J\AE i i
9,912,992,0007G ) S 1% B FR A FI| 30,61 JH (%
FEE 1 1.33)H) *,u\&ﬁ?%‘%ﬁ Ir] 247 5
A T-0.275 B A2 1.05 8 (R F/NAE - FHER
TR SR E o, zsriossl“ ZA@M%%
B2 77 B %13,320,000,00070 ( = Z/\
AR H#5H11,180,000,0007T) o ARAEAH BH A B 7
TR > (E EEZE A SR B IR — St
% °

ASE A AR o T I A AR AR 2 AR
?ﬁi%%ﬂ—fa? TR AR i 36,000,000

o FHA 5 Fi BRAR R %’:mZ{% s A
%Iﬂé’ﬁ%‘w 570,000,0007C ( - Z %\ 4E « i
10,670,000,0007%) Z $R1F a%iﬁﬁa > e AR H
TE 3% 5 P 2B AN IR R A AR 7] BV BT AR
0359 o

— BRI
Annual Report 2009

Bank borrowings included fixed-rate borrowings of HK$14,138,782,000 (2008:
HK$9,912,992,000) which carry interest at average fixed rate of 5% per annum
(2008: 6.46% per annum) and variable-rate borrowings of HK$13,320,000,000
(2008: HK$11,180,000,000) which carried effective interest rate at 0.61% (2008:
1.33%) per annum and contractual interest at HIBOR plus a certain percentage
ranging from 0.275% to 1.05% (2008: HIBOR plus from 0.28% to 0.83%) per
annum. The borrowings are repayable by instalments or in a lump sum upon

maturity in accordance with the terms set out in the respective loan agreements.

Included in the borrowings of the Group above are unsecured loans amounting
to Nil (2008: HK$36,000,000) which were guaranteed by CRH. Also, in respect
of bank borrowings of the Group amounted to HK$10,570,000,000 (2008:
HK$10,670,000,000), in accordance with the terms of the respective loan
agreements, CRH is required to hold not less than 35% of the issued share capital

of the Company at any time during the period of the loans.
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33. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Derivatives under hedge accounting

33. fiepTH
W FH SR A AT AR TR

T T T T
HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
B4 it 3 b — 1| 2 1A Cash flow hedges - interest rate
(Fft5E) swaps (Note) (29,779) (42,832) =
oAt 1) 45 HA Other interest rate swaps (93,322) (94,092) -
(123,101 (136,924) -

A 7 T R A TR - AT
7 35 BT B4 50 BT 4R T A0 L8 0 £
it

Bl
AR SR TR A (R LA SR A - B
F 073 1 B M) A ARAT 5 S S AL ek
B B TCERAT 5 BER A SRR - 255
i 0 RO B GRAT A SRR O AR A > BRAS
ﬂi$aﬁ%#ﬂ$ﬁ%ﬁm§ﬁﬁ%%ﬁl
e S e = Y A RS
%%IE% KAFNWT

The above derivatives are measured at fair value which is estimated using
valuation technique with reference to interest yield and discounted cash flow

analysis.

Cash flow hedges

The Group uses interest rate swaps (net quarterly settlement) to minimise
its exposure to interest expenses of its floating-rate Hong Kong Dollar bank
borrowings by swapping a partial amount of the bank borrowings from floating
interest rates to fixed interest rates. The interest rate swaps and the corresponding
bank borrowings have the similar settlement periods and the directors of the
Company considered that the interest rate swaps are highly effective hedging
instruments. Major terms of the two interest rate swaps in both 2009 and 2008

are set out below:

P FH e8] EHpEA
Notional amount Maturity Swaps Hedged item

#:#500,000,0007C —E——MFNATEH U SR AT R 2697 . 2 2.95 )8 AT B #610,000,00070
HK$500,000,000 17 September 2013 From HIBOR to 2.95% Bank borrowings of HK$610,000,000
#:#500,000,0007C —E -4 NATEH U SR AT R 2E 97 . 23,005 AT B 1520,000,00070

HK$500,000,000 17 September 2013 From HIBOR to 3.00% Bank borrowings of HK$520,000,000

BEFaE - LA e S A Rl S A SR A (T

C it B ATl LA i F TSR T E

T = B E RS H R AR R

JRAC o A L P L S o T )

A (R A T L3 i Bl T £ G 56 - )

R e T AR TR B A HE A A KHBW%&EIE
i B A R TG SR

Note:  The measurement and assessment of the effectiveness of the above hedges as at
and for the year ended 31 December 2009 and 2008 have been carried out by
independent qualified professional valuers who are not connected with the Group
with appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
hedge effectiveness of derivatives. The hedge effectiveness was arrived at on the basis
of the measurement and assessment of the ability of the derivatives to offset changes

in cash flows attributable to the interest rate risk.

“RRIUEILER
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HK$500,000,000

33. fiA4m TH () 33.
ﬁﬂﬁ%ﬂ %éﬁﬂﬂ
AR BIE R RFNAE » RS EW e
%MEmﬂzﬁ%% KLU
| FHH
Notional amount Maturity
#57500,000,0007C ZEF—=FhAIJLH
HK$500,000,000 9 May 2013
#57500,000,0007C —“E—"4HAJH
HK$500,000,000 9 May 2012
#57500,000,0007C “E—"MEHHANH
HK$500,000,000 6 May 2012
#57500,000,0007C SR —AENA

11 April 2013

CERENFEF A= B B
) 25 4 U A7 2800 20 o T (L B B i R o

11,433,000 JC ( —

D BL& R B

TR 25 4w AT S50 000 I 1R O (B 5 B % U
36,259,00070) » i £ HoAth 4> T g A BERR S

%T“(M%{%;% ite AR

FUNF B 4 Ut 3 e 1)

RT3 AT (B 52 Bl Wi 4 23 W5 1,620,000 7T
?%/\@ B B 4 0 S i ) 36 4 4 4 2
ﬁﬁﬁ/\%ﬁ £ ) s 18 2% W 16,573,000 76 ) 2 7]
mﬂiﬁ%A¥ﬁ £ 55 0 5 25 s 770,000

e S

LA 5 i 1 2 S8 588 ) s

?E#w%%% 092,0007T) A H £ ¥ ¥ 2,390,000

T ZELNA

I8P B B 4R 3 T

100,665,000?5) FEASEA (CFFUE - R LR

FER)

— BRI
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DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Other interest rate swaps
The terms of other interest rate swaps in both 2009 and 2008 that are not

qualified for hedge accounting are disclosed below.

51

Swaps

o v SR AT IR S 8 223,408
From HIBOR to 3.40%
H A RAT ] S 7 5 383 308
From HIBOR to 3.30%
H A RAT ] S 7 5 583 38 )0
From HIBOR to 3.38%

H H A U RAT [ S 7 5 382,988

From HIBOR to 2.98%

As at 31 December 2009, the effective portion of the gain on changes in
fair value of the interest rate swaps under cash flow hedge amounted to
HK$11,433,000 (2008: the effective portion of the loss on changes in fair value of
the interest rate swaps under cash flow hedge amounted to HK$36,259,000) has
been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in hedging
reserve. During the year, the gain on changes in fair value of the ineffective
portion of the interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedge of HK$1,620,000
(2008: loss on changes in fair value of the ineffective portion of the interest rate
swaps designated as cash flow pledge of HK$6,573,000) together with the gain
on changes in fair value of other interest rate swaps of HK$770,000 (2008: loss
on changes in fair value of other interest rate swaps of HK$94,092,000), totalling
HK$2,390,000 (2008: loss on changes in fair value totalling HK$100,665,000) is
credited (2008: charged) to profit or loss.
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34. SHARE CAPITAL

34. A

P AR i H

Number of shares

JeA

Share capital

wHTT W% Tt WETT
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
PR T (FL P 0. 1070 2 T 4 e Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
HAE Authorised:
) At the beginning of the year 7,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 700,000 500,000 500,000
REZZ /) ELA A Increase on 14 July 2008
8 (k) (Note a) - 2,000,000000 - - 200,000 -
S At the end of the year 7,000,000,000 7,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 700,000 700,000 500,000
CEIT AR Issued and fully paid
) At the beginning of the year 4715346168 4025201318 3322815409 4715535 402,520 332,281
FiL & B (fY3ED) Placement of new shares (Note b) 300,000,000 ~ 400,000,000 30,000 = 40,000
T PR (B k) Exercise of share options (Note ¢)
(GLMEE3S) (see Note 35) 14,665,000 14,345,000 33,205,000 1,466 1435 3,330
{E By AR el B Issued in consideration for the
B A2 R E business combination involving
AT (Wit aEd) entities under common control
(Note d) - 675,799,850 269,090,909 - 67,580 26,909
AR At the end of the year 5030011168 4715346,168  4,025,201318 503,001 471,535 402,520
B Notes:
(a) TERENAELH A > AR E A P (@) On 14 July 2008, an ordinary resolution of the Company was passed to increase the

FRE 5 EIIEEE2,000,000,0008 5 H 10,10

TG I B 0 B > AR S ] I A R s T

500,000,000 JG 3 28 35 ¥5700,000,000 TG © % %5

igﬂ%ﬁ&%ﬁﬁéﬁﬂ%‘ﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁéﬁlﬂ%
F

b  ZEFFAELA AR AXF BT (O]

authorised share capital of the Company from HK$500,000,000 to HK$700,000,000 by
the creation of 2,000,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each. Such new shares
rank pari passu in all respects with the existing shares of the Company.

On 26 May 2009, the Company issued 300,000,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 to

(©

(d

300,000,000 /% 45 5% 1 {2075 W 0.1 1 38 2 i
AE 1 A B2 T8 0 Y 4 o BRI E 45 O T
I BRLEAT I 03 52 A7 (] S5 R

Eﬁq AR R R REAE AT (9517 14,665,000

JB (= FF\AE ¢ 14,345,000 1% ) 15 % 18 {1 7 i
0.17C W B o 309 K0 1 FRERE 1) 17 B A 7
JB s 120.96 0 B W 3.97 00 ( ZFF)\AE il
50,9670 B s 13.9770) o BT R E A5 T
B WA B0 2 A TR SRR o

CEE AL AN 5 A B I R IE
A2 1 A7 B2 ) (1 4R ) 2 G [R] #E oh)  p E
B AR G (R RE43 O L G R B8 1T
675,779,850 I 1 /% W0, LT i A g -

©

()

finance the Group’s working capital. The new ordinary shares rank pari passu with
the then existing shares in all aspects.

During the year, the Company issued 14,665,000 (2008: 14,345,000) ordinary shares of
HK$0.1 each upon exercise of share options. The exercise price of the share options
during the period ranges from HK$0.96 to HK$3.97 (2008: HK$0.96 to HK$3.97) per
share. The new ordinary shares rank pari passu with the then existing shares in all
aspects.

On 16 July 2008, 675,779,850 ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each were issued for the
acquisition of the Property Group (see note 43(a) for details of the Property Group)
of Smooth Day Group Limited, a group of combining entities under common control,
from CRH.

“RRIUEILER
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35. B

A FTRCATIRHER 1 - BN ATt ]+ B £
02 B BN R LR » DL N AL
ey

AT BIFE A T P SRR BRI A AR
EXEPAIT SN ARl Fd ¢ s
g S G S BB R EZ%?AQ
2 EE QAR RITRIEPITES S AL
AL B - BUTESORITE SR 2
FEZALM R REZ dE A 5 ARSEE 2 SRR -
SRR ] B FC A ) AT AT AT BN BRI 5 AR
DN ARG WS FIAT B o R
W5 AN T2 H S TEUEE B T2 TROR A T
BANCA R EE AR B - Bt #] 2 AT
FEMARFEREE > AGRAUT =42
B {E AR RO TE I RS th 5 B 2 il
T8~ TR AE B IR L i A 3
T S T l“ilﬁ{ﬂﬁﬁ%%f%']
i r'ﬁi T8 2 T A B TR RETT T RE AT 2 T
1y 8% 1§$E%¥ﬁﬁiJﬂ%ﬁfxﬂjZE?ﬁF§
Hxﬁ‘éﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁ%? T2 B A AR B 45 B BB AR
BT TR 0 A > 3 AR R IR b T
HIBrHERFZ EBR -

FREZ T HT T A R 2 AR 2
A NRA > AT A B e AR
TR o JITd s W RRE V) S S AT e
A HERY G R E o (PR RS M S T ) Ey R B R A
P2 HEIRRE 2 B AE ST 43 Al A4S R 2 Y 47 1+
AR o i AR B A e M B O T R B AR SR - B
JITRE Y BRI REAS 5 0 o IR F R NAFE+ A
= H o REHEE B O R AR T 2
FUE R 1) R R 3 T 521,362, 5008 (/A
4F 1 36,027,5008¢) » MHE AL RlE H 28T
JBe530.45% (—ZFE A+ 0.76%)
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35.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES
The Company operates share option schemes for the purpose of promoting
additional commitment and dedication to the objectives of the Company by

participants, namely the “New Scheme”.

The New Scheme refers to the share option scheme adopted by the Company
which was approved by the shareholders in general meeting on 31 January
2002. The board of directors may grant options to eligible participants, including
executive or non-executive directors of the Company, any discretionary object
of a discretionary trust established by any employee, executive or non-executive
directors of the Company, any executives and employees of consultants,
professional and other advisors to the Group, chief executive, substantial
shareholder of the Company, associate companies of the Group, associates
of directors, chief executive and substantial shareholder of the Company, and
employees of substantial shareholder. The exercise price of the share option
under the New Scheme is determined by the directors of the Company, and will
not be less than the higher of the closing price of the Company’s shares on the
date of grant, the average closing price of the shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant, and the nominal value of the share.
The total number of shares that may be issued upon the exercise of all options
granted and yet to be exercised under the New Scheme and the maximum
number of shares that may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted
thereunder and the maximum entitlement of each participant under the New
Scheme is respectively, equivalent to the maximum limit permitted under the

prevailing Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options under the New Scheme may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of the offer together with the payment of HK$1 in
total by the grantee. The vesting and exercise period of the share options granted
is determinable at the entire discretion of the board of directors with the vesting
period not exceeding four years and the exercise period will not exceed a period
of ten years immediately after acceptance of grant. Options are lapsed if the
employee leaves the Group before the options vest. At 31 December 2009, the
number of shares in respect of which options had been granted and remained
outstanding under the New Scheme was 21,362,500 (2008: 36,027,500) shares,
representing 0.45% (2008: 0.76%), respectively, to the shares of the Company in

issue at that date.
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35. RERREETS) (48) 35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
SR ER B (BIEES) AR 7 AR The following tables disclose details of the Company’s share options held by
1 S ARAEJE 2 S ) - employees (including directors) and movements in such holdings during the
year:
igitiE
Number of share options
S
J# ZEEIE
Bk ZEEIE +=A
Tr{EfE —A—R R FRTHE FRKE =R
Exercise o J& 1) 1T AT Granted Exercised Lapsed M ARATE
i B price Vesting Exercisable Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant ~ per share period period at 1.1.2009 the year the year the year  at 31.12.2009
koo
HK$
it 04/03/2002 1.590 05/03/2002t0  04/03/2002 to 1,950,000 - (250,000) - 1,700,000
New Scheme 01/01/2005 03/03/2012
07/10/2002 0.960 08/10/2002 to 07/10/2002 to 1,180,000 = (530,000) = 650,000
05/01/2005 06/10/2012
28/04/2004 1.040 28/04/2004 to 28/04/2004 to 2,440,000 = (975,000) = 1,465,000
01/01/2007 27/04/2014
29/04/2005 1.420 29/04/2006 to 29/04/2005 to 4,632,500 = (2,495,000) = 2,137,500
29/04/2009 28/04/2015
01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 01/06/2005 to 3,275,000 = (1,250,000) = 2,025,000
01/06/2009 31/05/2015
02/06/2005 1.270 02/06/2005 to 02/06/2005 to 150,000 = (150,000) = =
02/06/2009 01/06/2015
27/06/2005 1.340 27/06/2006 to 27/06/2005 to 200,000 = (200,000) o o
27/06/2009 26/06/2015
03/01/2006 3.225 03/01/2007 to 03/01/2006 to 17,725,000 o (7,190,000) = 10,535,000
03/01/2010 02/01/2016
17/02/2006 3.965 17/02/2007 to 17/02/2006 to 1,625,000 = (625,000) = 1,000,000
17/02/2010 16/02/2016
26/06/2006 3.580 26/06/2007 to 26/06/2006 to 2,850,000 o (1,000,000) = 1,850,000
26/06/2010 25/06/2016
36,027,500 = (14,665,000) = 21,362,500
SRR A A7 Exercisable at the end of the year 14,037,500
TR 47 i Weighted average exercise price 2.54 = 2.50 - 2.57

“RRIUEILER
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35. WEBAEEHE () 35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
igitiE
Number of share options
S
S e <IN
g53ile ZERINE +=4
Fr{EfE —A—R R FRTHE S FRKE =t—R
Exercise o &1 1T AT Granted Exercised Lapsed M ARATE
i B price Vesting Exercisable Outstanding during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant ~ per share period period at 1.1.2008 the year the year the year  at 31.12.2008
koo
HK$
it 04/03/2002 1.590 05/03/2002t0  04/03/2002 to 4,990,000 - (3,040,000) - 1,950,000
01/01/2005 03/03/2012
New Scheme 07/10/2002 0.960 08/10/2002 to 07/10/2002 to 1,200,000 - (20,000) - 1,180,000
05/01/2005 06/10/2012
28/04/2004 1.040 28/04/2004 to 28/04/2004 to 3,295,000 - (855,000) - 2,440,000
01/01/2007 27/04/2014
29/04/2005 1.420 29/04/2006 to 29/04/2005 to 5,812,500 - (1,180,000) - 4,632,500
29/04/2009 28/04/2015
01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 01/06/2005 to 5,000,000 - (1,725,000) - 3,275,000
01/06/2009 31/05/2015
02/06/2005 1.270 02/06/2005 to 02/06/2005 to 250,000 = (100,000) - 150,000
02/06/2009 01/06/2015
27/06/2005 1.340 27/06/2006 to 27/06/2005 to 400,000 = (200,000) - 200,000
27/06/2009 26/06/2015
03/01/2006 3.225 03/01/2007 to 03/01/2006 to 24,700,000 = (6,975,000) = 17,725,000
03/01/2010 02/01/2016
17/02/2006 3.965 17/02/2007 to 17/02/2006 to 1,875,000 = (250,000) = 1,625,000
17/02/2010 16/02/2016
26/06/2006 3.580 26/06/2007 to 26/06/2006 to 2,850,000 - - - 2,850,000
26/06/2010 25/06/2016
50,372,500 - (14,345,000) = 36,027,500
SRR A AT Exercisable at the end of the year 14,595,000
VRS- 47 i Weighted average exercise price 2.48 = 2.33 - 2.54

TR IUF AR
1 52 Annu al Report 2009
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35. MERREEEE (4) 35. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)
b F AN T EE T A RO A A AR B 2 Details of the movements of the share options during the year held by the
BEEE R - directors of the Company included in the above table are as follows:
igitiE
Number of share options

it & i
9 “EENF it
RN —“A—R R AT AERRA =t—H
Exercise i & 1 {0 i AT Granted Exercised Lapsed WARIT
B AW price Vesting Exercisable Outstanding during during during HHE Outstanding
Date of grant per share period period at 1.1.2009 the year the year the year  Reallocation  at 31.12.2009

T (BifE)

HK$ (Note)

it Bl
New Scheme 01/06/2005 1230 01/06/2005 to 01/06/2005 to 1,650,000 = (250,000) = (900,000) 500,000
01/06/2009 31/05/2015
AELR ] [T Exercisable at the end of the year 500,000
IRETH AT 1E Weighted average exercise price 123 - - - 123 1.23
iR e
Number of share options

S SN
L “ERAE =
L —A—H  FRiR WATRE AR =t—H
Exercise b E%ﬁ il AT Granted Exercised Lapsed WAL
ErGiEh price Vesting Exercisable Outstanding during during during £ i Outstanding
Date of grant per share period period at 1.1.2008 the year the year the year  Reallocation  at 31.12.2008

o (H5E)
HK$ (Note)
Hil 1
New Scheme 01/06/2005 1.230 01/06/2005 to 01/06/2005 to 1,650,000 = = = = 1,650,000
01/06/2009 31/05/2015
ARSI AT AT Exercisable at the end of the year 1,275,000
THEF- 217 A8 Weighted average exercise price 1.23 - - - - 1.23
BRGE < T JBORE #8720 0 Y 8] S IR RE AT AT A AR B Note:  The reallocation of options arose when the option holders changed their positions in

A5 A2 2 o 200 25 0 4 o O
TR o 47 S L A 7 46 1
s -

the Company from directors to employees or vice versa during the year. The options

were granted to them in previous years.

— B
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35.

36.

37.

i Rt 2 (28

RN E @%h@ﬂ ﬁa%zm%¥wkﬁ
Ty 14,2000 (B UE © #12.9000)
%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁh@z%@% F=FEPAE &
THE » B 25%%33.33% R

BECEZEZNET A=+ —BIREE A4
Hﬁ%$“ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%&%%iﬁ?%%%
3,033,0007C ( & Z/\4E : #%57,.835,00070) °

WL 1) B A7 S8 D it 381 P e B A
TEFETH=ZTHHRMBE ] - ARF
TR A BR A e 7 B B3 (T 5H 380 )) > AR
H%@%wﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁom%%%%%

s ARNTFIREST AR RE > 2wt AP R R I AR
1£ﬁmﬂﬂﬁﬁ%%&hﬁ%%&{oﬁ
B > ZHAARIEFH A 75 0 E A
123,958,000 B ( —Z % J\4E 1 19,900,000 B )
18 % %5 196,736,000 70 ( = Z )\ AF - #iF
162,242,0007C) 9 A RE CL 81 TR A > EL3If 20 1)
A S BT A HAt & s 2 BUE 52 AT AR 473 48
o

WAL Ji— [ Y 2 ]
BEZZNET-HA=+—HIL®E
BE

ATERAAET A= RN F LA
18 % W 1,578,864,000 7 » A3 Bl 4 5 30Hs W
349,255,000 G M & B BT W T 2 B 65 U N
1,229,609,0007C » [H M 375 = it & 1
55 it BREE A IR A (TL R E 4 ) 23 2 384T
B o bt e e s R A E > HEERE
bt S e RS -

PR T Y R A T R A (i AL
SETERMLL - SR A MR 2 S

— BRI
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35.

36.

37.

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (continued)

In respect of the share options exercised during the year, the weighted average
share price at the dates of exercise is HK$14.29 (2008: HK$12.90). All options
were granted with a vesting period of three to four years and 25% to 33.33% of

which would be vested annually after the grant date.

The Group recognised the total expense of approximately HK$3,033,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: HK$7,835,000) in relation to share options
granted by the Company.

SHARES HELD FOR RESTRICTED SHARE AWARD SCHEME
On 30 May 2008 (the “Adoption Date”), a Restricted Share Award Scheme
(the “Scheme”) was adopted by the Company. The Scheme shall be valid and
effective for a period of 10 years commencing from the Adoption Date. Pursuant
to the rules of the Scheme, the Company has set up a trust with a trustee
company, BOCI - Prudential Trustee Limited, for the purpose of administering
the Scheme and holding the shares. Under the Scheme, a total cumulative issued
shares of 23,958,000 (2008: 19,900,000) amounting to HK$196,736,000 (2008:
HK$162,242,000) were purchased by the trustee from market and no shares
reward have been granted to employees or any other eligible participants up to

the end of the reporting period.

ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY
For the year ended 31 December 2009

On 30 November 2009, the Company acquired 100% of the entire issued share
capital of b 5T & 16 5 b 7 B8 A PR A (b5t & 127 from an independent
third party for a total consideration of HK$1,578,864,000 including the cash
payment of HK$349,255,000 and the settlement of the acquiree’s liabilities of
HK$1,229,609,000. b5t &1 is a property development company engaged in the

property development business in Beijing.

Since the main tangible asset of JL 5t &1 is a property development site in Beijing,

the acquisition of which has been accounted for as acquisition of assets.
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37. WO IR 2w ()
BE_ZZNET A= HILE
JE(#8)

25 h B O R TR AT

37. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2009 (continued)

The net assets acquired in the transaction are as follows:

T TT
HK$000
JIT IR E TR Net assets acquired:
W2 ~ s Bkt Property, plant and equipment 989
IRIER T Deferred taxation assets 1,221
LUE Y8 Inventory of properties 1,569,176
oAb B A R TE Other receivables 6,803
W& FARITEE AT Cash and bank balances 737
JREASH A IE Taxation payable (62)
1,578,804
HARAELA T 5 AT Total consideration satisfied by:
Blad Cash consideration paid 1,578,864
WA T 7 A B 4 0 o R Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
BB Cash consideration paid (1,578,864)
TS R IR 4 S BRAT H A Cash and bank balances acquired 737
(1,578,127)

38. BARAME
7 4 T ) S L T M 4R 160 SRAT A AR
SRATHE ) S8 1 B R o5 AT B AR 3
BRBMR LR o WERS MRS
HZATHEEREK -

38.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Guarantees are given to banks with respect to loans procured by the purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Such guarantees will be released by banks upon
the delivery of the properties to the purchasers or completion of the relevant
mortgage properties registration. In the opinion of directors, the fair value of the

financial guarantee contracts is not significant.

“RRIUEILER
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39. FRif 39. COMMITMENTS
| w 2008
BT BT
HK$°000 HK$°000
R ERE TR AR Capital and development expenditure in respect of
féZIS&% JEEH S the acquisition of construction in progress and inventory
of properties:
EAJT%/] IE*EA,.V]:A H %*&%ﬁﬁ Contracted for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 1,129,389 1,625,653
7 R 5 B -t fof P 2 At 4 Other commitment in respect of the acquisition of
land use rights 3,724,089 4,975,680
40. EIEMARYE 40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT
LR AR Ry AR AL The Group as lessee
B2 s > Minimum lease payments paid under operating leases during the year in respect
AR FZ A 2 AR 4 JE%W/\%%%EﬁZE
AR 4 2 W5 11,928,00000 (= Z ) \4F i of office premises was HK$11,928,000 (2008: HK$9,097,000).
9,097,0007T) °
% B ] 7 S R R AR B DA A 0 e T 2 S e R At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for future
S A 2 RAR B AR BAYE T minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases which fall due as
follows:
s T T
HK$'000 HK$’000
—4ER Within one year 13,323 13,433
BB AR (A E R W) In the second to fifth year inclusive 21,361 19,973
HFE%E Over five years 1,340 2,681
30,024 306,087
A AR AR I T IR B R 2 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of
Tl o AT 4% — 2 AR B > a7 its office premises. Leases are negotiated mainly for an average term of one year
TR AR E o to five years and rentals are fixed for an average of two years.

“RT IR AR
1 56 Annual Report 2009
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B IEMA RIS (E) 40. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENT (continued)
AEEVEE BN The Group as lessor
ZRAE 2 W 2 A A 5 5909,3 23,000 Property rental income earned during the year was HK$909,323,000 (2008:
TR \AE ¢ EHE811,683,00000) o Lali4r HK$811,683,000). Included above, there was contingent rental income of
LG BUR AL AU A H94,407,0000C (& Z HK$94,407,000 (2008: HK$76,389,000). The contingent rental for certain
JVAE - #E1576,389,00000) © #5 T3 2 BUSR A properties was determined by a certain percentage of turnover. The properties
SIS T AN L E - AEFEFERE held by the Group for rental purpose have committed tenants for periods which
W HEC B EFT AP — B LA - ranged from one to seven years.
A AE [H A R OR B B B 5T 52 LA R AR At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with tenants for the
HaZ A - following future minimum lease payments:
T T
HK$000 HK$°000
—AFE R Within one year 673,395 500,858
BB R (B E R W) In the second to fifth year inclusive 1,108,382 514,941
K% Over five years 1,147,673 999,464
2,929,450 2,015,263
A 41. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
B > A T 1 SRATHEAE LN B At the end of reporting period, the Group had pledged the following assets to
VE R AR S B M — P AR A T Rl 2 K4 - banks as securities against general banking facilities granted to the Group:
T BT
HK$°000 HK$°000
FEY) Investment properties 10,898,561 8,208,013
TEAH B 30E Prepaid lease payments - 439,196
L/E BN Y& 4] Property, plant and equipment - 308,443
YRS Inventory of properties 2,900,054 2,400,921
13,798,615 11,356,573

“RRIUEILER
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42, JBRARFEA

(€))

i

A5 W BE A AR B 2 SR R MR A R
FHE(TRAE R E ) o A FE A AR
R PR LN T B w6 0] 1 AT S
ARETE] o IR E FAA > R TR
1R B R S soetibak > BT b
PR % 154 I SV ¥1,0007C © MRS R
T DL B A AR R X B N F
FESTBARRA

AEECEENAFET A=+ B IR
BER > ASE B vt B4 1 3 B 4R AR 2R
FHBR 2 BRI AR S AR T
IR R I AT b e i) R 2 sk
HaE

42.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

(@)

Hong Kong

The Group participate in a mandatory provident fund scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) for its employees in Hong Kong. MPF Scheme is a defined
contribution scheme in accordance with the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme Ordinance. Under the rules of MPF Scheme, the employer and its
employees are required to contribute 5% of the employees’ salaries, up
to a maximum of HK$1,000 per employee per month. The assets of MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the group companies in an

independently administered fund.

During the year ended 31 December 2009, the total amounts contributed
by the Group to the scheme in Hong Kong and charged to profit or loss
represent contributions to the scheme by the Group at rates specified in

the rules of the scheme are as follows:

T

AR th F [ R AR R AN BR 2 Bk A

Amount contributed and charged to profit or loss

BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
1,055 1,058

() FEAH

AR A [T A A b 2 A8 B B P A A%
b7 B SR 0 B 5 BB (AR R
ZINE o ASEE EEHRS B A AR 4
st ER > ERmAE S &4 o
AR k% S B 2 M — AT R AR
TEHERR o

AR A b At i v R 2 )
IR RINBR Z BAAI T

(b)

Chinese Mainland

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are members of
state-managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the respective
local government in the Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to
contribute a specified percentage of payroll costs to the schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to these

schemes is to make the specified contributions.

The total cost charged to profit or loss in respect of the above-mentioned

schemes in the Chinese Mainland during each of the years are as follows:

AR th I [ R R AN BR 2 o3

Amount contributed and charged to profit or loss

T BT
HK$ 000 HK$°000
(E%1))
(Restated)
61,202 44,826

“RT IR AR
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43. BEALRS

(@)

LN P el /A
25

DA 75 74 412 [ A A A 18 B TR W) 2 I
F W 2 R EAT 2 HEOR BN 232 5 B
i

43.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries/holding
companies

The following is a summary of the significant related party transactions
entered into by the Group with its holding company and fellow

subsidiaries during the year:

L g B s
Rental and

management fees received

I N

i (L) A FRA ]

22 (A R

2 1 T HEIRAT PR A 7]

AT A (SR ) AT BRA 7]

22 {8 5 IR

TRINAHRAET

22 I AL I ()
AR 7

China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited

China Resources Company
Limited

China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited

China Resources Textiles
(Holdings) Company Limited

China Resources Vanguard
Company Limited

Shenzhen Kapok Hotel

China Resources Snow

Breweries Limited

Bz T IT T T
Relationship HK$°000 HK$°000
EEER A A

Immediate holding company 4,454 10,665
o A

Intermediate holding company 6,579 -
[Fi] 2 Bt g 22w

Fellow Subsidiary 6,252 4,420
[Fi] 2% Bt g 22w

Fellow Subsidiary 4,258 3,970
[Fi] 2% Bt g 22w

Fellow Subsidiary 7,837 7,246
[Fi] 2% Bt 22 7

Fellow Subsidiary 6,182 6,106
[Fi] 2% Bt 22 7

Fellow Subsidiary 3,424 3,078

MOEESUENAZH > REFLE 4
A5 5 15 3,680,400,000 7T [ 2 T8 4 [ 4
g ) T S e i o [ 2 ) T R ek
BB A T 2 RFEBATI’A ik H
Mg rER AR HEEEER
ATE B MR o R P AR
R LB PO THE - TR P IE
B~ bt #E R EUE T8 B KA it I
H o

On 3 September 2009, the Group acquired 100% of the entired issued
share capital of Day Rejoice and its subsidiaries, a group of combining
entities under common control, from Central New, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH, through cash payments of HK$3,680,400,000 as
consideration. Day Rejoice is an investment holding company and
its principle assets are its indirect interest in the project sites which
comprised the Shenyang City Crossing Site, Shenyang Tiexi Site, Beijing

China Resources Hotel Site and Fuzhou Hongwan Site located in the PRC.

— B
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43. BEALRS (H)
(@ HFERNEAFERAFEZ

R 5 (#8)
ZEFNELHFNE > AREE g
THAE B 2 WA 2 W B /A 7l Gain Ahead
Wi i A7 (7] 2 il 2 5 1 27 8 MBS 1)
HLFfF 2 T AR B AT AR o BJIESE
BB BR AR > F B A Hih
)Y 285 7 b 3L (LT 7 7 v 0 A it 22
e FEEEIE H ~ dbnt KBUEH -~ R
WH -~ EREEH - B THEWEE KK
MEEEEE (TWEEE])) s RGDTE
R 2] A b AR A UL S st S (T4
RS ) 2 B A - U EIEA BIE
2 2 #15197,000,00070 2 Bl 4 11 3K
Bk ARG e T E s 12,0608 (AH
E ) AR A A SRR R A O 2 R
5 R T VR (E) B TR W8, 347,146,000
TCZ.675,799,850 ¢ A L o

9% 5 T o T TR AR ) A N mD A
s %@%ﬁﬁi*%%A$+*H
Z— B IR 2 BB AR AR D R

¥ 23,200,0000C © #E ??AE+4
A=A — B IR AR ST 2 B AR
2 W5 123,955,000 00 - R ZFE )\
AR B A 2 Ml o

TERENEF—H ANAH S ALFEB
RAEER 17T B BB (g 2 2
Wi Jed 2 70 ) Wi 1 % SR ) 2 o 2 DF
Bridge Win Investments Limited ([ Bridge
Win J) B B g 23 R 22 A0 2 AT A -
Bridge Win/# B EHE AR » HEEE
FE o AR A A R S A R A R
Z80%BetE AL Bt R MR G A PR A
FBLRF TS A TG B > H AR ER AL I
P E o
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(@)

Transactions with fellow subsidiaries/holding
companies (continued)

On 16 July 2008, the Group acquired 100% of the entire issued share
capital of Smooth Day Group and its subsidiaries, a group of combining
entities under common control, from Gain Ahead, a wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRH. Smooth Day Group is an investment holding company
and its principal assets are its indirect interests in (i) the property
development sites which comprise the Beijing Mentongou site, the
Beijing Daxing site, the Wuhan site, the Chongqing site, the Shenyang
Dingxianghu site and the Dalian Xinghaiwan site located in the Chinese
Mainland (the “Property Group”); and (ii) the furniture manufacturing
and sale business in the Chinese Mainland (the “Furniture Group”).
The considerations include cash payments of HK$197,000,000 for the
Furniture Group and issue of 675,799,850 ordinary shares at issue price of
HK$12.06, which was equivalent to the carrying values of the net assets
of the Property Group prior to common control combination per share,

totalling HK$8,347,146,000.

Pursuant to the sale and purchase agreement, CRH had provided
guarantee to the Company that the net profit after taxation of the
Furniture Group for the year ended 31 December 2008 would not be less
than HK$23,200,000 on a dollar-to-dollar basis. The profit after taxation
of the Furniture Group in 2008 was HK$23,955,000 for the year ended 31
December 2008, and no compensation was receivable from CRH in 2008

accordingly.

On 28 November 2008, the Group also acquired 100% of the entire issued
share capital of Bridge Win Investments Limited (“Bridge Win”) and its
subsidiaries, a group combining entities under common control, from
Central New, a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRH, for a consideration of
HK$1. Bridge Win is an investment holding company and its principal
asset is the indirect 80% equity interest in Beijing American Club Co., Ltd.,
which was currently inactive and its principal activity in the future would

run the entertainment business.
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43, BHEANLR S ()
(b) FEEMHABZM4E

ALY T H B H AL L2 BN B AR R
R

43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key

management during the year was as follows:

T

i 14 8 A A
e 2 A )
DA AR ARl

Short-term employee benefits
Post-employment benefits

Share-based payment

BT BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
10,377 6,120
436 204
- 341
10,813 6,755

©

AN R H g EATEON B 2 Y
HrINZE B K85 R 3R B T 45 R B
R E o

SR o P b 3 i [ 55K 7 )
2R/ Kk

A% 7 o R 5 ) B A
ﬂ%%(@%ﬁﬁﬁ%Jwiﬁﬁﬁ%
SR FE AL - eAh - ARSI
ﬂ¢lﬁﬁ%§ﬁ2¢;g@@?~@
BB REMA R Z W5 -

R £S04k > ARG IR BELE A
I T AR AT 3R T - B A
SR W SEB IR > R SR
FAE T B R SL A =TT o

() ASEE B ETE AR B T
Jig 1 % ) L 2 SRAT S 4
WHRISLE T A& 5 WA A7 UK
T A ROEAT A — B SR AT Al
B oo SNRZSF AT S 2R
A B A 8 S 4 R

G ALEEEEF R ET R E
22y o T SRR AR T
Sy - MR 2 &) 2 75 BLH A
B R R EA T AT AT -

©

The remuneration of directors of the Company and key executives
is determined by the remuneration committee having regard to the

performance of individuals and market trends.

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities in the Chinese Mainland

The Group operates in an economic environment currently predominated
by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled by the PRC
government (“state-controlled entities”). In addition, the Group itself is
part of a larger group of companies under CRNC which is controlled by

the PRC government.

Apart from the disclosure in (a) above, the Group also conducts business
with other state-controlled entities. The directors consider those state-
controlled entities are independent third parties so far as the Group’s

business transactions with them are concerned.

G

o

The Group has entered into various transactions, including certain
deposits placements, borrowings and other general banking
facilities, with certain banks and financial institutions which are
stated-controlled entities in its ordinary course of business. In
view of the nature of those banking transactions, the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that separate disclosure would

not be meaningful.

(ii) The Group has sales and purchases transactions with customers
and suppliers, in which the directors of the Company are of the
opinion that it is impracticable to ascertain the identity of the
counterparties and accordingly whether the transactions are with

other state-controlled entities.

“RRIUEILER
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44. [E AT BB A 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES
(@) AR TFEME A TR ZEF AR (a)  Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 December
FRNET A= +— B Z &R 2009 and 2008 are set out as follows:
o
EBITRA H R ARRA L
RE A 2 T CEfTRA
Nominal value R A T L
of issued Proportion of nominal
B 2 W 4 share capital/ value of issued share capital/ FEEL
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AAF BEAR AAR WEAT

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

T T

ERPLEE IR AT A W) ([ ER T ) 76,0003 7C 100% - 100% - g eidile
Strong Foundation Developments Limited US$76,000 Investment holding

(“Strong Foundation”)

ERE R (L) A RA A (H3Ee) NG - 99.8% = 99.8% L7ES gt
(note ¢) 900,000,00075 Property management
RMB900,000,000

Boom Go Group Limited (“Boom Go”) EH 100% - 100% = BEER
Us$11 Investment holding

Best Hope Group Limited (“Best Hope”) 13570 - 100% - 100% Eila=edive
US$1 Investment holding

Big Leap Group Limited (“Big Leap”) 1% - 100% = 100% Eira=¥Lde
US$1 Investment holding

Direct Win Group Limited (“Direct Win") i - 100% - 100% *&ﬁ#}%
US$1 Investment holding

Bright Choice Group Limited (“Bright Choice”) 1%t - 100% = 100% B
US$1 Investment holding

King Role Limited (“King Role”) 3%ETC 100% - 100% = PeBEm
US$3 Investment holding

Cosmart Resources Limited (“Cosmart”) Ve - 100% - 100% BB
Us$2 Investment holding

Kennex Enterprises Limited (“Kennex”) i - 100% - 100% *&ﬁ#}%
US$1 Investment holding

Charm Oak Enterprises Limited (“Charm Oak”) 1% - 100% = 100% Eira=¥Lde
US$1 Investment holding

Charmlink Resources Limited (note €) FE AW - 100% - - il gddila
HK$1 Investment holding

“RT IR AR
162 Annual Report 2009



A U 2 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. Mj‘)% VS E‘] ;ﬁi%ﬁ%é}ﬁj (ﬁg ) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
EETRA BRI AFRAZ
SR A T (E EETIRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

I R R

of issued
share capital/

registered capital

AT
Company

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by
WHAT A

Subsidiaries Company

)l

Subsidiaries

ES 3

Principal activities

Megapower Resources Limited (“Megapower”) 178 - 100% - 100% Eva=edive
US$1 Investment holding
JEATHE R A R A R (FFREd) 12,000,003 7C - 100% = 100% WG
(note d) US$12,000,000 Properties investment
b e A AT PR A 7 (B aEd) 370,00055 7T - 100% - 100% L/E Xl
(note d) US$370,000 Property management
e E A (AL A R A A (BfEa) N - 96.24% - 96.07% Ba IR R R
(note a) 1,300,000,0007% Investment holding and
RMB1,300,000,000 property development
e P B (L) A A N - 96.24% - 96.07% YEEH
AR (ME3ED) (note b) 5,000,0007C Property management
RMBS5,000,000
b A S D N - 96.24% = 96.07% e
HBREAEA A (FFED) (note b) 264,329,3607C Property development
RMB264,329,360
Je o ZE R e s Hu e B NG - 96.24% = 96.07% LIS
HBRA T (FEED) (note b) 180,000,0007C Property development
RMB180,000,000
Tt e 0 5 7 B A PR A R 10,000,00037C - 96.24% - 96.07% VES Y
(BffEb) (note b) US$10,000,000 Property development
e HIR Bt A PR E AT A ] (ME5ED) N - 96.24% = 96.07% BRI
(note b) 2,000,0007C Electrical engineering
RMB2,000,000

“RRIUEILER
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44, Pﬁ‘)ﬁ/A\ E‘I kd Hﬁﬁ%é\\ﬁj (ﬁg ) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
CETA AN R Z
RE g A 2 ERITRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

of issued Proportion of nominal

ES 3

Principal activities

W e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

share capital/ value of issued share capital/

registered capital registered capital held by

AAF L WEAR AAR WEAT

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

I N T

b s AR AT A B A WD (B kD) NG - 96.24% - 96.07% L/ES el
(note b) 500,0007C Property agency
RMB500,000
Jb R S NG - 96.24% - 96.07% L4
ARFAEA T (HEe) (note o 1,000,000,0007C Property development
RMB1,000,000,000
Jem bl I e B NG - 77% - 76.86% L4
HBRA R (FiffEc) (mote o 28,000,0007T Property development
RMB28,000,000
I (L) A PR A (FitEd) 40,000,000% 75 - 100% - 100% LIE 214
(note d) 1US$40,000,000 Properties investment
He B (L) A R A (M 5Ed) 21,000,00035 7 - 100% - 100% LIES9
(note d) US$21,000,000 Property development
e E M (L) Y2 A R A 150,000 70 - 100% = 100% LIE X $i
(BffEd) (note ) US$150,000 Property management
T (G A PR A (it Ed) ##400,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE 214
(note d) HK$400,000,000 Properties investment
GRYIFERY LA PR A A (Ed) NG - 100% = 100% /LB
(note d) 5,000,0007C Property management
RMB5,000,000
HeH B Hb (B 2R A FRA #1756,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIES3
([ caREE R 1) (BifEd) (note d) HK$756,000,000 Property development
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44, pﬁ‘)ﬁ VS E‘I ;ﬁi%ﬁ%é}ﬁj (ﬁg ) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
CETA I AR Z
RE G A 2 ERITRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

of issued Proportion of nominal

ES 3

Principal activities

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

share capital/ value of issued share capital/

registered capital registered capital held by

AAF L WEAR AAR WEAT

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

T T

HET 1 3 (AR ) B PR A 64,000,000%7C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d
(TR EZE D) (BiEEd) (note d) US$64,000,000 Property development
He 3 B Hh (AR A PR A (Bt 5Ed) 42,000,000 75 - 100% - 100% LIES3
(note d) US$42,000,000 Property development
HeH B Hh (A1) A PR A 96,000,000F 70 - 100% - 100% LIES3
(Fft3Ed) (note d) US$96,000,000 Property development
ZEH B (AR ) Y SE M A PR A ] NG - 100% - 100% WIEE
(Fff#ED) (note b) 1,000,0007C Property management
RMB1,000,000
He ] B b () A PR A H#62,240,0007C - 100% - 100% LIES9
(Fft3Ed) (note d) HK$62,240,000 Property development
R E A () WA TR A R 500,000 78 - 100% - 100% /B g1l
(Fft3Ed) (note d) US$500,000 Property management
#HE M (FIE) A RAF 9,600,000 70 - 100% - 100% LERT
(BftiEd) (note d) US$9,600,000 Property development
e E L (A IE) P25 50 R A 100,000 75 - 100% = 100% LIE X $i
(Ft3Ed) (note d) US$100,000 Property management
e (B A R A #1385,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d
(BftiEd) (note d) HK$385,000,000 Property development
e E L (BIRG) A R 7 #240,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d
(Ft3Ed) (note d) HK$240,000,000 Property development
HeH B b (B3 B R A FRA #%74,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIES3
(BftiEd) (note d) HK$74,000,000 Property development
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44. [HE/A T EESAE (4E) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
EBITRA H R ARRA L
RE A 2 T EBTA
Nominal value A A A 2 TR L
of issued Proportion of nominal
B 2 W 4 share capital/ value of issued share capital/ FEEY
Name of subsidiary registered capital registered capital held by Principal activities

AAF L WEAR AAR WEAT

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

I N R N S

HE A (BRM) A PR 7] (Bt Ed) 50,000,000357C - 100% - 100% LIE 313

(note d) US$50,000,000 Property development
HeE (5 F) A R A HW1,454,792,7397C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(BftiEd) (note d) HK$1,454,792,739 Property development
e E (5 1) B R BRAA #1770,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(BftiEd) (note d) HK$770,000,000 Property development
RN B A IR A (FEb) R #20,000,00075 - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(note b) RMB20,000,000 Property development
HEE M (W) R RRA #1700,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(BftiEd) (note d) HK$700,000,000 Property development
HEFE M (SIE) EEARAF #1700,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(BftiEd) (note d) HK$700,000,000 Property development
e (K 5 2 A FRA 7 (BfFiEd) #185,000,0007C - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(note d) HK$85,000,000 Property development
e (K B2 IR A (FiEd) #1385,000,00070 - 100% - 100% LIE29:d

(note d) HK$385,000,000 Property development
HEF ML HUEE (b ) ##%490,000,0007C - 60% - 60% VES Y

HBRA A (FiiFEd) (note d) HK$490,000,000 Property development
HEFHT AL MR (M85 71,990,000 7 - 60% - 60% VES Y

HBRA A (FiiFEd) (note d) US$71,990,000 Property development

“RT IR AR
Annual Report 2009



A U 2 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. i) 2 w) BRI 2 W] (4)

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

FE TG R SE 4 B (f85)
A FRAHE (FifEED) (note b)

A A R R (78U )
Speedy Gain Investments Limited

(“Speedy Gain”)
TREREARA R ([HEE])
Fortune Achieve Investments Limited

(“Fortune Achieve”)

Complete Power Holdings Limited

(“Complete Power”)

PR A R 7 (TR D)

Brilliant Palace Limited (“Brilliant Palace”)

Vikwood Investment Limited (“Vikwood”)

ERBLEAMAR ([ERLK])

Wellview Investment Limited (“Wellview”)

Toprun Investments Limited (“Toprun”)

Upper Able Investments Limited

(“Upper Able”)

Uconia Limited (fff#Ee) (note ¢)

¥ R R SR A A PR A )
(Fft3Ed) (note d)

CETA
AL A 2 T
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

3,000,00055 TG
US$3,000,000

2ETC
US$2

1370
US$1

1370
US$1

#%500,000,0007C
HK$500,000,000

170
US$1

10070
US$100

25T
US$2

25T
US$2

##10,0007C
HK$10,000

2,000,00035 7T
1US$2,000,000

44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

AT
Company

100%

100%

RN 2
CETIRA
SEA A 2 T A

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by
P4

Subsidiaries

T T

A
Company

60% -

- 100%

100% -

100% -

60% -

100% -

60% -

- 100%

100% -

100% -

100% -

)l

Subsidiaries

60%

100%

100%

60%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

ES 3

Principal activities

LIE 2193

Property development

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

AAEMHs

Decoration service

AAEMHs

Decoration service
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44, [iHE A B LI 2

W e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

CETA
AL A 2 T
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

H R ARRA L
EBTA
FEAME A 2 A L
Proportion of nominal
EE R

Principal activities

value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by
ANA WEAT AL
Company

W A7)

Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

I N R N S

JEo R A TR PR A )
(Fft3Ed) (note d)

VRYITH 65 oo i RS 4 PR )
(Fff#ED) (note b)

A FRA A (HHED) (note b)

HINRLE B A = (TR )

Smooth Day Group Limited (“Smooth Day”)

Grace Truth Holdings Limited
(“Grace Truth”)

WEBEARAR ()

Richgem Investment Limited (“Richgem”)

e (K A BRA 7 (FtEd) (note o)

S A IR A (T3LF )
Winning Profit Investments Limited

(“Winning Profit”)

He iR B () R A PR A
(Ft3Ed) (note d)

BB 5 (R0 A RA A

(Fff#ED) (note b)

He i E B (e nt) ARRAF
(Fff#ED) (note b)

“RT IR AR
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2,000,00035 70
1US$2,000,000

A R #500,0007C
RMB500,000

AR #50,000,00070
RMB50,000,000

50,000 70
US$50,000

50,000 70
US$50,000

#1400,000,0007C
HK$400,000,000

#1570,000,0007C
HK$570,000,000

50,000 70
US$50,000

#515990,000,0007C
HK$990,000,000

NG
1,150,000,0007C
RMBI, 150,000,000

NG
1,150,000,0007C
RMBI, 150,000,000

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

100% -

- 100%

- 55%

- 55%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

- 100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

55%

55%

100%

100%

100%

100%

AAEMHs

Decoration service

AAEMHs

Decoration service

jeie

Construction

Investment holding

Investment holding

Investment holding

LIE 2193

Property development

Investment holding

LIE 2193

Property development

LIE 2193

Property development

LIE 2193

Property development



A U 2 R M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44, pﬁ‘)ﬁ VS E‘I ;ﬁi%ﬁ%é}ﬁj (ﬁg ) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
CETA I AR Z
RE G A 2 ERITRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

of issued Proportion of nominal

ES 3

Principal activities

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

share capital/ value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by
ANT WRAF  AAF WEA

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

T T

registered capital

EEREARAE (T LE )
Upadvance Investments Limited

(“Upadvance”)

I (EE) HIRA R
(Fft3Ed) (note dy

FREEARAR(HR]D
Rising Bright Investments Limited

(“Rising Bright”)

e b (2 BE) A7 PR )
(Fft#Ed) (note dy

R T DY SRR A PR A
(Fff#ED) (note b)

PG E AR AR ([ heig )
Merry Crest Investments Limited

(“Merry Crest”)

I (E) HEARAH
(Ft3Ed) (note d)

PR A R A (k)

Zelin Investments Limited (“Zelin”)

HRBAL AT RN R ([HREL ) (Fifike)
Wealthy Growth Investments Limited
(“Wealthy Growth”) (note e)

HeTE B (VR ) B A PR A
(Fft#Ed) (note d)

50,000 70
US$50,000

NG
350,000,0007C
RMB350,000,000

50,000 70
US$50,000
#1380,000,0007C

HK$380,000,000

A R #500,0007C
RMB500,000

50,000 70
US$50,000
A R #500,0007C

RMB500,000

50,000 70
US$50,000

##10,0007C

HK$10,000

199,800,0003% 7T
US$199,800,000

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100% -

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Investment holding

LIE 2193

Property development

Investment holding

LIE 2193

Property development

LIE 2193

Property development

Investment holding

LIE 2193

Property development

Investment holding

Investment holding

LIE 2193

Property development
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170

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

of issued
share capital/

registered capital

AT
Company

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by
WHAT A

Subsidiaries Company

)l

Subsidiaries

T T

44, Pﬁ‘)ﬁ/A\ﬁ‘j ;ﬁi%ﬁ%é}ﬁj (ﬁg) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
CETA I AR Z
RE G A 2 ERITRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

ES 3

Principal activities

REBEARAF(TRE]) 50,0005 7¢ - 100% - 100% BOa R
Green Grace Investments Limited US$50,000 Investment holding
(“Green Grace”)
JEYEEREL G ) A PR A ) #110,0007T - 100% - 100% BOa R
(fif5Ee) HK$10,000 Investment holding
Logic Furniture (Hong Kong) Limited
(note €)
PRI BCEAT A BIRA R A #175,000,0007C - 100% - 100% L3 K 5
(Fft3Ed) (note ) HK$75,000,000 Furniture manufacturing
and trading
Bridge Win Investments Limited 50,00035 75 - 100% = 100% Eid<cidid
(“Bridge Win”) US$50,000 Investment holding
Linfull Investments Limited ##510,00070 - 100% = 100% PO HER
HK$10,000 Investment holding
JEmtSE PRI A PR H] 4,500,0003 ¢ - 80% - 80% 44
US$4,500,000 Entertainment
Full Best Enterprises Limited T 100% - = - Eid<cidid
(BffiEe) (note e HK$1 Investment holding
LW EHBEARA T NG - 100% - - B
(Fff#ED) (note b) 682,750,0007C Investment holding
RMB682,750,000
Probest Resources Limited 1T - 100% = = Eid<cidid
(BffiEe) (note e HK$1 Investment holding
FREARAF(TRE 1) 3% 100% - - 100% BOEEER
Day Rejoice Limited (“Day Rejoice”) Us$3 Investment holding

ST LR
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44. i) 2 w) BRI 2 W] (4)

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

PREEARAR (23]

Joy Pearl Investments Limited (“Joy Pearl”)

e A R A T ([ )
United Goal Enterprises Limited
(“United Goal”)

A AR AR ([ He )
Precious Gain Enterprises Limited

(“Precious Gain”)

I A E (Hke)

Gold First Limited (note e)

EEARAF (e

Whole Chance Limited (note e)

ATHEA RA R (TR
Data Century Investment Limited
(“Data Century”)

HeT B (M) B A PR A A
(Bft5ED) (note b)

HETH E L (FR M) A PR
(ffED) (note b)

HET B (PR F) AR A
(Bft5ED) (note b)

HeH (Vo k) M A PR
(Fff#ED) (note by

HE IS A IR A (FFRED) (note b)

CETA
AL A 2 T
Nominal value

of issued

share capital/

registered capital

100%£70
US$100

170
US$1

1003570
US$100

LA
HK$1

T

HK$1

1370
US$1

#1389,600,00070
HKD389,600,000

#%970,000,0007C
HKD970,000,000

NG
666,378,6147C
RMBG66,378,614

ARHE
1,102,184,0007C
RMB1,102,184,000

##202,800,0007C
HKD202,800,000

44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

AT
Company

RN 2
CETIRA

LA A 2 T LA

Proportion of nominal

value of issued share capital/
registered capital held by
P4

Subsidiaries

T T

100% =

100% -

100% =

100% =

100% =

100% =

100% -

100% =

100% -

100% =

100% =

A
Company

)l

Subsidiaries

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

ES 3

Principal activities

Investment holding

e

Investment holding

BRI

Investment holding

fraccidil

Investment holding

Ed it

Investment holding

fraccidile

Investment holding

B3

Property Development

VB

Property Development

B3

Property Development

LS 3

Property Development

eSS

Hotel Business
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44, Pﬁ‘)ﬁ/A\ﬁ‘j ;ﬁi%ﬁ%é}ﬁj (‘%d:) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
CETA AN R Z
RE g A 2 ERITRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

of issued Proportion of nominal

ES 3

Principal activities

W e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

share capital/ value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by
ANT WRAF AAF WEA

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

I N R N S

registered capital

PRECEIRATIRA ] (HfiEe)

Grandnice Resources Limited (note e)

R e HE R S A TR ] (i)

(note ¢)

He TR AL S I (
(Fff3ED) (note b)

B ) A PR A

HEHYI3E R A R w] (ME3ED)
(note b)

HeT (5 Y ) ) 2E R A PR A )
(Bft5ED) (note b)

I AR R A B ] (BRFRED)
(note b)

B i E T A ) SE TR A PR )
(Fff#ED) (note b)

FIEEHAR AR

Leeds Resources Limited

R IR R A (i Gte)

Super Talent Resources Limited (note e)

R M 2 0t ) 2E A S PR A )
(ffED) (note b)

B FE B ) SRS A BR A
(Bft5ED) (note b)

TR e A R ) AR ) (B 3Ed)
(note d)

“RT IR AR
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W
HK$1

A R #5,000,00070
RMB5,000,000

AR #5,000,00070
RMB5,000,000

AR #1,000,000C
RMB1,000,000

A E#3,000,00070
RMB3,000,000

A E#50,000,00070
RMB50,000,000

AR #2,000,0007C
RMB2,000,000

1370

Us$1

i A b

HK$1

AR #800,0007C
RMB800,000

A EH1,500,0007C
RMB1,500,000

#%100,000,0007C
HK$100,000,000

100% =

100% =

60% -

100% =

100% =

100% -

100% =

100% =

100% -

100% =

100% =

100% -

100%

100%

60%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Investment holding

RN

Decoration service

/B i

Property management

W

Property management

LESE

Property management

LIE 2193

Property development

W

Property management

Ed it

Investment holding

Investment holding

W

Property management

LES g

Property management

LIE 2193

Property development
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

44. Mj‘)% VS E‘] ;ﬁi%ﬁ%é}ﬁj (ﬁg ) 44. SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
EETRA BRI AFRAZ
SR A T (E EETIRA
Nominal value S M AR 2 T L )

of issued Proportion of nominal

ES 3

Principal activities

Wit e 2~ ) 44 R

Name of subsidiary

share capital/ value of issued share capital/

registered capital held by
AL WEAF  ARF Wi 22 7

Company Subsidiaries Company Subsidiaries

T T

registered capital

e B (RS G2 PR A (Mt Ed) 29,500,00035 ¢
(note d) US$29,500,000
Fe R 7 B A PR A ) A EE#1,590,000,0007C

(fi#Ec) (note

e (R A PR A (B k)

(note ¢)

HH E L X)W A BR A
(Fff3ED) (note b)

LT A (1) B A B A A (FFREd)
(note d)

W E I (L) A RA A (fsEd)
(note d)

T B (Al ) A FRA R (i Ed)
(note d)

JUoTH SRR R e P A PR A
(Fff5ED) (note b)

e (TR F) P 2E R A R A )
(ffED) (note b)

B RS B A A T (HfREe)

(note ¢)

RMB1,590,000,000

A E#730,000,0007C

RMB730,000,000

AR #500,00075
RMB500,000

35,000,00035 TG
US$35,000,000

20,000,00055 7
1S$20,000,000

#1678,000,0007C
HK$678,000,000

A E#10,000,00070
RMB10,000,000

A E#5,000,0007C
RMBS5,000,000

99,980,00035 75
U5899,980,000

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

VB

Property development

B3

Property development

VB

Property development

LESE

Property management

LIE 2193

Property development

VB

Property development

VS

Property development

LIE 2193

Property development

W

Property management

VS

Property development

“RRIUEILER
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44. [ R B 2

(@)

b

2] (47)
(%)

B 5E -

@ MR AT T S0 A bR L 2
et AR 7] o

() %BE A T T S0 A bR S 2
BNEMRE -

©  %RE A T T S0 R A R S 2
FEME-

() B A T T S0 R A R S 2
S A -

(@ WM A AR AR sr > £
BRI o

AR R T B A [ 2E AR
HEE AN S AT o AN R HE
R I TS oA e O W 2 R - A
IR IR -

i B2 B %8 )2 ~ Boom Go ~ Best Hope *
Big Leap ~ Direct Win * Bright Choice *
King Role * Cosmart * Kennex * Charm
Oak * Megapower ~ #H # - 18 % -
Complete Power ~ i ~ Vikwood ~ #E
HAXE - Toprun ~ Upper Able ~ FAJIE
Grace Truth » CHLF . EE B
BRI AR 2R S Bridge Win
JKH - BE - B i ST R
VLT I AL M B B A AR
) W6 o 2 ) 2 A I e R A S B
7 o

RoBBNER EEAE A
SR H s W 2 7 I AT 18
I o

e
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44.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)

(@

()

(continued)

Notes:

(@) The subsidiary is a joint stock limited company established in the Chinese
Mainland.

(b) The subsidiary is a domestic wholly owned enterprise established in the

Chinese Mainland.

© The subsidiary is an equity joint venture established in the Chinese Mainland.

(d) The subsidiary is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the

Chinese Mainland.

(e) The subsidiary is incorporated and has major operations in Hong Kong.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

All the subsidiaries listed above are established and operating in the
Chinese Mainland except for Strong Foundation, Boom Go, Best Hope,
Big Leap, Direct Win, Bright Choice, King Role, Cosmart, Kennex, Charm
Oak, Megapower, Speedy Gain, Fortune Achieve, Complete Power,
Brilliant Palace, Vikwood, Wellview, Toprun, Upper Able, Smooth Day,
Grace Truth, Richgem, Winning Profit, Upadvance, Rising Bright, Merry
Crest, Zelin, Green Grace, Bridge Win, Day Rejoice, Joy Pearl, United
Goal, Precious Gain and Data Century which are registered in the British

Virgin Islands and their place of operation is in Hong Kong.

No debt securities have been issued by the subsidiaries as at 31

December 2009 and 2008.
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44.

SUBSIDIARIES AND ASSOCIATES (continued)
© Particulars of the Group’s associates as at 31 December 2009 and 2008 are

set out as follows:

EEATREAR,

A E A 2 TE
Nominal value of
issued share capital/

registered capital

AR ] 4%
FiA REAL A
Attributable interest indirectly

held by the Group

B S

Principal activities

12,920,00035 JC 48.12% 48.04% 2RO B
US$12,920,000 Property investment
and management
350,0002£ TG 36.09% 36.03% PR SN ST RS
US$350,000 Provision of exterior
decoration services
Notes:
(@) The associate is a Sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the Chinese
Mainland.
(b) The associate is a domestic enterprise established in the Chinese Mainland.

45.

All the associates are established and operating in the Chinese Mainland.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to stakeholders through

the optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes the bank
borrowings disclosed in note 32, net of cash and bank balances, and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves
and retained earnings as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As
part of this review, the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates
with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the

redemption of existing debt.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

—EFIEER
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(@)

AL

Categories of financial instruments
THE GROUP

BT T BT T T T
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
(E5) (E41)
(Restated) (Restated)
A RE Financial assets
ﬁ%&@qﬁlﬁﬁrﬁ Loans and receivables (including
(BG4 LB 4&55H) cash and cash equivalents) 21,694,311 7,244,736 6,285,584
ﬂﬁ@ Hi SRl g% Available-for-sale investments 179,772 187,994 196,220
21,874,083 7,432,730 6,481,804
S e Financial liabilities
FEEENE Derivative financial instruments held
ST for trading (93,322) (94,092) =
e e Ewt Derivative financial instruments in
AT A designated hedge accounting
ARl T E relationships (29,779) (42,832) =
S A Amortised cost (34,128,129) (29,189,895) (23,148,716)
(34,251,230) (29,326,819) (23,148,716)
(b) MRS @&ﬂ[% (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
e A T S AR AR Y JE The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment
FRALNE o WR B T AT R B and oversight of the Group’s risk management framework. The Board is
A H 1 R BBOR o A A SR responsible for developing and monitoring the Group’s risk management
W5 K R (Department of Corporate policies. The Department of Corporate Finance and Planning of the
Finance and Planning)ﬁ’i,ﬂﬁ 7] ¥ = € 1E Group reports regularly to the Board of Directors on its activities.
R o
A M 7 JE\ A BEEOR B A R B A A The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and
7 45 8] Py T A LB~ TR A T PR A analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate risk limits and
T PEl] - e JE B DL S B B T 3R Y B controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to market conditions and
AR %f‘%ﬂk(ﬁ o ZNAE [H] 37 38 15 9 K i the Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management
T AR MR BLRE > B A P standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive
HEZRZNEESEE > SalEa control environment in which all employees understand their roles and
fif A B (1 Bk 5 K AT - obligations.
TR
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

The Group’s audit committee oversees how management monitors
compliance with the Group’s risk management policies and procedures
and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation
to the risks faced by the Group. The Group audit committee is assisted in
its oversight role by internal audit. Internal audit undertakes both regular
and ad hoc reviews of risk management controls and procedures, the

results of which are reported to the audit committee.

There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to financial risks or

the manner in which it manages and measures.

The Board of Directors of the Company monitors and manages the
financial risks relating to the operations of the Group through internal
risk reports which analyses exposures by degree and magnitude of risks.
These risks include market risk (including foreign currency risk, interest

rate risk and other price risk) credit risk and liquidity risk.

Market risk

Foreign currency risk management

The Group conducts its treasury functions and maintain certain cash
and bank balances and bank borrowings in foreign currencies, hence is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group manages its foreign currency
risk by closely monitoring the movements of the foreign currency
exchange rates. The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure

should the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s Hong Kong dollar and United States
dollar denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the end of

the reporting date are as follows:

R A f
Assets Liabilities

s N TN T

T ok aTH T T
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
#41) (FE51)
(Restated) (Restated)
ST Hong Kong dollar 280,110 466,535 13,320,000 11,180,000
e United States dollar 1,160,586 10,545 - -
“ERRJUEEFH
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46. &I R (H)

(b)

S 2 L i A B R R BORE ()

5 B ()

A1 BEE S B B ()

S HERL IR

A S T = 2 T 3 B T K% 36 T A B Y T
ST o

ARSI A RS (24 7
o 5 2 24 7 69T B ) S

JCJ T T RE R b T AR S% (—FF N
A0 10%) B BBURE o 59 ( ZFF 4

10%) b [7] A 3505 5 LA #5230 A1 R Jal
i I ol P 22 AR 2 o BT L S i R
A BB A BEAY o Hh - FA
ST Eh L o A P I R R R
I 10%35 % 5% > LAFEAG &1 HEJEU R © it
JRE AT A A 38 DA AN SR 00 ol R A
BMETEE o Sl AR P RE R B 50 (-
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‘ﬁﬁ&«%m&%ml&i? 5% (. EF )\
A1 10%) UEW%mémﬁ%xﬂ#

”E{E'?I‘Efiﬁﬁw =

46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Foreign currency risk management (continued)

Foreign currency sensitivity

The Group is mainly exposed to the currency of Hong Kong dollar and

the currency of United States dollar.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2008: 10%)
increase and decrease in the Renminbi, the functional currency of the
Company and subsidiaries operating in the PRC, against Hong Kong
dollars and United States dollar. 5% (2008: 10%) is the sensitivity rate
used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. As a result of the decrease
in volatility of the financial market in 2010, the management adjusted
the sensitivity rate from 10% to 5% for the purpose of assessing foreign
currency risk. The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the year end for a 5% (2008: 10%), change in foreign currency rates. A
positive number indicates an increase in post-tax profit for the year where
the Renminbi strengthens against Hong Kong dollar and United States
dollar. For a 5% (2008: 10%), weakening of Renminbi against Hong Kong
dollar and United States dollar, there would be equal but opposite impact

on the post-tax profit for the year.

I S T

T T
HK$°000 HK$°000
A TR BR A% Ve ) Post-tax profit for the year
T Hong Kong dollar 511,917 832,222
Ein United States dollar (45,562) (819)
460,355 831,403
— RN
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-
rate bank borrowings. The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk in relation to bank balances, variable-rate bank borrowings and
has entered into interest rate swaps to hedge against its exposures to

change in cash flows (see Notes 32 and 33 for details).

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed

in the liquidity risk management section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for bank balances, variable-rate bank
borrowings together with the effect from interest rate swaps designated
as cash flow hedge. The analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis points (2008: 100 basis
points) increase or 50 basis points (2008: 50 basis points) decrease is used
for variable-rate bank borrowings and interest rate swaps designated as
cash flow hedge and a 10 basis points (2008: 10 basis points) increase
or decrease is used for bank balances when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and represents management’s

assessment of the possible change in interest rate.

In order to keep borrowings at fixed rate and to minimise the cash flow
interest rate risk, the Group uses floating to fixed interest rate swaps to
manage the cash flow interest rate risk exposure associated with certain
amount of borrowings issued at floating rates totalling HK$13,320 million
(2008: HK$11,180 million) (see Note 32 for details). In addition, fixed rate
bank borrowings expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. At 31
December 2009, bank borrowings of approximately HK$14,139 million
(2008: HK$9,913 million) were at fixed rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2008: 100 basis points) higher
and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit
derived from variable-rate bank borrowings and interest rate swaps for the
year ended 31 December 2009 would decrease by HK$77,046,000 (2008:
decrease by HK$53,513,000). If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2008: 50 basis points) lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 would
increase by HK$39,076,000 (2008: increase by HK$25,875,000).

“RRIUEILER
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk management (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis (continued)

If the interest rates for bank balances had been 10 basis points (2008:
10 basis points) higher and all other variables were held constant, the
Group’s post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 would
increase by HK$15,321,000 (2008: increase by HK$4,395,000). If interest
rates had been 10 basis points (2008: 10 basis points) lower and all other
variables were held constant, there would have been equal but opposite
impact on the profit for the year.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during the current
year mainly due to the increase in variable rate debt instruments.

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its investments in
unquoted equity securities and other interest rate swaps. No sensitivity
analysis of the other price risks of the Group’s investments in these
unquoted equity securities as they are measured at cost less any identified
impairment losses at the end of each reporting period. In respect of
other price risks of those other interest rate swaps not for hedging, if
interest rates had been 100 basis points higher or 50 basis points lower
in relation with all other variable held constant, the Group’s post-tax
profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 and would increase by
HK$45,642,000 (2008: HK$56,078,000) or decrease by HK$20,589,000
(2008: HK$29,651,000) respectively.

Credit risk management

As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to perform
an obligation by the counterparties and financial guarantees provided by
the Group is arising from:

. the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position; and

. the amount of contingent liabilities in relation to the financial

guarantees as disclosed in Note 38.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-
up action are taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group
reviews the recoverable amount of each individual trade debt and debt
investments at the end of the reporting period to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.
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46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Credit risk management (continued)

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating

agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC.

With respect to the amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and immediate
holding company, the directors of the Company consider the credit risk is

limited because they have strong financial positions.

Other than the amount due from an associate, the Group has no
significant concentration of credit risk, with exposure spread over a
number of counterparties and customers. The Group has concentration
of credit risk of the amount due from an associate, because there is only
one associate who operated in the Chinese Mainland in both 2008 and

2009.

Liquidity risk management

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in each flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensure compliance with loan covenants. Details of the

Group’s borrowings are set out in Note 32.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity
for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash
flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The table includes both interest and principal
cash outflows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate, the
undiscounted amount is derived from weighted average interest rate by
reference to the HIBOR of the Group’s variable-rate financial liabilities at

the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following tables detail the Group’s liquidity analysis for its
derivative financial instruments. The tables have been drawn up based on
the undiscounted contractual net cash outflows on derivative instruments
that settle on a net basis. When the amount payable is not fixed, the
amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected
interest rates as illustrated by the HIBOR and the terms stipulated in
the contract of derivative financial instruments existing at the end of
the reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s derivative
financial instruments are prepared based on the contractual maturities as
the management consider that the contractual maturities are essential for

an understanding of the timing of the cash flows of derivatives.

—EF IR
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46. T H () 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b) B Bo s B A A BOSR (4) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
TRE) & e P (4 Liquidity risk management (continued)

{Jn.@jg &*'KHFXR% E)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

A [ THE GROUP
“ETNE
KB 24
IEF-44 Bahng  =t—H
ik 12813 R JEmE
Weighted UM SEDL Total Carrying
average 12 months 1526 2F5HF Over undiscounted amount at
interest rate or less 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years cash flows 31.12.2009

182

% BT BT wWTr  EWTx WM Tr EW T
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
e < 9K 2009
Fefitk SR A & Non-derivative financial liabilities
Aith Non-interest bearing
TR 2 R A e R TE Trade and other payables 5,657,260 - - - 5,057,260 5,657,260
JREAFIF] 2% B /8 7l 08 Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 23,976 - - - 23,976 23976
TR D SR IE Amount due to minority shareholders 983,111 - - - 988,111 983,111
EEIE Fixed interest rate instruments
STEE Bank borrowings 5.00 2,426,548 4,736,160 7,773,139 792175 15728022 14,138,782
%E\Iﬂ Variable interest rate instruments
STEE Bank borrowings 0.61 130,593 4822611 8,565,737 - 13518941 13,320,000
WHAER A4 Financial guarantee contracts 1930,428 809,157 302,928 18961 3,001,474 =
11,156,916 10,367,928 16,641,804 811,136 38,977,784 34,128,129
fiitk T — Derivative - net settlement
pilk st Interest rate swap 90,850 90,550 99,911 - 281,311 123,101
TN
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46. £ T H (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
(b) B Bo s B A A BOSR (4) (b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)
TRE) & e P (4 Liquidity risk management (continued)
T 4 K R R R (48) Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)
AL THE GROUP
“RENE
RIEB 24
IEF-44 Bahng  =t—H
TR 12813 g% REE
Weighted UM SEDL Total Carrying
average 12 months 1524 2R Over  undiscounted amount at
interest rate or less 1-2 years 25 years 5 years cash flows 31.12.2008
% BETT BB TT BNt #ETx  EMTT  B%Tx
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(F51) (F51) (F51) (E51) (F51) (E51)

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

“EZZ)\E 2008
Jefitk S A% Non-derivative financial liabilities
YN Non-interest bearing
A5 M B LA e TR Trade and other payables 458,280 - - S 4258280 4258280
JEASHTR] 2R B 2 7 208 Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries 1,945,751 - - - 1,945,751 1,945,751
JERH D R Amount due to minority shareholders 911,573 - - - 911,573 911,573
B BRI A R 5OR Amount due to immediate
holding company 981,299 = = - 981,299 981,299
EEIRE Fixed interest rate instruments
STEE Bank borrowings 6.46 4254271 1651774 5,096,093 287882 11,200,020 9,912,992
FELE Variable interest rate instruments
STEE Bank borrowings 133 267,719 147,018 11,230,646 - 11645383 11,180,000
MHERAH Financial guarantee contracts 677,572 397,911 243,624 21,362 1,340,469 -
13,296,465 2,196,703 16,570,363 309,244 32372775 29,189,895
ik TR - B35 Derivative - net settlement
PSR Interest rate swap 55,150 110,300 59,728 = 225,178 136,924

“RRIUEILER
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46. &I R (H)
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46.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

(b)

©

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(continued)

Liquidity risk management (continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (continued)

The amounts included above for financial guarantee contracts are the
maximum amounts the Group could be required to settle under the
arrangement for the full guaranteed amount if that amount is claimed by
the counterparty to the guarantee for loans procured by the purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Based on expectations at the end of the
reporting period, the Group considers that it is more likely than not that
no amount will be payable under the arrangement. However, this estimate
is subject to change depending on the probability of the counterparty
claiming under the guarantee which is a function of the likelihood that
the financial receivables held by the counterparty which are guaranteed

suffer credit losses.

The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments for
non-derivative financial liabilities is subject to change if changes in
variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined

at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as

follows:

. the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding
derivative financial instruments) are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis using prices or rates from observable current market

transactions as input; and

. the fair value of derivative financial instruments is calculated
based on discounted cash flow analysis using the applicable
yield curve for the duration of the instruments for non-optional

derivatives.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and
financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial

statements approximate to their fair values.
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46. £ T H (&) 46. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
© %E{EIEZ/ NP (48) (c) Fair value of financial instruments (continued)
G L TR I R FE TR 2 LN E Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated statement of
J[inancial position

mESm T EAE > EHRSHMWIET The derivative financial instruments liabilities including the interest rate
2 ] 2 i )94 95 29,779,000 7T e He At ) swaps under cash flow hedge of HK$29,779,000 and other interest rate
F i Wk 593 322,000 9T 0 A ) UK RE 52 swaps of HK$93,322,000 are measured subsequent to initial recognition at
BN B > HEB A I8N FH fair value which are grouped into Level 3 fair value measurements.
it -
340 4 A ET R B AL S AL (B Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation
M 2 4550 A R A 45 JF techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
ARYE AT S R e > E s a A A on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

WA ORI A

E3H B A LN 2 B Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial liabilities
SRAnE
Financial liabilities
B3 —
ISR HoAte
Cash flow ) 22 4 1
hedge-interest Other interest ﬁ@%ﬁ
rate swaps rate swaps Total
T T T T BT
HK$ 000 HK$’000 HK$’000
4] At the beginning of the year 42,832 94,092 136,924
Wi 4 A - Total gains:
—RERE R — in profit or loss (1,620) (770) (2,390)
— A A A A — in other comprehensive income (11,433) - (11,433)
R At the end of the year 29,779 93,322 123,101
BRFaE © 7 AR AR B 4R A 41K e 2 A AR RE AR A BT A 4 Note:  The total gain credited to profit or loss for the year represented the
T B RE# ﬁllﬂ(m ° unrealised gain in respect to the derivative financial instruments.
47. fHEMBHE 47. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B3 1SS E AT A M ERC IR —F—%F The consolidated financial statements set out on pages 83 to 185 were approved
F=H_+/NH %ﬁ$@ﬂhﬁ&bﬁ%?ﬂ%§ ° and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2010.
TERTIUEEER
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Financial Summary

A4 [ SE 4% Group’s results

i T o T T T i T T T

HKS$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

(H51) (H 1) (1) (H 1)

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)

i % Revenue 16,601,348 9,365,833 6,277,204 4,884,504 3,874,193
RGNl Profit before taxation 7,135,743 3,005,535 2,714,903 1,203,604 2,912,278
FIT AR B 52 Income tax expense (2,285,219) (967,541) (1,297,992) (297,292) (463,250)
ARAE Y ] Profit for the year 4,850,524 2,037,994 1,416,911 906,312 2,449,028

J@Hj : Attributable to:
P /NEIES 2PN Owners of the Company 4,408,909 1,993,973 1,394,522 918,600 2,434,559
DB AR £ Minority interests 441,615 44,021 22,389 (12,288) 14,469
4,850,524 2,037,994 1,416,911 906,312 2,449,028
AR A 8 e Group’s assets and liabilities

T o T T T T T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000
(F51) (H51) (F51) (F51)

(Restated) (Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
L/ER: U \&d Property, plant and equipment 2,578,850 2,274,429 1,520,609 971,252 702,613
TEATH B 30H Prepaid lease payments 453,068 631,924 446,625 88,001 41,284
Esd<L/ES Investment properties 16,742,284 9,998,305 8,967,812 7,619,400 6,967,634
R ARl VEUE FE Deferred taxation assets 471,022 398,634 375,547 370,683 250,123
& Long-term investments 848,438 919,093 789,820 686,699 817,930
JE W — T 4% 7] 2k T8 Amount due from an associate 238,614 265,178 237,464 245,071 230,708
B A E Current assets 75,252,058 54,130,093 36,940,789 20,314,184 9,823,976
G RE Total assets 96,584,334 68,617,656 49,278,666 30,295,890 18,834,268
i IB=R Current liabilities 29,663,812 18,877,909 14,963,141 11,178,641 5,422,796
RUEfE Long-term liabilities 25,631,576 17,030,097 12,748,212 6,480,753 4,409,984
PR AERTE A 1E Deferred taxation liabilities 2,165,788 1,511,114 1,276,939 666,289 507,942
4R T A Derivative financial instruments 123,101 136,924 - - -
B A Total liabilities 57,584,277 37,556,044 28,988,292 18,325,683 10,340,722
39,000,057 31,061,612 20,290,374 11,970,207 8,493,546

EN/NCIE ZEDN Equity attributable to owners
JEAG A 2R of the Company 37,809,984 30,263,086 19,670,776 11,348,020 8,109,052
DR RE A Minority interests 1,190,073 798,526 619,598 622,187 384,494
39,000,057 31,061,612 20,290,374 11,970,207 8,493,546

T TP ER
186 TR AR
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